
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint.

Health and Wellbeing Board
11 July 2018

Time 12.30 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Oversight

Venue Committee Room 3 - Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH

Membership
Councillor Roger Lawrence
Councillor Sandra Samuels OBE

Chair (Labour)
Cabinet Member for Adults

Councillor Paul Sweet Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People

Councillor Hazel Malcolm Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Wellbeing

Councillor Wendy Thompson Conservative Party Leader
Jo-Anne Alner NHS England (West Midlands)
Emma Bennett Director of Children's Services
Helen Child Third Sector Partnership
Brendan Clifford Service Director - City Health
John Denley Director of Public Health
Dr Helen Hibbs Chief Officer, Wolverhampton CCG
Dr Alexandra Hopkins University of Wolverhampton
Tim Johnson Deputy Managing Director/Strategic Director - 

Place
Steven Marshall Director of Strategy & Information, 

Wolverhampton CCG
Chief Supt Jayne Meir West Midlands Police
Elizabeth Learoyd Healthwatch Wolverhampton
Tracy Cresswell Healthwatch Wolverhampton
David Loughton CBE Royal Wolverhampton Hospital NHS Trust
Linda Sanders Independent Chair of Adults and Childrens 

Safeguarding Board
Sarah Smith Head of Strategic Commissioning
Mark Taylor Strategic Director - People
Jeremy Vanes Royal Wolverhampton Hospital NHS Trust
David Watts Director of Adult Services
Lesley Writtle Associate Chief Operating Officer, Black 

Country Partnership Trust
Ben Diamond West Midlands Fire Service

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team:

Contact Shelley Humphries
Tel/Email 01902 554070 shelley.humphries@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Address Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:

Website http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk 
Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Tel 01902 550320

Please take note of the protocol for filming and recording of, and use of social media in, meetings, copies 
of which are displayed in the meeting room.

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public.

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS - PART 1

1 Apologies for absence (if any) 

2 Notification of substitute members (if any) 

3 Declarations of interest (if any) 

4 Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 10)
[To approve the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record]

5 Matters arising 
[To consider any matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting]

6 Health and Wellbeing Board Forward Plan - 2018 - 2019 (Pages 11 - 18)
[To consider and comment on the items listed on the Forward Plan]

ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION OR DECISION - PART 2

GROWING WELL [CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE]

7 HeadStart Phase 3 – Annual Review Outcome (Pages 19 - 94)
[To update the Board on the Headstart Phase 3 Annual Review Outcome]

HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION

8 Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton (Pages 
95 - 120)
[Sarah Fellows, Mental Health Commissioning Manager - NHS Wolverhampton 
CCG to present]

9 Quality Improvement Strategy 2017 - 2020 
[Sally Roberts, Wolverhampton CCG to present report] – [report to follow]

10 Overview of Primary Care Strategy (Pages 121 - 132)
[Dr Helen Hibbs, NHS Wolverhampton CCG to present the report]

11 Better Care Fund (BCF) Update Report (Pages 133 - 138)
[Steven Marshall, Wolverhampton CCG and David Watts, Director of Adults 
Services, to present report] 

12 Black Country Transforming Care Partnership (Pages 139 - 162)
[Helen Hibbs, Chief Accountable Officer Wolverhampton CCG to present report]



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

GOVERNANCE AND ENGAGEMENT

13 Healthwatch Wolverhampton Annual Report (Pages 163 - 202)
[Elizabeth Learoyd, Healthwatch Wolverhampton to present report]

14 Strengthening Governance and System Leadership - Health and Wellbeing 
Board Review - Final Recommendations (Pages 203 - 246)
[Brendan Clifford, Service Director – City Health and Madeleine Freewood, 
Developmental Manager to present report as part of the City of Wolverhampton 
Health and Wellbeing Review]

15 Wolverhampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 - 2023 (Pages 247 - 
270)
[Kate Warren, Consultant in Public Health to present report]



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Health and Wellbeing 
Board
Minutes - 11 April 2018

Attendance

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Councillor Roger Lawrence Leader of the Council
Councillor Sandra Samuels OBE Cabinet Member for Adults
Councillor Paul Sweet Cabinet Member for Children and Young People
Brendan Clifford Service Director - City Health
John Denley Director of Public Health
Steven Marshall Director of Strategy & Information, Wolverhampton CCG
Chief Supt Jayne Meir West Midlands Police
Mark Taylor Strategic Director - People
Jeremy Vanes
Craig Alford
Sheila Gill
Dr Ranjit Khutan

Royal Wolverhampton Hospital NHS Trust
Third Sector Partnership
Healthwatch Wolverhampton
University of Wolverhampton

Employees
Neeraj Malhotra
Helen Tambini
Shelley Humphries

Consultant for Public Health
Democratic Services Officer
Democratic Services Officer

Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

1 Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Val Gibson, Councillor Paul 
Singh, Jo-Anne Alner, David Baker, Emma Bennett, Helen Child, Dr Helen Hibbs, Dr 
Alexandra Hopkins, Elizabeth Learoyd, David Loughton CBE, Linda Sanders, Sarah 
Smith, David Watts and Lesley Writtle.

2 Notification of substitute members
Dr Ranjit Khutan attended on behalf of Dr Alexandra Hopkins, Sheila Gill attended on 
behalf of Elizabeth Learoyd, Steven Marshall Attended on behalf of Dr Helen Hibbs 
and Craig Alford attended on behalf of Helen Child. 

3 Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest made.

Page 5

Agenda Item No: 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4 Minutes of the previous meeting - 10 January 2018

Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting held on 10 January 2018 be confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair.

5 Matters arising
There were no matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting.

6 Health and Wellbeing Board Forward Plan 2017/18
The key points from the Forward Plan were identified as:

 Overview of Primary Care
 Estates Strategy Update
 West Park
 BC Fund Update

With regards to the Estates Strategy Update item, the Chair noted that it was 
important that significant savings be made and that close working with other bodies, 
such as West Midlands Police, be encouraged going forward.

Before proceeding, it was noted by Councillor Samuels OBE that the Mental Health 
Strategy report had been deferred. The report was driven by other services which 
were specialist in nature and further work was required. All CCGs would need to 
modify the original strategies which had caused a delay.

Resolved: 
1. That the Mental Health Strategy be presented at the July meeting.
2. That it be noted that a review of work would be held on 17 April 2018.

7 City of Wolverhampton Vision for Public Health 2030
It was agreed to consider agenda item 8 first. John Denley, Director of Public Health, 
presented the City of Wolverhampton Vision for Public Health 2030. The key element 
of the public health vision was to identify what was unique in Wolverhampton, what 
made a difference in people’s lives and what would make people aspire to stay and 
invest in the City.  The aim of the document was to improve public health at a 
population level and the principle behind the document was that various areas made 
a difference in healthcare, such as education, home environment, job stability and a 
thriving community. 

John Denley explained that the vision was to shift the focus from simply improving 
life expectancy to improving quality of life, as well as enabling people to improve 
themselves by making better choices. 

Councillor Paul Sweet noted that the project had been brought forward despite 
recent financial challenges. The Chair added that it was necessary to influence better 
life choices; it had been identified that 80% of people were willing to improve things 
for themselves, they required the correct tools.

Sheila Gill supported the idea in that the introduction of ‘self-service’ simplified 
things, however there was a danger in people doing things for themselves as 

Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

services would no longer be available at GP level. More work needed to be carried 
out to educate people further.

John Denley referred to the Wolverhampton Lifestyle Survey which identified that 
people preferred self-service. Using the Stop Smoking Service as an example, 
findings showed that out of 20,000 service users 8% of people quit smoking longer 
term using self-service. This illustrated that people preferred to make the decision 
themselves but needed the resources to help them achieve their goal. Tools 
suggested included social media content, contact with GP or Associated Trust for 
service users to gain information for themselves.

Resolved: 
That the City of Wolverhampton Vision for Public Health 2030 be endorsed.

8 City of Wolverhampton Public Health Annual Report 2017-2018
John Denley, Director of Public Health presented the City of Wolverhampton Public 
Health Annual Report 2017 – 2018. The report fulfilled the statutory obligation and 
the intention was to open a debate by concentrating on numbers and providing 
comparisons with priority areas and key themes.

Much of the document consisted of a ward-by-ward breakdown of statistics. For 
example, with regard to population, a ‘pyramid’ shaped table represented a young, 
mobile population whereas a table with a ’bulge’ indicated a more stable population 
that may have other health requirements. The aim going forward was to improve on 
current statistics and to ensure that Wolverhampton’s deliverable services were 
amongst the top quartile in the country. 

At the recommendation of Councillor Samuels OBE, it was agreed that all figures 
were to be checked for errors. In response to a question, John Denley confirmed that 
the goal would be to reach the top quartile within 18 months. 

In answer to a question on how the widening gap in health equalities would be 
addressed, John Denley advised that the Black Report focused mainly on one issue 
and one service whereas the intention going forward would be to involve other 
issues. A partnership with various other services, such as the NHS Trust Partnership 
and CCG, would provide a cradle-to-grave service.  

In response to a question regarding the current performance levels, Steven Marshall 
from the CCG informed the Board that the Variable Distribution Update for 
Wolverhampton identified that some small practices had found that there was an 
imbalance in staff and service users with an anticipated use of 110% but an actual 
uptake of 90%, which may have been a contributing factor. 

John Denley confirmed that the report would need to be signed off by the Board and 
would then be promoted with the aim of initiating a conversation about public health. 
A copy would be sent out to each ward and partnerships and, once available to local 
residents, any technical information would be explained.

Following comments, John Denley agreed that one of the aims of the report would be 
to help support or stabilise the Third Sector and to determine the possibility of an 
outreach team to support communities in isolation. 
Jeremy Vanes expressed concerns about the achievability of the goals following 
recent years of austerity and on-going service cuts.  He confirmed that the Royal 

Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Wolverhampton NHS Trust would support the work and that the strategy would be to 
bridge the gap. 

John Denley stated that he would aim to make more use of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) and that it would be important for the Board to look at population 
mobility. The Health and Wellbeing Board could be used as a platform for more in-
depth work on whether Wolverhampton had fared better or worse across the City.

Jayne Meir expressed concern that violence and its impact were not included. John 
Denley agreed that joint working with West Midlands Police going forward could help 
to create a safe environment.

Jayne Meir stated that the issue was not only place-based violence, but domestic 
crimes and drugs / alcohol misuse were also increasing issues. The Chair agreed 
that this be discussed at a separate occasion and that the Public Health Annual 
Report needed to be integrated with the Partnership Programme.

Councillor Samuels OBE stated that there had been a reduction in infant mortality 
and smoking in pregnancy over the last 10 years. A seven - year life expectancy age 
gap existed between wards and there was an opportunity for strategies to address 
how that could be reduced.

Resolved: 
1. That the report on City of Wolverhampton Public Health Annual Report 2017 – 

2018 be noted.
2. That the report on City of Wolverhampton Public Health Annual Report 2017 – 

2018 be published subject to the figures and statistics being checked. 

9 Health and Wellbeing Board Development Event - Issues Update
Brendan Clifford, Service Director – City Health, presented the Health & Wellbeing 
Board Development Event – Issues Update report.
 
Workforce supply had been identified as an at-risk area within the Royal 
Wolverhampton Trust (RWT). Jeremy Vanes stated that the RWT was running 8 – 
10% short on nurses. The system in place was a bank of nurses working on internal 
overtime and this was becoming unsustainable. The hope would be to employ people 
properly and recruit, however the overseas top-up immigration quotas had impaired 
this. The current plan was to persist and lobby the Government to raise awareness to 
improve the situation; some improvements had been achieved, but the winter of 2017 
had had a huge impact on retention and a solution had not yet been found. 

Regarding Estates, Brendan Clifford confirmed that Julia Nock had provided an 
update of flows of people to services. The West Midlands Combined Authority 
[WMCA] were to summarise current trends and work with the Chair and Councillor 
Sweet.

Councillor Sweet agreed that this work should be continued as there would be 
additional benefits to the public. Councillor Samuels OBE expressed an interest in 
the retention of ‘growing our own’ staff by utilising reserves of local people before 
looking elsewhere. Jeremy Vanes agreed that it was important to take on qualified 
staff and that all local staff were utilised before looking elsewhere. In addition, the 

Page 8



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

length of training for medical staff and lack of bursaries available were identified as 
potential issues for those wanting to train. 

Resolved: 
That a summary of issues raised at Strategy Day be presented at the next 
meeting.

10 City of Wolverhampton Partnership Response to People with No Recourse to 
Public Funds (NRPF)
Neeraj Malhotra, Public Health Consultant, presented the City of Wolverhampton 
Partnership response to People with No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF).  The aim 
of the work was to bring four main areas together:

1. The City of Wolverhampton Council’s Policy on NRPF set out both the rates 
that the Council would pay the roles and responsibilities of the Council. The 
policy would be presented to the Cabinet in April 2018 for approval.

2. The NRPF Pilot was intended to expedite the resolution of people’s 
immigration status, reducing the number of people left in ‘limbo’ awaiting the 
outcome of their case. The funding available would be brought to the Board as 
part of an update at the October meeting. 

3. The multi-agency NRPF Forum had a wide range of members. Previous 
meetings of the Forum had provided the chance to gain a perspective from a 
service point of view and input from the West Midlands Police to open an 
ongoing dialogue. There was no confirmation in terms of volume and scale of 
issues faced and the strategy would enable agencies to gain a further 
understanding of challenges.  

4. The multi-agency protocol had been put in place to work with Council policy in 
order to avoid working in isolation but without simply duplicating the content of 
it.  The intent was to achieve a consistent and co-ordinated way of working 
across the City. This had been created following a serious case review 
involving the death of a child from a NRPF family. In that instance, the family 
had been moved from a London borough and no inter-council dialogue had 
been addressed therefore illustrating the need to strengthen communication.

The Chair advised that the London boroughs had been contacted following this 
incident to request that a checklist of various items be actioned when moving people 
from one borough to another. This had been agreed between around 50% of councils 
but the importance of strong communication was still necessary. The Chair stated 
that the Partnership scheme was an excellent piece of work in progress and the 
report following the pilot would prove useful. It was agreed that the findings of the 
pilot be reported to the Board in
October.

Resolved: 
That an update on the NRPF Pilot be provided at October meeting.

Page 9



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

11 Strengthening Governance and System Leadership
Brendan Clifford, Service Director - City Health, presented the City of 
Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Board Internal Review. The review outlined 
the purpose and responsibilities of the Board and the intentions for the future. 
Several ‘Key Shifts’ in the Board’s operation were identified and the outlined proposal 
included a rebranding of the Board itself to highlight changes.  The board was invited 
to provide comments on the review by the end of May, which would then be collated 
and presented to the Board at the July meeting.   

Councillor Samuels OBE stated the importance of ensuring full involvement in 
meetings to openly discuss how to move forward. Councillor Sweet praised how 
inclusive the Board was and how its link to the public set it apart. He encouraged the 
group to provide feedback. 

The Chair emphasised the need to improve outcomes and to continue to be 
anchored with other services in the City. A strategy needed to be approved and 
understood by the Board and consultations would include all groups. There was a 
need to confirm how the Voluntary Sector worked with the Board and it was agreed 
that a Peer Review would be beneficial for the Board going forward. 

Resolved:
That Members of the Board provide any comments in writing by the end of 
May and that these be collated to be presented to the Board for the July 
meeting.

Page 10



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Health and Wellbeing Board
11 July 2018

Report title Forward Plan 2018 - 2019

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Hazel Malcolm
Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing

Wards affected All wards

Accountable director John Denley, Director for Public Health

Originating service Governance

Accountable employee(s) Shelley 
Humphries
Tel
Email

Democratic Services Officer 

01902 554070
shelley.humphries@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

SEB 19 December 2017

Recommendation for action:

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

1. Review the latest version of the Forward Plan and contribute to the planning of future 
agenda items.

Page 11

Agenda Item No: 6



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To present the Forward Plan to the Board for comment and discussion in order to jointly 
plan and prioritise future agenda items.

1.2 The Forward Plan will be a dynamic document and continually presented in order to 
support a key aim of the Board – to promote integration and partnership working between 
the National Health Service (NHS), social care, public health and other commissioning 
organisations.

2.0 Background

2.1 As agreed at the meeting in October 2016, the attached Forward Plan document seeks 
to enable a fluid, rolling programme of item for partners to manage.

3.0 Financial implications

3.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.
[MI/20062018/V]

4.0 Legal implications

4.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report.
[RB/2006/2018/X]

5.0 Equalities implications

5.1 None arising directly from this report.

6.0 Environmental implications

6.1 None arising directly from this report.

7.0 Human resources implications

7.1 None arising directly from this report.

8.0 Corporate Landlord implications

8.1 None arising directly from this report.

9.0 Schedule of background papers

9.1 Minutes of previous meetings of the Health and Well Being Board regarding the forward 
planning agenda items.

Page 12



Key: JHWBS priorities

Health and Wellbeing Board: Forward Plan
Updated 23 May 2018

Items in red are new or amended from the previous version.

Items in bold that are regular or standing items.

Date Theme Title Partner 
Org/Author

JHWBS 
Priority

Format Notes/Comments

11 July 
2018

Health and 
Care 
Integration

Mental Health 
Strategy 2017- 2019

CCG/BCPFT/
CWC
Steven 
Marshall/Sarah 
Fellows/Lesley 
Writtle/David 
Watts

Paper Discussion Item.

Considered at 
Development Event 
meeting on 18 October 
2017.

Agreed on 29 March 
2018 at the executive 
Commissioning Group 
that the item be deferred 
from meeting on 11 April 
2018.

Quality and 
Improvement 
Strategy 2017- 2020

CCG/Sally 
Roberts

Paper Discussion item.

Last considered June 
2017.

Overview of Primary 
Care Strategy

CCG/Helen 
Hibbs

Paper Discussion item.

Last considered June 
2017. 

P
age 13



Key: JHWBS priorities

Better Care Fund 
(BCF) 
Update Report

CCG/Steven 
Marshall and 
CWC David 
Watts  

Paper Discussion item.

Regular joint update 
paper.

Last considered 20 
September 2017.

Transforming Care 
Partnership 

CCG/Helen 
Hibbs 

Paper Discussion Item.

Agreed at Agenda Group 
meeting of 23 May 2018.

Growing Well
[Children and 
Young People]

Headstart Phase 3 – 
Annual Review

Emma Cleary Paper Discussion Item.

Agreed at Agenda Group 
meeting of 23 May 2018.

Strengthening 
Governance and 
System Leadership - 
City of 
Wolverhampton 
Health and Wellbeing 
Board Review - final 
submission.

CWC/Brendan
Clifford/
Madeleine 
Freewood

Paper Discussion Item.

Report considered at 
meetings on 10 January 
and 11 April 2018.

Final submission agreed 
at meeting on 11 April 
2018.

Governance 
and 
Engagement

Healthwatch 
Wolverhampton 
Annual Report

Elizabeth 
Learoyd – 
Healthwatch 
Wolverhampton 

Paper Discussion Item.

Agreed at Agenda Group 
meeting of 23 May 2018.

P
age 14



Key: JHWBS priorities

Children’s 
Safeguarding Board 
Annual Report

Paper Discussion Item.

Last considered 
September 2017.

Agreed at meeting on 10 
January 2018.

Growing Well
[Children and 
Young People]

CAMHS 
Transformation Plan 
Refresh 2017 - 2020

Margaret Courts, 
Wolverhampton 
CCG

Paper Discussion Item.

Agreed at Agenda Group 
meeting 23 May 2018. 

Adults Safeguarding 
Board Annual Report

Paper Discussion Item.

Last considered 
September 2017.

Agreed at meeting on 10 
January 2018.

17 October 
2018

Living Well

People with No 
Recourse to Public 
Funds (NRPF) 
Results of Pilot 
scheme

CWC/Neeraj 
Malhotra

Discussion item.

City of Wolverhampton 
Partnership Response to 
NRPF considered at 
meeting on 11 April 2018.

Update report on Pilot 
scheme agreed at 
meeting on 11 April 2018.

P
age 15



Key: JHWBS priorities

Wolverhampton Place 
Based Health and 
Social Integrated 
Care

CCG/RWT
Helen 
Hibbs/David 
Loughton

Discussion Item.

Removed from agenda of 
meeting on 20 September 
2017 as not yet 
completed.

Considered at 
Development Event 
meeting on 18 October 
2017.

Update report requested 
for a future meeting.

Healthwatch Hard of 
Hearing Report

Elizabeth 
Learoyd – 
Healthwatch 
Wolverhampton 

Paper Discussion Item.

Agreed at Agenda Group 
meeting 23 May 2018 to 
be scheduled for 2019.

To be 
scheduled

Health and 
Care 
Integration

Case for Change – 
West Park

CCG/Helen 
Hibbs

Paper Discussion Item.

Agreed at Agenda Group 
meeting on 6 March 
2018.

Agreed at Agenda Group 
meeting 23 May 2018 to 
defer from 11 July 2018.

P
age 16



Key: JHWBS priorities

Estates Strategy 
Update

CCG/RWT/CWC Paper Discussion Item.

Agreed at Agenda Group 
meeting on 6 March 2018 
to make this a separate 
item and for all partners 
to be involved.

Agreed at Agenda Group 
meeting 23 May 2018 to 
defer from 11 July 2018.

Living Well Rough Sleeping and 
Homelessness 
Update

John Denley
Madeleine 
Freewood

Discussion Item.

Agreed at Agenda Group 
meeting 23 May 2018.P

age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Health and Wellbeing Board
11 July 2018

Report title HeadStart Phase 3 – Annual Review Outcome

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Paul Sweet
Children and Young People

Wards affected Fallings Park, Bushbury South and Low Hill, Heath Town, East 
Park, Ettingshall, Bilston East, Blakenhall, Graiseley, Park, St 
Peters.

Accountable director Emma Bennett

Originating service Children and Young People - HeadStart

Accountable employee(s) Andrew Wolverson
Tel
Email

Head of People
01902 555550
andrew.wolverson@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

Report to be/has been 
considered by

List any meetings at which the report 
has been or will be considered, e.g.
Strategic Executive Board
People Leadership Team 26 June 2018

21 June 2018

Recommendations for action or decision:

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

1. Review the highlights and the Annual Review Report submitted to Big Lottery Fund in 
April 2018.

2. Feedback on the outcome of the Annual Review meeting with the Big Lottery Fund held 
on 8 May 2018.

3. Feedback on HeadStart’s performance against KPIs for the 2017-18 reporting period.
4. Comment on baseline findings from timepoint one - national and local evaluation.

Recommendations for noting:

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note:

1. HeadStart’s re-profiled budget and forecast reach figures are still subject to approval by 
the Big Lottery Fund

Page 19

Agenda Item No: 7

mailto:andrew.wolverson@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2. A true measure of how the HeadStart programme is impacting on the emotional mental 
health and wellbeing of young people will be available at evaluation timepoint two – 
March 2019.

1.0 Purpose

1.1 This purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with a copy of 
HeadStart’s Annual Review Report and its supporting documents and a summary of the 
May 2018 Annual Review meeting outcome. Also included is an overview of HeadStart’s 
performance against its year two grant KPIs and baseline findings from the first timepoint 
of evaluation.

1.2 This is in line with HeadStart’s Governance structure and the requirement to report to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board on an annual basis.

2.0 Background

2.1 City of Wolverhampton Council is the lead partner for HeadStart Wolverhampton, one of 
six partnerships across the country to receive Big Lottery funding to run a series of test 
and learn programmes in developing new ways of supporting children and young people 
aged 10 to 16 and their families with emotional mental health and wellbeing.

2.2 On 20 July 2016 Cabinet noted Wolverhampton’s successful application for HeadStart 
Phase 3 Programme funding from the Big Lottery Fund of £9.5 million over five years. 
This follows on from stage one and two, which saw £900,000 of Big Lottery funding made 
available to Wolverhampton.

2.3 HeadStart nationally has five strategic outcomes:

 A significant improvement in the mental wellbeing of young people
 A reduction in the onset of diagnosable mental health disorders
 Improved engagement in school and improved academic attainment 
 Reduced engagement in ‘risky’ behaviour including; substance abuse and criminality
 Improved employability

2.4 Both nationally and locally the agenda for children’s and young people’s mental health 
and wellbeing has been recognised as being an extremely important social and health 
issue.

2.5 In January 2017 the Prime Minister made a series of commitments to ensure that 
children and young people get the support that they need. These included;

 Mental health first aid training for secondary schools
 A major thematic review of children and adolescent mental health services across the 

country, led by the Care Quality Commission
 A forthcoming Green Paper on Children and Young People’s Mental Health

Page 20



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2.6 The Green Paper: Transforming Children and Young People’s Mental Health Provision,
has subsequently been published and includes the following key proposals:

 creating a new mental health workforce of community-based mental health support 
teams

 every school and college will be encouraged to appoint a designated lead for mental 
health

 a new 4-week waiting time for NHS children and young people’s mental health services 
to be piloted in some areas

2.7 Locally support for children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing has been a 
significant priority over the last few years. This has included a range of specific actions;

 Wolverhampton HeadStart Programme
 Children’s Mental Health services within the Better Care Fund arrangements
 Public Health developments to the Healthy Schools Programme
 Public Health revisions to school nursing and health visiting services

2.8 HeadStart Wolverhampton Phase 3 is a four-component ‘test and learn’ model to support 
the young people of the City. It includes:

 CityWide provision, predominately digital self-help, that is available to young people 
across the City

 Universal services for young people aged 10 to 16 living in key geographic areas of the 
City where evidence suggests that need is greatest

 Universal+ services for young people aged 10 to 12 in schools within those key 
geographic areas (with the exception of specialist provision)

 Targeted support for the young people identified as most vulnerable

3.0 Progress

3.1 Highlights in the Annual Review Report 2018 include:

 Successes from 2017-18 reporting year against our original ambitions
 Key learning on the programme following ‘reflective’ lessons learned workshops with 

employees,
young people and managers

 Performance against grant KPIs
 Priorities for the coming year

3.2 The Annual Review Report was written following guidelines issued by the Big Lottery 
Fund. The focus on learning was in response to the ‘test and learn’ nature of the 
programme. See Appendix 1 HeadStart Wolverhampton Annual Review - May 2018.

3.3 The outcome of the annual review meeting was positive. In attendance was Emma 
Ackerman, Head of Funding (Strategic Programmes), Felicity Bennett, Funding 
Relationship Manager and Sue Bruton, Regional Funding Manager, all from the Big 

Page 21



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Lottery Fund. Andrew Wolverson, Strategic Lead and Emma Cleary, Programme 
Manager represented the Partnership. 

3.4 Specific comments included:

 A clear report that demonstrated an understanding of Big Lottery Fund’s guidelines
 Pleased with progress of the HeadStart Wolverhampton programme to date
 Acknowledged the change in Leadership and the positive contributions of the new 

Strategic Lead – Andrew Wolverson. Big Lottery Fund wanted to maintain continuity in 
handover whilst the Innovation Lead is recruited.

 Big Lottery Fund noted the recent Governance Review which was implemented in May 
2018

 Happy with progress against KPIs to date. Although a separate meeting is still to be held 
to formally approve the re-profiled budget and reforecast reach figures.

3.5 A subsequent RAG report is expected from the Big Lottery Fund for the Wolverhampton 
Partnership in June 2018.

3.6 HeadStart’s performance against grant reach figures:

Programme Area Projected Reach 
Figure year 2

Actual Reach 
Figure year 2 
RAG rated

Since 
Inception

Number of primary schools 
engaged

11 20 (+9) 20

Number of secondary schools 
engaged

4 7 (+3) 7

Number of other school settings 
engaged

3 4 (+1) 4

Number of community-based 
organisations engaged

20 54 (+34) 54

Number of statutory services 
engaged

N/A 9 (+9) 9

Number of businesses engaged N/A 4 (+4) 4
Total number of young people 
benefitting from Universal 
Support

1539 2383 (+844) 2383

Parents, Carers and Families 
commissioning

796 *512 (-284) 512

Number of professionals 
benefitting from HeadStart

120 *1157 (+1037) 1157

*Does not avoid double counting

3.7 Work with Families (WWF) is part of HeadStart’s universal support and is a 
commissioned programme delivered in target HeadStart geographies. During the 
procurement process of this contract, market warming events led to a number of 
requests from the Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) for a longer tender period in 

Page 22



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

order to give potential providers a stronger opportunity to gather local information as part 
of their bid. As HeadStart is a partnership programme with 40% of its delivery budget 
committed to community programmes, the response was to work alongside Corporate 
Procurement and the VCS to offer a 60-day tender window as opposed to the standard 
45-day tender window. This was welcomed by both the sector and by the Big Lottery 
Fund. As a result, contract award was delayed and consequently operational activity and 
direct work with parents only started towards the end of the Big Lottery Fund’s reporting 
period (March 2018) impacting on reach figures. 

3.8 The impact on parents, carers and families is anticipated to be minimal as this type of 
universal support in the HeadStart geographies was not in place previously and 
therefore, there was no gap in provision of support. 

3.9 The school and Summer programmes for young people continued as planned and reach 
figures were exceeded. See Appendix 2 (Annex F) updated reach figures.

3.10 HeadStart’s performance against milestones:

 Year two milestones have been partially achieved. Two milestones (out of 36 key 
deliverables); sustainability planning and development of empowerment and capacity 
building toolkits have been slipped to the next reporting year, all others were achieved. 
See Appendix 3 (Annex E) year three milestones.

3.11 HeadStart’s performance against evaluation:

 Year two Wellbeing Measurement Framework (WMF) returns were achieved with 
Wolverhampton reaching 93% (1800 young people).

3.12 HeadStart’s performance against spend:

 Year two spend reported a £563,867 slippage into the 2018-19 financial year. This was 
mainly due to changes in payment schedules for contracted providers and a commitment 
to the Lawnswood Partnership – Centre of Excellence for emotional mental health and 
wellbeing training. See Appendix 4 (Annex G) budget and Appendix 5 end of year 
financial report.

3.13 Baseline findings from timepoint one national evaluation:

 Wellbeing – girls score more negatively in year 9 than in year 7
 Ability to manage emotions – boys score more negatively in year 7, but girls do in year 9
 Emotions (worry, anxiety, low moods) – girls score more negatively than boys in year 7 

and 9
 Difficulties with peers – year 7 boys start off with more difficulties but by year 9 girls 

experience more difficulties
 Manging stress – girls score more negatively than boys in year 7 and year 9

3.14 Baseline findings from timepoint one local evaluation:

 Sense of belonging – girls score more negatively than boys in both year 6 and year 7

Page 23



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 Emotional and family wellbeing – year 6 and year 7 score more negatively – girls in 
particular on emotional wellbeing

 Behaviour (aggression and acting out) – boys score more negatively in year 7 than girls, 
the gaps narrows by year 9

 Attention (managing it and tendencies towards hyperactivity) – year 7 boys score more 
negatively than girls, the gaps closes by year 9

 Interpersonal and Intrapersonal – primary age manages relationships better in school 
than outside and vice versa for secondary

3.15 National evaluation qualitative themes included young people experiencing difficulties 
with:

 Anger, worry and anxiety
 Home life, in particular, fights and arguments caused by circumstances such as divorce 

and money
 Peers, including bullying

3.16 Whilst there are still many data variables to explore during the evaluation process such 
as: young people with certain protected characteristics, specials educational needs and 
those who are eligible for free school meals, below is a selection of bespoke HeadStart 
interventions that are addressing the above issues:

 SUMO based resilience programme – building resilience to help young people cope with 
difficult situations

 HEROs, HEROs+ and Digital Ambassadors+ - peer support programmes to help young 
people deal with conflict on and offline

 Workforce development – employee training, workshops and briefings on topics that 
raise awareness and upskill professionals in spotting signs and symptoms of concerning 
behaviours earlier

 HYPE empowerment programme – building self-confidence and self-esteem
 Getting Ahead – a targeted programme focussed on building peer relationships, coping 

with stress (in a safe but challenging environment) and encouraging problem solving
 Work with Families – helping parents and carers to understand how their own emotional 

mental health and behaviours impact on their children

3.17 A true measure of impact will be available during evaluation timepoint two, March 2019.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 The HeadStart Phase 3 programme has secured grant income from BIG Lottery Fund of 
£9.5 million over five years.

4.2 Year two spend reported a £563,867 slippage into the 2018-19 financial year, this 
slippage is reprofiled along with future years budget allocation over the remaining years 
of the programme. This is subject to approval from Big Lottery Fund.

Page 24



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4.3 Grant payments are made by Big Lottery every April and October for each of the financial 
years covered by the programme.
[TC/12062018/V]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 HeadStart Phase 3 will continue to operate within the terms and conditions of its grant 
and will comply with the required performance monitoring of the Big Lottery Fund as 
requested.
[RB/10062018/A]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 The HeadStart programme is subject to a full Equalities Analysis and as part of its 
governance has a separate Equalities Reference Group who advise on legislation, 
equalities monitoring and support provision to HeadStart target groups. 

6.2 HeadStart works towards an Outcomes Framework which includes specific equalities 
objectives including: access to support for vulnerable groups and improved outcomes for 
young people with protected characteristics.

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 There are no environmental implications arising from this report.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 There are no Human Resources implications arising from this report.

9.0 Corporate Landlord implications

9.1 There are no Corporate Landlord implications arising from this report

10.0 Schedule of background papers

 11 April 2018 Children, Young People and Families Scrutiny

 25 April 2017 Cabinet Resources Panel HeadStart - HeadStart Budget Update Phase 2 
and Phase 3

 28 February 2017 Children, Young People and Families Scrutiny Panel - Building 
Resilience and Preventing Self Harm

 July 2016 Cabinet - HeadStart Phase 3

 July 2016 Cabinet Resources Panel - HeadStart Phase 3

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 Annex F updated reach figures

Data Definition
Number of agencies/settings involved in HeadStart

SC
H

O
O

LS

Number of primary schools engaged
Number of primary schools that are actively signed-up to the
programme and directly involved in one or more HeadStart
programme elements beyond the WMF.

Number of secondary schools engaged
Number of secondary schools that are actively signed-up to the
programme and directly involved in one or more HeadStart
programme elements beyond the WMF.

Number of other school settings engaged
Number of other school settings that are actively signed-up to
the programme and directly involved in one or more HeadStart
programme elements beyond the WMF.

VC
S Number of community based organisations

engaged

Number of community based organisations that are directly
involved in delivering one or more HeadStart programme
elements or are partnered to the programme

*O
PT

IO
N

A
L

*Number of statutory services actively
engaged

Number of statutory services that are directly involved in one or
more HeadStart programme element.

Number of private sector organisations
actively engaged

Number of private sector organisations that are directly involved
in one or more HeadStart programme element.

NB: Organisations registered with both the Charity Commission and
Companies House should be captured as community based
organisations above.

Number of young people involved in
HeadStart(1)   Across the HS programme
(AVOID DOUBLE-COUNTING OF YOUNG
PEOPLE IN THIS SECTION)

U
N

IV
ER

SA
L

Number of young people directly involved in
universal support

Number of young people (aged 10-16) involved in the universal
programme in schools and / or community based organisations.

(This may include some Year 5 pupils where appropriate)

U
N

IV
ER

SA
L+

/T
A

R
G

ET
ED

Number of young people identified as
requiring additional support

Where universal support alone has been
identified as not being not enough for the young
person so they have been signposted or referred
to more targeted programme elements

Number of young people who have been identified as requiring
one or more elements of additional support – this includes self-
referral where the ‘threshold’ is met

Number of young people recruited to the
additional support

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate for that young
person

A young person may be identified as requiring additional
support but on assessment a practitioner or provider may
decide that the support/activity/ intervention is not suitable or
necessary.

Page 27



Number of young people actually taking up
the additional support

Where young people have taken up support from
more targeted programme elements

Number of young people who have attended at least one
session of the additional support offered

Number of young people having completed
the additional support in a planned way

Where young people have completed the support
available from targeted programme elements in a
planned way

Number of young people having completed one or more
elements of additional support (planned is defined as where the
children and young people identified that they no longer felt they
needed the activity/ intervention or where the worker identified
this. This can include face-to-face discussions or phone
contacts

(1)   For each programme element beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted etc
(Rows 19-24 should be repeated for each
programme element. A young person may be
counted within multiple elements as appropriate)

*r
e pe at fo
r

ea ch pr og ra m m e el
e m en t be yo nd un iv
e rs al
*Programme Element HeadStarters

Number of young people identified as
requiring additional support

Where universal support alone has been
identified as not being enough for the young
person so they have been signposted or referred
to more targeted elements

Number of young people who have been identified as requiring
the programme – this includes self-referral where the ‘threshold’
is met

Number of young people recruited to the
additional support (if applicable)

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate for that young
person

A young person may be identified as requiring additional
support but on assessment a practitioner or provider may
decide that the support/activity/ intervention is not suitable or
necessary.

Number of young people actually taking up
the additional support

Where young people have taken up support from
the targeted programme element

Number of young people who have attended at least one
session / activity of the programme element

Number of young people having completed
the additional support in a planned way (if
applicable)

Where young people have completed the
targeted element in a planned way

Number of young people having completed the element in a
planned way. Planned means that either the young person or
the worker identified that the element was no longer required.
This was agreed upon by both parties through face-to-face
discussions or phone contact

Number of young people not completing the
additional/targeted programme element and
no longer engaging (if applicable)

Where young people have not completed the
programme of support and are no longer
engaged in this element

Number of young people that have dropped-out from the
programme element and do not continue to be engaged in this
provision. This includes those young people who have dropped
out from this element but continue to be engaged elsewhere in
the strategy.

(1)   For each programme element beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted etc
(Rows 19-24 should be repeated for each
programme element. A young person may be
counted within multiple elements as appropriate)

Page 28



*r
e pe at fo
r

ea ch pr og ra m m e el
e m en t be yo nd un iv
e rs al
*Programme Element SUMO

Number of young people identified as
requiring additional support

Where universal support alone has been
identified as not being enough for the young
person so they have been signposted or referred
to more targeted elements

Number of young people who have been identified as requiring
the programme – this includes self-referral where the ‘threshold’
is met

Number of young people recruited to the
additional support (if applicable)

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate for that young
person

A young person may be identified as requiring additional
support but on assessment a practitioner or provider may
decide that the support/activity/ intervention is not suitable or
necessary.

Number of young people actually taking up
the additional support

Where young people have taken up support from
the targeted programme element

Number of young people who have attended at least one
session / activity of the programme element

Number of young people having completed
the additional support in a planned way (if
applicable)

Where young people have completed the
targeted element in a planned way

Number of young people having completed the element in a
planned way. Planned means that either the young person or
the worker identified that the element was no longer required.
This was agreed upon by both parties through face-to-face
discussions or phone contact

Number of young people not completing the
additional/targeted programme element and
no longer engaging (if applicable)

Where young people have not completed the
programme of support and are no longer
engaged in this element

Number of young people that have dropped-out from the
programme element and do not continue to be engaged in this
provision. This includes those young people who have dropped
out from this element but continue to be engaged elsewhere in
the strategy.

(1)   For each programme element beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted etc
(Rows 19-24 should be repeated for each
programme element. A young person may be
counted within multiple elements as appropriate)

*r
e pe at fo
r

ea ch pr og ra m m e el
e m en t be yo nd un iv
e rs al
*Programme Element e-Quipped

Number of young people identified as
requiring additional support

Where universal support alone has been
identified as not being enough for the young
person so they have been signposted or referred
to more targeted elements

Number of young people who have been identified as requiring
the programme – this includes self-referral where the ‘threshold’
is met

Number of young people recruited to the
additional support (if applicable)

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate for that young
person

A young person may be identified as requiring additional
support but on assessment a practitioner or provider may
decide that the support/activity/ intervention is not suitable or
necessary.

Page 29



Number of young people actually taking up
the additional support

Where young people have taken up support from
the targeted programme element

Number of young people who have attended at least one
session / activity of the programme element

Number of young people having completed
the additional support in a planned way (if
applicable)

Where young people have completed the
targeted element in a planned way

Number of young people having completed the element in a
planned way. Planned means that either the young person or
the worker identified that the element was no longer required.
This was agreed upon by both parties through face-to-face
discussions or phone contact

Number of young people not completing the
additional/targeted programme element and
no longer engaging (if applicable)

Where young people have not completed the
programme of support and are no longer
engaged in this element

Number of young people that have dropped-out from the
programme element and do not continue to be engaged in this
provision. This includes those young people who have dropped
out from this element but continue to be engaged elsewhere in
the strategy.

(1)   For each programme element beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted etc
(Rows 19-24 should be repeated for each
programme element. A young person may be
counted within multiple elements as appropriate)

*r
e pe at fo
r

ea ch pr og ra m m e el
e m en t be yo nd un iv
e rs al
*Programme Element Place to Go

Number of young people likely to go to Place
to Go activities

Number of young people who have been identified as likely to
attend based on around 20% of YP populations in the
neighbourhoods where the activities will take place - largely self
directed but with a larger proportion of YP with additional well
being needs than in neighbourhood YP population as a whole
(total number worked with in any one year).

Number of young people actually attending
Place To Go activities

Number of young people who have attended at least one
session / activity of the programme element (total number
worked with in any one year).

Number of young people regularly attending
Place To Go activities

Number of young people attending 50% + of sessions over a 3
month period (total number worked with in any one year).

Number of young people not completing the
additional/targeted programme element and
no longer engaging (if applicable)

Where young people have not completed the
programme of support and are no longer
engaged in this element

Number of young people that have dropped-out from the
programme element and do not continue to be engaged in this
provision. This includes those young people who have dropped
out from this element but continue to be engaged elsewhere in
the strategy.

(1)   For each programme element beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted etc
(Rows 19-24 should be repeated for each
programme element. A young person may be
counted within multiple elements as appropriate)

*r
e pe at fo
r

ea ch pr og ra m m e el
e m en t be yo nd un iv
e rs al
*Programme Element HEROs

Page 30



Number of young people identified as
requiring additional support

Where universal support alone has been
identified as not being enough for the young
person so they have been signposted or referred
to more targeted elements

Number of young people who have been identified as requiring
the programme – this includes self-referral where the ‘threshold’
is met

Number of young people recruited to the
additional support (if applicable)

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate for that young
person

A young person may be identified as requiring additional
support but on assessment a practitioner or provider may
decide that the support/activity/ intervention is not suitable or
necessary.

Number of young people actually taking up
the additional support

Where young people have taken up support from
the targeted programme element

Number of young people who have attended at least one
session / activity of the programme element

Number of young people having completed
the additional support in a planned way (if
applicable)

Where young people have completed the
targeted element in a planned way

Number of young people having completed the element in a
planned way. Planned means that either the young person or
the worker identified that the element was no longer required.
This was agreed upon by both parties through face-to-face
discussions or phone contact

Number of young people not completing the
additional/targeted programme element and
no longer engaging (if applicable)

Where young people have not completed the
programme of support and are no longer
engaged in this element

Number of young people that have dropped-out from the
programme element and do not continue to be engaged in this
provision. This includes those young people who have dropped
out from this element but continue to be engaged elsewhere in
the strategy.

(1)   For each programme element beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted etc
(Rows 19-24 should be repeated for each
programme element. A young person may be
counted within multiple elements as appropriate)

*r
e pe at fo
r

ea ch pr og ra m m e el
e m en t be yo nd un iv
e rs al
*Programme Element JumpStart (Aspirations and employability)

Number of young people identified as
requiring additional support

Where universal support alone has been
identified as not being enough for the young
person so they have been signposted or referred
to more targeted elements

Number of young people who have been identified as requiring
the programme – this includes self-referral where the ‘threshold’
is met

Number of young people recruited to the
additional support (if applicable)

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate for that young
person

A young person may be identified as requiring additional
support but on assessment a practitioner or provider may
decide that the support/activity/ intervention is not suitable or
necessary.

Page 31



Number of young people actually taking up
the additional support

Where young people have taken up support from
the targeted programme element

Number of young people who have attended at least one
session / activity of the programme element

Number of young people having completed
the additional support in a planned way (if
applicable)

Where young people have completed the
targeted element in a planned way

Number of young people having completed the element in a
planned way. Planned means that either the young person or
the worker identified that the element was no longer required.
This was agreed upon by both parties through face-to-face
discussions or phone contact

Number of young people not completing the
additional/targeted programme element and
no longer engaging (if applicable)

Where young people have not completed the
programme of support and are no longer
engaged in this element

Number of young people that have dropped-out from the
programme element and do not continue to be engaged in this
provision. This includes those young people who have dropped
out from this element but continue to be engaged elsewhere in
the strategy.

(1)   For each programme element beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted etc
(Rows 19-24 should be repeated for each
programme element. A young person may be
counted within multiple elements as appropriate)

*r
e pe at fo
r

ea ch pr og ra m m e el
e m en t be yo nd un iv
e rs al
*Programme Element Work Ready (2 year programme)

Number of young people identified as
requiring additional support

Where universal support alone has been
identified as not being enough for the young
person so they have been signposted or referred
to more targeted elements

Number of young people who have been identified as requiring
the programme – this includes self-referral where the ‘threshold’
is met

Number of young people recruited to the
additional support (if applicable)

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate for that young
person

A young person may be identified as requiring additional
support but on assessment a practitioner or provider may
decide that the support/activity/ intervention is not suitable or
necessary.

Number of young people actually taking up
the additional support

Where young people have taken up support from
the targeted programme element

Number of young people who have attended at least one
session / activity of the programme element

Number of young people having completed
the additional support in a planned way (if
applicable)

Where young people have completed the
targeted element in a planned way

Number of young people having completed the element in a
planned way. Planned means that either the young person or
the worker identified that the element was no longer required.
This was agreed upon by both parties through face-to-face
discussions or phone contact

Page 32



Number of young people not completing the
additional/targeted programme element and
no longer engaging (if applicable)

Where young people have not completed the
programme of support and are no longer
engaged in this element

Number of young people that have dropped-out from the
programme element and do not continue to be engaged in this
provision. This includes those young people who have dropped
out from this element but continue to be engaged elsewhere in
the strategy.

(1)   For each programme element beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted etc
(Rows 19-24 should be repeated for each
programme element. A young person may be
counted within multiple elements as appropriate)

*r
e pe at fo
r

ea ch pr og ra m m e el
e m en t be yo nd un iv
e rs al
*Programme Element HEROS+

Number of young people identified as
requiring additional support

Where universal support alone has been
identified as not being enough for the young
person so they have been signposted or referred
to more targeted elements

Number of young people who have been identified as requiring
the programme – this includes self-referral where the ‘threshold’
is met

Number of young people recruited to the
additional support (if applicable)

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate for that young
person

A young person may be identified as requiring additional
support but on assessment a practitioner or provider may
decide that the support/activity/ intervention is not suitable or
necessary.

Number of young people actually taking up
the additional support

Where young people have taken up support from
the targeted programme element

Number of young people who have attended at least one
session / activity of the programme element

Number of young people having completed
the additional support in a planned way (if
applicable)

Where young people have completed the
targeted element in a planned way

Number of young people having completed the element in a
planned way. Planned means that either the young person or
the worker identified that the element was no longer required.
This was agreed upon by both parties through face-to-face
discussions or phone contact

Number of young people not completing the
additional/targeted programme element and
no longer engaging (if applicable)

Where young people have not completed the
programme of support and are no longer
engaged in this element

Number of young people that have dropped-out from the
programme element and do not continue to be engaged in this
provision. This includes those young people who have dropped
out from this element but continue to be engaged elsewhere in
the strategy.

(1)   For each programme element beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted etc
(Rows 19-24 should be repeated for each
programme element. A young person may be
counted within multiple elements as appropriate)

*r
e pe at fo
r

ea ch pr og ra m m e el
e m en t be yo nd un iv
e rs al
*Programme Element Emotional Mental Wellbeing Service

Number of young people identified as
requiring additional support

Where universal support alone has been
identified as not being enough for the young
person so they have been signposted or referred
to more targeted elements

Number of young people who have been identified as requiring
the programme – this includes self-referral where the ‘threshold’
is met

Page 33



Number of young people recruited to the
additional support (if applicable)

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate for that young
person

A young person may be identified as requiring additional
support but on assessment a practitioner or provider may
decide that the support/activity/ intervention is not suitable or
necessary.

Number of young people actually taking up
the additional support

Where young people have taken up support from
the targeted programme element

Number of young people who have attended at least one
session / activity of the programme element

Number of young people having completed
the additional support in a planned way (if
applicable)

Where young people have completed the
targeted element in a planned way

Number of young people having completed the element in a
planned way. Planned means that either the young person or
the worker identified that the element was no longer required.
This was agreed upon by both parties through face-to-face
discussions or phone contact

Number of young people not completing the
additional/targeted programme element and
no longer engaging (if applicable)

Where young people have not completed the
programme of support and are no longer
engaged in this element

Number of young people that have dropped-out from the
programme element and do not continue to be engaged in this
provision. This includes those young people who have dropped
out from this element but continue to be engaged elsewhere in
the strategy.

(1)   For each programme element beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted etc
(Rows 19-24 should be repeated for each
programme element. A young person may be
counted within multiple elements as appropriate)

*r
e pe at fo
r

ea ch pr og ra m m e el
e m en t be yo nd un iv
e rs al
*Programme Element Getting Ahead

Number of young people identified as
requiring additional support

Where universal support alone has been
identified as not being enough for the young
person so they have been signposted or referred
to more targeted elements

Number of young people who have been identified as requiring
the programme – this includes self-referral where the ‘threshold’
is met

Number of young people recruited to the
additional support (if applicable)

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate for that young
person

A young person may be identified as requiring additional
support but on assessment a practitioner or provider may
decide that the support/activity/ intervention is not suitable or
necessary.

Number of young people actually taking up
the additional support

Where young people have taken up support from
the targeted programme element

Number of young people who have attended at least one
session / activity of the programme element

Page 34



Number of young people having completed
the additional support in a planned way (if
applicable)

Where young people have completed the
targeted element in a planned way

Number of young people having completed the element in a
planned way. Planned means that either the young person or
the worker identified that the element was no longer required.
This was agreed upon by both parties through face-to-face
discussions or phone contact

Number of young people not completing the
additional/targeted programme element and
no longer engaging (if applicable)

Where young people have not completed the
programme of support and are no longer
engaged in this element

Number of young people that have dropped-out from the
programme element and do not continue to be engaged in this
provision. This includes those young people who have dropped
out from this element but continue to be engaged elsewhere in
the strategy.

(1)   For each programme element beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted etc
(Rows 19-24 should be repeated for each
programme element. A young person may be
counted within multiple elements as appropriate)

*r
e pe at fo
r

ea ch pr og ra m m e el
e m en t be yo nd un iv
e rs al
*Programme Element 4YP

Number of young people identified as
requiring additional support

Where universal support alone has been
identified as not being enough for the young
person so they have been signposted or referred
to more targeted elements

Number of young people who have been identified as requiring
the programme – this includes self-referral where the ‘threshold’
is met

Number of young people recruited to the
additional support (if applicable)

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate for that young
person

A young person may be identified as requiring additional
support but on assessment a practitioner or provider may
decide that the support/activity/ intervention is not suitable or
necessary.

Number of young people actually taking up
the additional support

Where young people have taken up support from
the targeted programme element

Number of young people who have attended at least one
session / activity of the programme element

Number of young people having completed
the additional support in a planned way (if
applicable)

Where young people have completed the
targeted element in a planned way

Number of young people having completed the element in a
planned way. Planned means that either the young person or
the worker identified that the element was no longer required.
This was agreed upon by both parties through face-to-face
discussions or phone contact

Number of young people not completing the
additional/targeted programme element and
no longer engaging (if applicable)

Where young people have not completed the
programme of support and are no longer
engaged in this element

Number of young people that have dropped-out from the
programme element and do not continue to be engaged in this
provision. This includes those young people who have dropped
out from this element but continue to be engaged elsewhere in
the strategy.

Number of parents supported through
HeadStart (parents of young people requiring

additional/targeted programme beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted

etc)Programme Element Family digital learning sessions

Page 35



Number of parents / carers invited to take part
in digital family learning sessions / events

Number of parents / carers who have been identified as
requiring the programme – this includes self-referral where the
‘threshold’ is met. N.B mother and father to be counted
separately

Number of parents / carers recruited to the
additional support

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate

Number of parents / carers who attended at least one session /
activity of the programme element

Number of parents / carers completing the
digital family learning sessions / events

Number of parents / carers having completed the programme
element in a planned way which means that either the parent /
carer or the worker identified that the programme element was
no longer required and this was agreed upon by both parties
through face-to-face discussions or phone contacts

Number of parents supported through
HeadStart (parents of young people requiring

additional/targeted programme beyond the
universal offer i.e. universal plus, targeted

etc)Programme Element Work with Families

Number of parents / carers identified as
requiring the programme element

Number of parents / carers who have been identified as
requiring the programme – this includes self-referral where the
‘threshold’ is met.
NB each parent to be counted separately

Number of parents / carers recruited to the
additional support

Where provider is satisfied that the
support/intervention is appropriate

A parent / carer may be identified as requiring additional support
but on assessment a practitioner or provider may decide that
the support/activity/ intervention is not suitable or necessary.

Number of parents / carers actually taking up
the programme element

Where parents / carers have taken up support
from the element

Number of parents / carers who attended at least one session /
activity of the programme element

Number of parents / carers completing the
programme element in a planned way

Where parent / carer have completed the
programme element in a planned way

Number of parents / carers completing the element in a planned
way. Planned means that either the parent / carer or the worker
identified that the element was no longer required. This was
agreed by both parties through face-to-face discussions or
phone contact

Page 36



Number of parents / carers not completing the
additional/targeted programme element and
no longer engaging (if applicable)

Where parents / carers have not completed the
programme of support and are no longer
engaged in this element

Number of parents / carers that have dropped-out from the
programme element and do not continue to be engaged in this
provision. This includes those parents / carers who have
dropped out from this element but continue to be engaged
elsewhere in the strategy.

Number of professionals supported through
HeadStart

Number of professionals who have completed
one or more training courses

The actual number of professionals who completed one or more
training courses for the agreed duration as defined in the
training plan.

Page 37



Since inception 2017-18 projections 2017-18 actuals 2018-19 projections

20 11 20 20

7 4 7 7

4 3 4 4

54 20 54 57

8 N/A 8 5

4 N/A 4 10

2383 1539 2383 1932

2383 1131 2383 1932

2383 1101 2383 1932

Page 38



2383 1021 2383 1932

1961 930 1961 1585

146 257 146 240

146 244 146 240

146 220 146 240

0 176 0 192

0 81 0 48

Page 39



951 1009 951 982

951 1009 951 982

951 959 951 982

0 911 0 932

0 98 0 50

641 1131 641 589

641 1044 641 589

Page 40



641 968 641 589

129 879 129 117

0 252 0 472

1065 1064 1065 1064

1041 1064 1041 1032

887 638 887 619

178 426 178 445

Page 41



1064 1009 1064 982

1064 1009 1064 982

1064 959 1064 982

1062 959 1062 980

2 50 2 2

0 682 0 658

0 682 0 658

Page 42



0 614 0 658

0 491 0 625

0 191 0 33

0 0 0 100

0 0 0 95

0 0 0 95

0 0 0 0

Page 43



0 0 0 100

115 252 115 240

115 189 115 240

115 142 115 240

115 106 115 240

0 146 0 0

17 234 17 358

Page 44



17 234 17 358

17 176 17 268

17 132 17 201

0 102 0 157

114 55 114 105

114 55 114 105

114 50 114 105

Page 45



0 45 0 94

0 10 0 11

60 0 60 60

60 0 60 60

60 0 60 60

60 0 60 60

0 0 0 0

Page 46



265 456 265 403

265 410 265 403

265 308 265 403

247 340 247 580

247 340 247 580

247 136 247 232

247 82 247 139

Page 47



0 258 0 441

1157 120 1157 520

Page 48



2019-20 projections 2020-21 projections

20 30

7 10

4 1

57 57

7

15 15

1932 1932

1932 1932

1932 1932

Page 49



1932 1932

1585 1585

386 386

386 386

386 386

308 308

78 78

Page 50



1933 1933

1933 1933

1933 1933

1836 1836

97 97

1230 1230

1230 1230

Page 51



1230 1230

246 246

984 984

1064 1064

1032 1032

619 619

445 445

Page 52



1933 1933

1933 1933

1933 1933

1929 1929

4 4

470 1128

470 1128

Page 53



470 1128

446 1071

24 57

200 0

190 0

190 0

0 152

Page 54



200 48

386 386

386 386

386 386

386 386

0 0

565 565

Page 55



565 565

424 424

318 318

247 247

219 219

219 219

219 219

Page 56



197 197

22 22

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

0 0

Page 57



668 668

668 668

668 668

580 580

580 580

232 232

139 139

Page 58



441 441

260 260

Page 59



Comments

Year 4 projection based on all HeadStart schools being engaged
and benefitting from the programme in some way - delivery,
support and guidance, evaluation. Year 5 projection based on 10
new none HeadStart schools engaging in the programme.

Year 4 projection based on all HeadStart schools being engaged
and benefitting from the programme in some way - delivery,
support and guidance, evaluation. Year 5 projection based on 1
new none HeadStart schools engaging in the programme.

Year 4 projection based on all HeadStart schools being engaged
and benefitting from the programme in some way - delivery,
support and guidance, evaluation. Year 5 projection based on 3
new none HeadStart schools engaging in the programme.Steering Group membership and Contracted providers
*Please note we are still projecting an additional 10 new
organisations in year 3 but the number is not 64 as we have
removed those funded during the summer as they are no longer
involved. Year 4&5 are at full capacity.Wolves Community Trust, Education Psychology, Fire Service,
Police, Wolverhampton Homes, Strengthening Families Hubs
(Early Help), CCG, BCPFT, Voluntary Sector Council
*Projections based on professional judgement year 4 projects 2
new services, year 5 will be at full capacity
Steve Guy Counselling, Bilston Town FC, Bilston Town BID, Get
Grants
*Projections based on professional judgement. Year 3 is
projecting 6 new businesses involved and year 4, 5 more new
businesses involved, most likely all through the work ready
programme. Year 5 full capacity.

Comments

Numbers reforecast in year 3 based on performance in year 2
and change in delivery for year 1 schools but also accounts for a
reduced cross over in young people accessing support from the
community (only 11% cross over not the original 20% forecast).
Years 4 and 5 are all schools at full capacity using the same
formula assuming schools will continue to deliver programmes to
new young people cohorts without HeadStart staff. (community
minus 11% plus numbers in year 6&7 in year 3: 1065-11% = 947
+ 985 = 1932). The original forecast for this was based on all
young people in year 6 to year 11 but we know that this isn't a
realistic figure moving forward until we better understand how
schools will be delivering and to which year groups over the
remaining years of the programme.

Reforecast based on year 2 performance

Reforecast based on year 2 performance

Page 60



Reforecast based on year 2 performance

Reforecast based on year 2 performance

Comments

Based on 15 per year 2 school (including specialist provision).
Year 3 is based on the changes to delivery in year 1 schools.
Years 4 and 5 are all schools at full capacity assuming schools
will continue to deliver programmes to new young people cohorts
without HeadStart staff.

Still assuming a 20% reduction based on original projections until
we know the actual drop off rate in July

Comments

Page 61



3 schools have moved to year 3 delivery, projections based on
numbers on role at time of reporting and reduced due to the
change in delivery for year 1 schools. Years 4 and 5 are all
schools at full capacity assuming schools will continue to deliver
programmes to new young people cohorts without HeadStart
staff.

Still assuming a 5% drop off until we know actual drop off in July
2018.

Comments

This programme did not attract the 20% of young people originally
forecast from the community. The new projections are based on
actuals in year 1 (60% of numbers on role) and the change in
delivery for are 1 schools. Years 4 and 5 are all schools at full
capacity assuming schools will continue to deliver programmes to
new young people cohorts without HeadStart staff.

Page 62



Based on the 20% that completed the intervention at time of
reporting in year 1 schools. Note that this intervention is made up
of 3 components. The only 2 where a component can be
completed is digital ambassadors and Ambassadors +. Content
creation is a voluntary component with no set number of
interactions required

Comments

Not changed as have reached numbers projected. Will review
following performance in year 3.

Re-forecast based on year 2 performance (3% drop off)

Re-forecast based on year 2 performance. (further 40% drop off)

Comments

Page 63



3 schools have moved to year 3 delivery, projections based on
numbers on role at time of reporting and reduced due to the
change in delivery for year 1 schools. Years 4 and 5 are all
schools at full capacity assuming schools will continue to deliver
programmes to new young people cohorts without HeadStart
staff.

Assuming same drop off as in year 1 schools (only 2 students
increasing to 4)

Comments

Based on all secondaries receiving Jump Start in this reporting
year and OSWBA, St Matthias and Khalsa academy receiving it in
the next reporting year (Spring/Summer term 2019). Also based
on numbers on role at time of reporting. Year 5 is all schools at
full capacity assuming schools will continue to deliver
programmes to new young people cohorts without HeadStart
staff.

Page 64



Now based on a 5% drop off (not 20%) as delivered in the same
way as SUMO - all year 7s. Drop off accounts for sickness and
moving schools

Comments

No new young people in year 5 due to length of programme and
having to complete it in 2 years. Year 4 will work with the first 100
young people and a further new 100 young people

Assuming 5% drop off after identification

Assuming all take it up as this will be encouraged by the school

Assuming a 20% drop off (professional judgement due to size,
scope and commitment required to programme)

Page 65



Comments

Based on 15 per year 2 school (including specialist provision).
Years 4 and 5 are all schools at full capacity assuming schools
will continue to deliver programmes to new young people cohorts
without HeadStart staff.

Completion rates reforecast based on year 1 schools
performance (100% completion).

Comments

Year 2 actuals were based on a pilot. We were unable to drill
down further to recruited, taken up and completed as the pilot
was not run by HeadStart and data at that level could not be
shared. The new services is operation in this reporting year and
so original forecasts have not be reviewed but will be after year 3.
It is anticipated that actual reach figures are likely to be less than
original forecast once the service is up and running and the
number of young people referred via CYRM is significantly lower
(only 60 young people identified so far with no onwards referrals
made to date). Page 66



Same as above

Assume 75% take up

Assume 75% of those taking up support complete at least 75% of
the sessions offered.

Comments

Numbers not reforecast as even though there was a significant
increase in year 2 than originally forecast, the residential element
of the programme is limited to around the reach figures first
forecast. Given that young people can also take up none the none
residential element of Getting Ahead too and the change in
delivery for year 1 schools, the numbers will remain the same.
Years 4 and 5 are all schools at full capacity assuming schools
will continue to deliver programmes to new young people cohorts
without HeadStart staff.

Assuming no drop off as to date all young people have taken up
the offer of the programme

Page 67



Still assuming a 10% drop off until all the programme is complete
and reach figures received in July 2018.

Comments

There were no original reach figures against this intervention.
Assuming similar numbers as in year 1 schools. No reach figures
for year 4&5 as currently there are no staff within the staffing
budget to continue this programme. This will be reconsidered in
the coming months.

Comments

Page 68



Original forecasts were based on professional judgment and
could be considered as unrealistic given parental engagement is
notoriously difficult. Figures may rise during the remainder of the
academic year to provide a more accurate forecast for year 3
however, years 3,4 & 5have been reforecast based on year 2
performance (40% reduction). Year 4&5 are a cumulative total
based on year 2 actual and year 3 projection assuming schools
will continue to work with parents in these years given the
changes to year 1 school delivery.

Comments

Original projections not changed as no performance data for year
2 to compare to. This was due to the Work with Families contracts
not being fully operational until the end of the reporting year.

Assuming no drop off

Assuming 40% of those that take up the offer attend at least 1
session

Assuming 60% completion rate of the above

Page 69



Comments

Reach figures increased by 50% in year 3 only due to larger
cohorts in schools being trained on SUMO and e-Quipped. More
work to be done on de-duplication and separating short and long
courses and their impact.

Page 70



Appendix 1 Annex E year three milestones

Programme 
area

Milestone Deadline Lead Officer

4YP schedule starts with new Cohort September 18 Pat Flynn
HeadStart Online

- Digital Performance Dashboard developed 
and operational (part of overall comms 
action plan)

Review of platform

June 2018

November 2018

Pat Flynn

e-Quipped Programme 
- Staff and professional’s cohort 1 complete
- Young people cohort 1 complete
- Staff and professional’s cohort 2 starts
- Young people cohort 1 starts

July 2018
July 2018
Sept 2018
Sept 2018

Pat Flynn

Professional Peer Support Network Re-
established and operational

Dec 2018 Mai Gibbons

HeadStarters (HYPE)
- Young People Cohort 1 complete
- Young People Cohort 2 Identified
- Young People Cohort 2 starts

July 2018 
Oct 2018
Nov 2018

Sunita Pallan-Jhalli

Centre of Excellence 
- Workforce Training and Education 

Programme partnership offer agreed
- Official opening

July 2018

Sept 2018

Andrew Wolverson

Programme 
effectiveness

Place2Go 
- Review of Big Lottery Fund Requirements 

(TIDieRs, Eco Eval, Data collection) 
May 2018 

Mai Gibbons

P
age 71



HeadStart Wolverhampton Annual Report 2018-19 2

Programme 
area

Milestone Deadline Lead Officer

- Quality Assurance evaluation complete 
(sample)

- Self-assessment evaluation returned
- Annual contracts review

Sept 2018

January 2019
February 2019

Work with Families
- Review of Big Lottery Fund Requirements 

(TIDieRs, Eco Eval, Data collection) 
- Quality Assurance evaluation complete 

(sample)
- Self-assessment evaluation returned
- Annual contracts review

May 2018 

Sept 2018

January 2019
February 2019

Mai Gibbons

Parent Ambassadors Programme
Review August 2018

Mai Gibbons

Capacity, capability and empowerment toolkits 
live

- Co-production 
- Business Change
- Pastoral 
- Review and potential new toolkit scoping

May 2018
June 2018
Sept 2018
Dec 2018

Sunita Pallan-Jhalli
Emma Cleary
Sunita Pallan-Jhalli
HeadStart Management Team

HEROs cohort 2 complete January 2019 Sunita Pallan-Jhalli
HEROs +

- Cohort 1 complete
- Cohort 2 70 % complete

July 2018
March 2019

Sunita Pallan-Jhalli

Getting Ahead
- Cohort 1 complete July 2018

Pat Flynn

P
age 72



HeadStart Wolverhampton Annual Report 2018-19 3

Programme 
area

Milestone Deadline Lead Officer

- Cohort 2 primary Identified
- Cohort 2 delivery Begins
- Cohort 2 secondary Identified
- Cohort 2 secondary delivery Begins

July 2018
Sept 2018
Nov 2018
Jan 2019

Emotional Mental Health and Wellbeing 
- Review of Big Lottery Requirements 

(TIDieRs, Eco Eval, Data collection) 
- Self-assessment evaluation complete 

(sample)
- Annual contracts review

August 2018

April 2019

April 2019

Mai Gibbons

SUMO Resilience Programme 
- Cohort 1 complete
- Quality Assurance evaluation complete 

(sample)
- SUMO Resilient Programme Cohort 2 

starts

July 2018
Aug 2018

Oct 2018

Sunita Pallan-Jhalli

ZUMOS Implementation
- Primary school launch staff and young 

people
- Secondary schools launch staff and young 

people 

April 2018

May 2018

Pat Flynn

JumpStart and Work Ready Programmes
- JumpStart Cohort 1 delivery begins
- Work Ready target group cohort 1 

identified 

April 2018
July 2018

Jan 2019

Angela McKeever

P
age 73



HeadStart Wolverhampton Annual Report 2018-19 4

Programme 
area

Milestone Deadline Lead Officer

- JumpStart Cohort 2 delivery begins
- Work Ready programme delivery begins

Sept 2018

GDPR review May 2018 Emma Cleary
Establishment Review (staffing and 
Programme structure)

Dec 2018 Andrew Wolverson

Community Bases 
- Report complete (timepoint 1 interviews)
- First year review

May 2018
Aug 2018

Karl Royle
HeadStart Management Team

Identification and Pathways
- Process briefing for staff complete
- Review of process

Apr 2018
Oct 2018

Emma Cleary

Programme 
Fidelity

Outcomes Framework
- Review 1 
- Baseline complete (with available data)
- Dashboard presentations (quarterly) start
- Review 2

April 2018
July 2018
July 2018
Oct 2018

Ashley Banks

Governance Review
- Approved by Board
- Implementation complete
- New Governance Cycle starts
- Governance Review (if required)

April 2018
June 2018
July 2018
Jan 2019

Emma ClearyGovernance

HeadStart Ambassadors (Older Young 
People)

- Cohort 2 operational June 2018
Dec 2018

Sunita Pallan-Jhalli

P
age 74



HeadStart Wolverhampton Annual Report 2018-19 5

Programme 
area

Milestone Deadline Lead Officer

- Outcomes Star feedback 

HeadStart Mini Ambassadors operational
- Area A
- Area B
- Area C
- Area D

April 2018
October 2018
October 2018
April 2018

Sunita Pallan-Jhalli

Leadership Innovation lead
- In post
- Handover complete

Sept 2018
Dec 2018

Andrew Wolverson

Sustainability Sustainability
- Support plan agreed
- Scoping of consultation
- Consultation complete
- Analysis of feedback and evaluation 

findings
- Implementation plan drafted

May 2018
June 2018
October 2018
Dec 2018

Jan 2019

Andrew Wolverson

Engagement Engagement
- Evaluation Briefing #1 begins 
- Evaluation Briefing #2 (Review of findings)
- Marketing and Communications strategy 

agreed by Board
- Marketing and Communications action plan 

operational
- Marketing and comms performance 

dashboard operational 

April 2018
April 2019

April 2018

June 2018

May 2018

HeadStart Management Team

P
age 75



HeadStart Wolverhampton Annual Report 2018-19 6

Programme 
area

Milestone Deadline Lead Officer

- Celebration event (Young people, Schools, 
Partners and Parents)

- Lessons learned reviews

Aug 2018

Sept 18 and March 19

P
age 76



Appendix 3 (Annex G) Budget 

Budget Summary
Actual

Heading
July 16 –
Mar 17

17/18 18/19 19/20
April 20 –
July 21

Total

Cost
Governance:
Programme management (including for instance strategic lead,
programme lead, finance, Performance management /
evaluation, Digital Lead, Youth engagement lead,
communications)

Staff 197 678 543 383 245 2,046

Non-staff 123 233 350 170 190 1,065
Delivery:

City Wide
Staff - - - - - -
Non-staff 36 222 154 160 195 767

HeadSpace Hubs / Schools & Community Support
Staff 87 514 758 796 272 2,427
Non-staff 4 70 152 115 40 381

Universal
Staff - - - - - -
Non-staff 76 677 723 670 534 2,680

Universal +
Staff - - - - - -
Non-staff 148 326 322 253 293 1,341

Targeted
Staff - - - - - -
Non-staff 68 270 450 425 320 1,534

TOTAL 739 2,992 3,452 2,971 2,089 12,242
Income:

Contributions from partnership - Better Care fund LA pooled budgets, CCG
& Traded income

42 255 499 889 1,084 2,769

BLF contribution 697 2,737 2,953 2,082 1,005 9,473

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 Year End Financial Report

HeadStart Budget Year Two - 01/04/17 to 31/03/18

BLF Financial Statement:
Budget

Spend to
date

Forecasted
Outturn Variance

Core Team
Core Team Employee Costs 645,731 635,781 635,781 (9,950)
Core Other costs 351,964 227,485 227,485 (124,479)

997,695 863,266 863,266 (134,429)

City-wide
Headstart FM 52,000 31,279 31,279 (20,721)
Specialist Information and Online Therapy 50,000 98,717 98,717 48,717
Mental Well being awareness & Anti Stigma 35,590 27,308 27,308 (8,282)
LTT Project Management & Technical Lead 43,220 45,942 45,942 2,722
Lead consultant time 43,220 64,524 64,524 21,304

224,030 267,770 267,770 43,740
Hubs
Hub Team Employee Costs 436,790 406,287 406,287 (30,503)
Hub other costs 274,440 70,358 70,358 (204,082)

711,230 476,646 476,646 (234,584)
Universal
Commissioned Activity
Summer activites 220,000 243,713 243,713 23,713
Place to Go 111,120 96,283 96,283 (14,837)
Targeted Interventions 14,000 11,502 11,502 (2,498)
Work with parents 55,550 47,414 47,414 (8,136)
Parent Champions 30,000 30,000 30,000
Headstart News Hounds 33,340 8,590 8,590 (24,750)

Capacity and Capability Building and Community Empowerment 
Change Management & Empowerment  + set up costs 28,700 24,620 24,620 (4,080)
Education & Training Programme + set up costs 88,215 54,195 54,195 (34,020)
Accredited Digital Awareness & Online safety training + set up costs 92,636 48,457 48,457 (44,179)
Peer Support & mentoring + setup costs 80,000 92,658 92,658 12,658

Specific School based activities
 Set up costs 10,000 - - (10,000)

733,561 657,431 657,431 (76,130)
Universal +

Integrated  SUMO  resilience  and  mental  wellbeing  /  PSHE  /  SEAL  school
curriculum for the young people, HeadsUP, SUMO for Parents + Set up costs 75,714 66,913 66,913 (8,801)
External speakers (SUMO Masterclasses & specialist events) 40,000 23,314 23,314 (16,686)
4 Cs digital programme  + set up costs 120,000 151,799 151,799 31,799
HEROs programme  + set up costs 45,232 16,314 16,314 (28,918)
4YP Radio + set up costs 35,000 19,546 19,546 (15,454)
Employability based aspiration and work skills set up costs 65,000 1,201 1,201 (63,799)
HeadStarters programme  + set up costs 72,585 46,871 46,871 (25,714)

453,531 325,958 325,958 (127,573)

Targeted Interventions
Getting Ahead Programme + set up costs 117,980 145,408 145,408 27,428
‘Pre-CAMHS’ interventions 62,500 - - (62,500)

P
age 79



180,480 145,408 145,408 (35,072)

BLF Reporting position as at 31/03/18 3,300,527 2,736,479 2,736,479 (564,048)
-

Non - BLF Financial Statement:
Budget

Spend to
date

Forecasted
Outturn Variance

Core Team
Core Team Employee Costs 20,660 2,309 2,309 (18,351)
CORE Income/Benefit in Kind (20,660) (2,127) (2,127) 18,533

Hubs
Hub Team Employee Costs 108,000 108,000 108,000 -
HUB Benefit in Kind (108,000) (108,000) (108,000) -

Universal
Specific School based activities:
Police and School Panels 20,000 20,000 20,000 -
Universal Benefit in Kind (20,000) (20,000) (20,000) -

Targeted Interventions
‘Pre-CAMHS’ interventions 125,000 125,000 125,000 -
Targeted Benefit in Kind (125,000) (125,000) (125,000) -

Non BLF - Reporting position as at 31/03/18 - 181 181 181

Details of Variance:

Slippage into 2018/19:
£ Notes from Head of Serivce

Core Team
Staffing Slippage (24,885) Slippage as a result of delay in recruitment for Data Officer, Assistant and YPE Officer
HeadStart Evaluation (51,190) Re-profile as per invoicing payment schedule
Centre of Excellence (107,500) Phase 2 of the new centre of excellence will be completed in the 18/19 financial year
Consultancy Slippage (11,123) Slippage to allow small consultancy budget in 18/19
Accommodation & Utilities (5,000) Estimated Slippage for Rent at Priory Green Nov 17 to Mar 18

Hubs
All hub non recurrent set up costs (11,000) Slippage of HUB non recurrent set up costs into next FY
All hub Engagement & Communications activities (20,000) Slippage of HUB engagement costs into next FY

Universal
Targeted Interventions (2,498) One element of targeted has slipped into 18/19
Headstart News Hounds (24,750) 50% payment to be completed in 18/19
Change Management & Empowerment (4,080) The toolkits for this activity are in development with external consultants

Universal+
Integrated Sumo - Non recurrent set up costs (8,801) Maintain flexibility with set up as the new curriculum continues to be developed
Employability based aspiration and work skills programme (28,599) Profiled as per the requirement for Employability programme
Employability based aspiration and work skills programme (20,200) Jumpstart Programme recruitment delayed, requires slipping into 2018/19

Headstarters (25,714) Due to weathe impacting booked residential, delays mean the cost will be charged in 2018/19

P
age 80



Targeted Interventions

‘Pre-CAMHS’ interventions (62,500)
This is HeadStart's contribution to the new Mental Wellbeing Service in partnership with the
council and the CCG and is due to commence 1 April 2018 for three years

Current (Under)/over spend in 2017/18

Overall current underspend position (186,027) Current profiled underspend to be reallocated to provide additional services in 2018/19

Universal
Work with parents 30,000 Strenthening families costs

Slippage into 2018/19 as at 31/03/2018 (563,867)

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



May 2018 Page 1

HeadStart Wolverhampton
Annual Review – May 2018

Contents

1. HeadStart Wolverhampton – Mission................................................................2
2. Changes to local and national context .............................................................2
3. How the strategy is delivering against its original ambitions ........................3
4. Learning...............................................................................................................4

4.1. Programme effectiveness...............................................................................4
4.2. Programme fidelity..........................................................................................5
4.3. Governance / Leadership ...............................................................................7
4.4. Sustainability ..................................................................................................7
4.5. Engagement ...................................................................................................8
4.6. KPIs – Milestones...........................................................................................8
4.7. KPIs – Reach..................................................................................................9
4.8. KPIs – Evaluation ...........................................................................................9
4.9. KPIs – Spend................................................................................................10

5. Young people learning .....................................................................................11
6. Year 3 priorities .................................................................................................11

Page 83



May 2018 Page 2

1. HeadStart Wolverhampton – Mission

HeadStart Wolverhampton started its Phase 3 journey with the following 
mission:

“To promote, protect and preserve the mental wellbeing of 10 to 16-year olds across 
our city. To inspire them to dream big. To support them to maintain motivation and 
control by equipping them with skills to cope with setbacks and adversity”.

The objective of our young people was to:

“Empower young people of Wolverhampton to improve and spread awareness of 
their own mental wellbeing and that of their peers”.

To achieve the above, HeadStart Wolverhampton committed to:

 Removing the stigma that surrounds mental health
 Educate, engage and empower young people, their families and communities 

to be resilient and self-supporting
 Develop an integrated programme of early intervention and prevention across 

four levels of support; City wide, Universal +, Universal and Targeted
 Build a confident, accessible and responsive workforce
 Be accountable through our governance and outcomes framework

Programme outcomes:

 Socially significant improvement in the mental wellbeing of at-risk young 
people

 A reduction in the onset of diagnosable mental health disorders
 Improved engagement in school and improved academic attainment
 Reduced engagement in risky behaviour
 Improved employability

This report sets out a review and self-critique of the Wolverhampton partnership’s 
performance against its original ambitions. 

2. Changes to local and national context

Both nationally and locally the agenda for children’s and young people’s mental 
health and wellbeing has been recognised as being an extremely important social 
and health issue. Recent commitments from Central Government could have a 
positive impact on the national programme moving forward.

In January 2017 the Prime Minister announced plans to ensure that children and 
young people get the support that they need. These included;

 Mental health first aid training for secondary schools
 A major thematic review of children and adolescent mental health services 

across the country, led by the Care Quality Commission

Page 84



May 2018 Page 3

 A forthcoming Green Paper on Children and Young People’s Mental Health

The Green Paper: Transforming Children and Young People’s Mental Health 
Provision, has subsequently been published and includes the following key 
proposals:

 To create a new mental health workforce of community-based mental health 
support teams

 For every school and college will be encouraged to appoint a designated lead 
for mental health

 To pilot a new 4-week waiting time for NHS children and young people’s 
mental health services in some areas

There is also increasing interest nationally on the impact of digital and social media 
on young people’s mental health.

Locally, support for children and young people’s mental health and wellbeing has 
been a significant priority over the last few years. This has included a range of 
specific actions:

 Wolverhampton HeadStart Programme
 Developing a revised Children and Young People’s Mental Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy across health and social care including from April 2017, 
Children’s Mental Health services within the Better Care Fund arrangements

 The launch of an Emotional Mental Health and Wellbeing Service to plug the 
traditional ‘tier 2’ gap that has been present in Wolverhampton for many years

 Public Health developments to the Healthy Schools Programme
 Public Health revisions to school nursing and health visiting services
 A Local Authority restructure of Public Health linking job roles to education

3. How the strategy is delivering against its original ambitions

In the last year, HeadStart Wolverhampton has mobilised its programme further and 
is now well into its first year of delivery. The programme is working with multiple 
partners and stakeholders across several agencies to support the city’s young 
people in developing resilience and emotional mental health and wellbeing 
strategies. Examples of how this has been achieved in the last year include:

HeadStart Wolverhampton has:

 Successfully delivered a number of campaigns around the anti-stigma 
agenda. These have included Mental Health Awareness Week, #iwill, Hello 
Yellow, Safer Internet Day, Wolverhampton Residents Programme and Young 
Carers Awareness Day. 

 Organised two conferences attracting over 700 professionals from a number 
of sectors including health, police, social care, education, voluntary and 
community. Key note speakers at both conferences offered presentations and 
workshops on a number of themes, encouraging front line staff to talk more 
openly and confidently with young people in their work place about mental 
health.

Page 85



May 2018 Page 4

 Worked with its local Steering Groups to co-produce the 2017 community 
Summer Programme which saw over 900 young people and over 100 parents 
take part in a variety of projects aimed at increasing confidence, helping 
young people and families to support one another and to encourage more 
positive thinking.

 No less than eight bespoke interventions, three of which make up the digital 
strand, running in 15 year one schools, and from September 2018 will be 
delivering to 16 year two schools. 

 Launched two online platforms that are now live, either in schools or are 
accessible city wide, encouraging self-help and signposting to other support 
services. 

 Commissioned three major contracts that offer universal support to young 
people and families and co-commissioned a brand new targeted support 
service with the Local Authority and the Clinical Commissioning Group. The 
new service is aimed at reducing the number of young people needing more 
specialist mental health care.

 Excelled on its original professional reach figures seeing a far greater 
audience take up SUMO and e-Quipped (online safety) training than originally 
anticipated. Along with partners, HeadStart has also led on a Centre of 
Excellence, ‘The Lawnswood Partnership’, which will provide a varied training 
experience for a number of professionals and volunteers, offering access to 
courses and awareness-raising workshops on emotional mental health and 
wellbeing. 

 Supported its first cohort of HeadStart Ambassadors, with the recruitment of a 
second cohort beginning shortly. This group has not only been the voice of 
young people in governance, commissioning, recruitment and consultation but 
are also now becoming role models to our Mini Ambassadors. They have 
demonstrated how HeadStart can help young people but have also gained 
skills, training and confidence themselves in their preparation for the world of 
work or further education.

 Agreed an outcomes framework that will bring together huge amounts of data 
from within the programme, the Local Authority and the wider partnership to 
ensure we are able to demonstrate impact, see success and create a realistic 
sustainability plan.

4. Learning 

With success comes learning and bringing the Phase 3 strategy into reality has had 
its challenges. During three ‘reflective’ sessions with managers, staff and young 
people, this section captures the learning themes from the last year.

4.1. Programme effectiveness

We have learnt:

 Resilience means something different in every school 

Much of the HeadStart Wolverhampton strategy is based on Michael Ungar’s theory 
(2008 and 2011) of young people navigating and negotiating resources in a 
meaningful way. Working in our year one target schools has taught us that what 
good resilience is to a school in Bilston, could be different to what good resilience is 

Page 86



May 2018 Page 5

in a school in Blakenhall. This ultimately will affect how we deliver in our year two 
schools taking a more tailored approach to interventions and supporting schools to 
design and develop their own resilience practice embedding it across all year groups 
and curriculums. 

 Delivery for year one schools in 2018-19 will look different

When originally looking at the delivery model for year one and year two schools, it 
was anticipated that HeadStart staff would intensify its delivery work year on year. 
This is not however, a good model for sustainability as schools could become 
increasingly more dependent on HeadStart to deliver programmes on their behalf. 

The programme will focus more on shifting schools towards thinking about a whole 
school approach and system change offering refresher delivery and consultation. We 
will concentrate on reinforcing how schools can use HeadStart resilience 
programmes in the future using their own definitions of what resilience means to 
them and how strategies can positively impact on performance and engagement. 

This approach will also offer the opportunity to work with the Local Authority’s 
Education Directorate on how HeadStart programmes can be utilised in school 
improvement and support packages. 

 Diverse communities need a diverse approach

Each of the target communities in the HeadStart Strategy were to have a base where 
multi-discipline teams would act as the change agent providing an emotional mental 
health and wellbeing focus to existing organisations. 

The teams have bought together local groups and networks and continue to partner 
up with established support services. The feedback from both staff, communities and 
the evaluation data tells us that each community, whilst there will be similarities, has 
diverse needs. This is true of the environment, the population and the services 
already surrounding a community.

One year on and the programme is now better placed to revisit plans for the bases 
and introduce specific objectives for each area team, bespoke to community need. 
This will ensure focus on improving the wellbeing and mental health of young people, 
connecting communities, schools and families more and how improvements can be 
sustained.

 More is needed to support transition from primary to secondary

Following a series of podcasts with almost 60 students, the majority from alternative 
provision, a re-occurring theme is that transition from primary school to secondary 
school is a key turning point for the emotional mental health of young people. 

The Universal+ element of the strategy focusses on the transition years, but having 
now worked now with Year 6 since September, what we have learnt is that 
logistically it is very hard to get the right level of time and commitment in Year 6 
given the pressure on schools and young people during SATs. 

Page 87



May 2018 Page 6

So that we can better prepare our young people for stresses, such as exams, and 
taking into account the scope of the programme, we will be exploring ways in which 
local communities could provide additional support to young people and families 
around this theme through our commissioned work and existing education services.

4.2. Programme fidelity

We have learnt:

 Don’t reinvent the wheel

Having set up four community bases, we have quickly discovered parts of the 
original vision for partnership working are already operational across the city. 

Area-based teams will continue to work alongside services to understand community 
needs better and add value to networks rather than duplicate them. 

Examples include; the Parent Champion initiative already set up by Strengthening 
Families Hubs, accessing locality teams and consortium groups that are already 
operational and sharing knowledge with forums such as Police Task Groups.

 Make data meaningful for schools

With a sudden influx of information and data from both the national and local 
evaluations, support in schools has included more in-depth discussions about what 
HeadStart data means to them.

Generally, all schools have been very positive about local and national school 
reports. There has been a consensus though that they now need more 
understanding on ‘why’ data and information says what it does, and ‘how’ they 
respond to it.

Using contextual information about a school and its existing support strategies, and 
other school performance data, the programme is in a much stronger position to 
support schools in using information to tailor support, look at best practice and 
explore opportunities to fill gaps in support.

 It’s not all about the negative indicators

It might have been assumed that following the national and local evaluations, there 
would be a lot of work to initiate support where young people are reporting negatively 
on the various survey scales. In fact, there is much to learn from the positive 
indicators in Wolverhampton. 

Young people in Wolverhampton have told us that they feel supported by their 
school and their peers, that they are able to set goals, that they have better levels of 
attention, that they feel positive about their wellbeing and that they are actually more 
resilient than we might have thought. 

Looking at data from the local evaluation in particular, the range of positive and 
negative scores on all of the scales is minimal but there are some schools that 
consistently score higher on all measures.

Page 88



May 2018 Page 7

The local evaluation will now be channelling its qualitative research to learn more 
about why this is the case and where there is evidence of best practice that can be 
shared.

 Ensure that all the parts fit

Having established multi-discipline teams that are delivering a range of exciting 
interventions and initiatives across schools and communities, has seen much 
success but has also created unexpected challenges. 

Disbanding the teams to their bases and expecting 3 to 4 different specialisms to 
come together and align roles was unrealistic. HeadStart managers have had to 
encourage a move towards teams practicing their specialisms in a joined-up way; 
schools, community and youth engagement.

This is true also of other elements of the programme including how evaluation fits 
into delivery, thinking about sustainability from the offset of a programme or 
commission and how HeadStart should or could operate alongside other agencies 
and services.

4.3. Governance / Leadership

We have learnt:

 Changes in governance and leadership can be positive

The Wolverhampton Partnership has gone through a series of changes to its 
governance and leadership in the last year. Significant change can lead to 
uncertainty and instability, but as a Local Authority that embraces agility and 
encourages positive change in challenging circumstances, this has allowed the 
Partnership to adapt and flex with minimal impact.

New skills and knowledge within the partnership, particularly in areas such as 
children’s services, early help and business and employment, has bought with it new 
networks, contacts and opportunities for partnership work with realistic sustainability 
goals.

Now embarking on our second governance review to implement a structure that 
better suits where we are in the programme lifecycle, our Partnership is confident 
this will strengthen its decision-making ability. 

 It’s ok if things don’t work

As a Local Authority, not different to many others, Wolverhampton has faced 
significant budget reductions over the past ten years. The concept of a ‘test and 
learn’ programme has been a regular challenge in helping partners, colleagues and 
other departments to understand the opportunity HeadStart presents.

Over the past year, the test and learn message has slowly been reinforced and 
progress has been made to encourage peers to embrace the opportunity to test new 
ways of working, to take measured risks and to accept that if a programme is 

Page 89



May 2018 Page 8

unsuccessful, it’s a good learning experience. This will gain pace as a new 
communications strategy is implemented throughout the programme.

4.4. Sustainability

We have leant:

 Give it time

Our sustainability planning has changed approach several times through the first 12 
to 18 months. Starting from a series of scoping workshops to developing a detailed 
strategy and more recently considering a framework for consultation. 

The Phase 3 bid had a clear vision for sustainability centred around traded services, 
system change and community empowerment. These will remain areas of focus 
moving forward. Having learnt from a year of delivery and combining this with the 
first of our local and national evaluation findings, the programme can now start to 
consider what are realistic sustainability goals and what some of the likely barriers 
will be.

We plan to proceed with a multi-stakeholder consultation that will result in co-
produced sustainability options that can be seriously considered and implemented 
during the remaining years of the programme. 

4.5. Engagement

We have learnt:

 Relationships are key and planning is everything

This is particularly pertinent when working with schools, although strong 
relationships throughout all elements of the programme are critical. It will be 
important in the next phase of delivery to ensure there is a consistent message to 
schools and to offer a delivery plan that is realistic. 

Managing expectations and helping people to understand their role in delivering 
against HeadStart outcomes will be a theme in the future as our team starts to step 
away from direct delivery and coordination.

The team are more aware than ever that building a relationship with a school, a 
young person, a family or an organisation takes time and is a foundation for trust. It 
is fundamental to successful delivery, and although changes in personnel can 
sometimes affect these relationships, a smooth transition from one to another can be 
achieved when the right handover, induction and values are shared.

4.6. KPIs – Milestones

Year two milestones have been partially achieved. Whilst some of our original 
forecasts experienced slippage, for example, opening of the community bases, 
through effective reporting and project management, the programme team had a 
good understanding of why and were able to reforecast with the Big Lottery Fund’s 
support.

Page 90



May 2018 Page 9

Milestones carried forward into year three include:

 Sustainability planning
 Development of empowerment and capacity building toolkits

Please see Appendix 1 (Annex E) year three milestones.

4.7. KPIs – Reach

Year two reach figures have been partially achieved. The only exception was 
Parents, Carers and Families. The programme was originally forecast to work with 
796 parents over two interventions; Digital Family Sessions and the Work with 
Families contract. 

Both interventions engaged with lower numbers than anticipated due to the following:

 The Work with Families contract went live at the end of the reporting year 
after an extended tender window in response to sector feedback. This limited 
the number of people that could be engaged to the Summer Programme.

 Digital Family Sessions run over an academic year not a financial year. Whilst 
this intervention has not yet achieved its original forecast, the interventions 
will run for a further three months and will continue to increase. It is also to be 
noted that parental engagement in activities is notoriously difficult.

 
Reach figures across the programme for year two:

Programme Area Projected Reach 
Figure year 2

Actual Reach 
Figure year 2 
RAG rated

Since 
Inception

Number of primary schools 
engaged

11 20 20

Number of secondary schools 
engaged

4 7 7

Number of other school settings 
engaged

3 4 4

Number of community-based 
organisations engaged

20 54 54

Number of statutory services 
engaged

N/A 9 9

Number of businesses engaged N/A 4 4
Total number of young people 
benefitting from Universal 
Support

1539 2383 2383

Parents, Carers and Families 
commissioning

796 *512 512

Number of professionals 
benefitting from HeadStart

120 *1157 1157

*Does not avoid double counting.

Page 91



May 2018 Page 10

Please see Appendix 2 (Annex F) updated reach figures

4.8. KPIs – Evaluation 

Year two Wellbeing Measurement Framework (WMF) returns were achieved. 
HeadStart Wolverhampton has been supporting both the national and local 
evaluation strategies. Both processes are very similar in approach and this has, at 
times, been a challenge to coordinate in schools and communities. 

Nationally, the Wolverhampton cohort is approximately 1800 young people, locally 
about 1600 young people. The quantitative study is by far the most logistically 
difficult to complete but despite this, our partnership achieved over 90% returns on 
timepoint one of the school survey.

Timepoint two is in progress with schools fully committed to achieving the same level 
of completion. They are also mindful, as are the programme team, that the Local 
Authority’s Health Related Behaviour Survey (HRBS) is also expected to be 
completed in year 8 at secondary level meaning a clash with the WMF. This is an 
additional pressure for the schools and may impact on returns. 

The programme team are working with the schools affected and colleagues in Public 
Health to coordinate delivery of both surveys and to provide support during sessions 
where possible.

4.9. KPIs – Spend

Year two spend is reporting £563,867 slippage into 2018-19. Mainly around:

 £107k – Centre of Excellence ‘The Lawnswood Partnership’
 £51k – reprofile of evaluation payments to University of Wolverhampton
 £62k – Emotional Mental Health and Wellbeing Service slippage to year three 

of contract 
 £156k general underspends to be reprofiled to 2018-19

Reprofiled budget as follows:

Sept 
2016 to 
March 
2017

April 2017 
to March 
2018

April 2018 
to March 
2019

April 2019 
to March 
2020

April 
2020 to 
March 
2021

April 
2021 to 
July 
2021

Total 
allocation

696,658 2,736,664 2,953,143 2,081,546 899,618 105,436 9,473,065

Please note the grant has increased from £9,469,750 to be £9,473,065. This is to 
demonstrate the £3,315 uplift in allocation agreed with Big Lottery Fund for the 
attendance of Wolverhampton representatives at the national conference held in 
London in January 2018. Please see Appendix 3 (Annex G) Budget.

2017-18 Outturn as follows:

Page 92



May 2018 Page 11

Year 3  
budgetFinance 

(£)
Total 
committed

Total 
received

Total 
spend to 
date (as re-

profiled)

Year 
3 
spend 
to 
date

Year 3 
forecast 
outturn

BLF 
(HeadStart) 
contribution

£9,473,065 £3,940,653 £3,433,322 £2,953,143 £0 £2,953,143

Programme 
Total £12,241,992 £4,237,780 £3,730,449 £3,451,843 £0 £3,451,843

Please see Appendix 4 Year End Financial Report.

5. Young people learning

Reflections from our HeadStart Ambassadors - ranging from age 17 to 25:

Young people have learnt:

“That HeadStart has given them the opportunity to mentor, educate and empower 
people younger than themselves”.  

“HeadStart has provided the chance to do more awareness-raising amongst young 
people, but there is still so much more that can be done to educate young people” 

“Older young people would like to do more across the city and perhaps deliver on 
behalf of HeadStart now that they have new skills”

“To truly be the voice of all young people, we need to get more involved in the 
delivery of programmes and interventions to see the impact on others”

“Volunteering opportunities are important if young people want to feel more part of 
their community”

“Where school didn’t, HeadStart has given young people the opportunity to be more 
ready for work, preparing them mentally and practically”

“That it is really important to co-produce new services and support with young people 
and hope that this is done with the new emotional wellbeing service that is being set 
up”

“Using humour is a good way to engage young people and help break the stigma of 
mental health”

“The professionals around young people need to be relatable, HeadStart staff are!” 

“Professionals around young people have a duty to open up opportunities to young 
people who wouldn’t normally have them”

“Giving young people new skills and not just access to things they enjoy is important” 

Page 93



May 2018 Page 12

“The feeling of success having worked on the Summer Programme”

“As a young person, it’s hard to describe to a stranger how you feel if you don’t 
understand how you feel yourself”

“Joining the dots between schools, the community and parents is important to 
support the mental health of young people”

6. Year 3 priorities

In year three HeadStart will:

 Develop a co-produced sustainability strategy and implementation plan based 
on evidence and learning

 Continue with our co-production approach increasing our efforts to involve 
young people in the design and delivery of the programme, and share best 
practice with other services aimed at young people

 Deliver agreed interventions to our second cohort of schools having learnt 
from cohort one

 Support our communities to take ownership of emotional health and wellbeing 
initiatives to continue building community resilience through ensuring a joined-
up approach

 Drive forward national and local evaluation so that we can continue to ‘test 
and learn’ the impact of our interventions

 Work with the Big Lottery Fund on understanding the roles and responsibilities 
around GDPR to ensure all parties are compliant with the new legislation

 Ensure new governance and leadership is robust

 Celebrate success, communicate more regularly with key stakeholders and be 
accepting of elements of the programme that do not work out as planned 

Page 94



This report is PUBLIC 
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Health and Wellbeing Board
11 July 2018

Report title Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing strategy 
for Wolverhampton

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Hazel Malcolm
Health and Wellbeing

Wards affected All wards

Accountable director John Denley, Director of Public Health

David Watts, Director for Adult Services

Steven Marshall, Director of Strategy and Transformation and 
Deputy Chief Operating Officer, NHS Wolverhampton Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG)

Originating service Public Health; Commissioning

Accountable employee(s) Lina Martino
Tel
Email

Sarah Fellows

Consultant in Public Health
07973 715 555 
Lina.Martino@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Mental Health Commissioning Manager 
NHS Wolverhampton CCG

Report to be/has been 
considered by

People Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board
Health & Wellbeing Board
NHS Wolverhampton CCG Governing 
Body

25 June 2018
3 July 2018
11 July 2018
July 2018

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

1. Review the Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton.

Page 95

Agenda Item No: 8

mailto:Lina.Martino@wolverhampton.gov.uk


This report is PUBLIC 
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Recommendations for noting:

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note:

1. The Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy is an overarching document that 
incorporates City of Wolverhampton Council (CWC) and NHS Wolverhampton CCG’s Joint 
Mental Health Commissioning Strategy for 2018-2019–2020-2021. It includes not just 
commissioned services to support people with mental health problems, but wider public 
services and workstreams to prevent mental ill health and promote population wellbeing.

1.0 Purpose

1.1 This report describes the aims and scope of the Joint Public Mental Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy for Wolverhampton, produced by City of Wolverhampton Council and NHS 
Wolverhampton CCG.

2.0 Background

2.1 Mental health is integral to overall health, and recognised as being fundamental to growth, 
development, learning and resilience. Accordingly, the social, physical and economic 
environments in which people are born, grow, live, work and age have important 
implications for mental health.

2.2 The cross-Government strategy No Health Without Mental Health (2011) set out ambitions 
for mental health to be given equal importance to physical health (‘parity of esteem’), and 
to become ‘everyone’s business’ – that is, for health services, local authorities, education, 
employers, third sector organisations and communities to work in partnership to address 
the causes and consequences of poor mental health and promote mental wellbeing in 
populations.  

2.3 The Mental Health Five Year Forward View (2016) emphasises the need for a shift towards 
prevention and better integration of care in order to improve outcomes and experiences for 
people with mental health problems and their carers and reduce health inequalities. This 
aligns with priorities outlined in the Wolverhampton Health & Wellbeing Board Strategy and 
NHS Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Operational Plan.   

3.0 National and local context

3.1 Half of all mental health problems emerge by age 14, rising to 75% by age 24. People with 
severe and prolonged mental illness die 15-20 years earlier on average than others – two 
thirds of these deaths are due to avoidable physical illness, including heart disease and 
cancer linked to smoking. At all ages traumatic experiences, poor housing or 
homelessness, being part of a marginalised group, or having multiple needs such as a 

Page 96



This report is PUBLIC 
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

learning disability or autism are all associated with increased risk of mental health problems 
and may also limit access to support.1 

3.2 In Wolverhampton:2
 66 people died by suicide between 2014 and 2016
 There were 19,815 adults with depression known to their GP (20162017), and 2,683 adults 

with severe mental illness (2015-2016)
 An estimated 3,906 children aged 5-16 had a diagnosable mental health disorder (2015)
 Just 50.9% of adult social care users and 25.2% of adult carers report having as much 

social contact as they would like (2016-2017)
 Among people in contact with secondary mental health services, only 27% live in stable 

and appropriate accommodation (2016-2017)

3.3 A recent report by the Mental Health Foundation (2017) found that that only 13% of people 
in England consider themselves to have good mental health. This highlights the importance 
of improving mental health and wellbeing at population level, beyond the prevention of 
diagnosable or definable conditions. 

4.0 Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy

4.1 While it is essential to provide high quality services for people experiencing mental health 
problems, and to ensure timely and equitable access to these services, it is equally 
important to prevent the onset of mental health problems and to support vulnerable people 
before referral to specialist services becomes necessary. 

4.2 However, it is also important that available support and pathways are clear to individuals 
and professionals, and that work is joined up across the wider system. This helps to avoid 
unnecessary duplication and allows the identification of any gaps or unmet need.

4.2 The Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy provides a high-level summary of 
current and planned workstreams across the CWC and CCG to promote population 
wellbeing and improve mental health. It follows a life course approach, covering all levels 
of support from universal prevention through to tier 5+ specialist services. This includes 
but is not limited to:

 Joint Mental Health Commissioning Strategy and Stakeholder Forum
 Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)
 Social, emotional and mental health needs in schools
 Suicide Prevention Stakeholder Forum and action plan
 Workplace wellbeing and mental health & work
 Dementia Strategy and Autism Strategy
 Reducing social isolation among carers

1 Source: Five Year Forward View For Mental Health - https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-
Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf 
2 Source: Public Health Profiles: Mental Health

Page 97

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf


This report is PUBLIC 
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

 Improving the built environment and access to green spaces

4.3 The aim is to not only meet the specific needs of different age groups, but also to reduce 
cumulative disadvantage associated with poor mental health and wellbeing and related 
risk factors. 

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 The Strategy brings together existing workstreams and strategies across the CWC and 
CCG to show links across the life course, and what provision and support there is at all 
levels. It includes commissioned services (by CWC and CCG) but also wider workstreams 
across Public Health and other departments. The new Joint Public Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy will therefore be delivered within the existing budgets of the CWC and 
the CCG. 
[MI/29062018/Z]

6.0 Legal implications

6.1 The CCG has statutory obligations to commission safe, effective services that deliver 
value for money in partnership with key stakeholders and in response to levels of need 
and service user and carer views. This is in keeping with the seven key principles of the 

           NHS Constitution (2015) and also with operational and planning guidance as laid out in 
the mandate to NHS England by the Department of Health.

6.2 The Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory board established under the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012.  It has a statutory duty to promote the integration of 
commissioning.  

6.3 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 led to the transfer of public health services to local 
authorities in order to strengthen links to the wider determinants of mental and physical 
health which encompass the approach taken in this strategy. 

6.4 The Mental Health Acts 1983 and 2007 and the Care Act 2014 are the main laws relating 
to assessment and meeting need of individuals with mental health needs.     
[TS/28062018/Q]

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 A reduction in health inequalities is an overarching aim of the Strategy. Equalities impact
assessments will be carried out as appropriate within the work programmes that make up 
the overarching Strategy. 

7.2 Commissioning mental health services that are mental health blue print compliant and are 
also compliant with NICE Clinical Guidance and Quality Standards will reduce health 
inequalities. Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) and Quality Impact Assessments (QIAs) 

Page 98



This report is PUBLIC 
NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

have been conducted as part of the Joint Mental Health Commissioning Strategy. These 
focus upon the requirements of the needs of protected groups and groups who require 
targeted engagement and interventions. CCGs are working with NHS England and 
colleagues in Public Health to utilise refreshed Right Care benchmarking to support the 
needs analysis and service specification development process and the further production 
of EIAs and QIAs.

8.0 Environmental implications

8.1 There are no environmental implications directly associated with this report.

9.0 Human resources implications

9.1 There are no human resources implications directly associated with this report.

10.0 Corporate Landlord implications

10.1 There are no Corporate Landlord implications associated with this report.

11.0 Schedule of background papers

11.1 Appendix 1 - Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton 2018 – 
2021 (draft)

11.2 Appendix 2 - Joint Mental Health Commissioning Strategy 2018-2019 – 2020-2021 (draft) 
link to full strategy [125 pages]: 
http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=178&MId=9230 

Page 99

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=178&MId=9230


This page is intentionally left blank



wolverhampton.gov.uk

City of Wolverhampton Council
NHS Wolverhampton CCG

Joint Public Mental Health and
Wellbeing Strategy 2018 – 2021

DRAFT

P
age 101



DRAFT

Contents

Foreword                                                                                                        3

Vision and values                                                                                            4

Key strategic and policy drivers                                                                       5

Local and national context                                                                                

Prevalence of diagnosable mental health problems across the life course                            6
Wellbeing                                                                                                           9
Creating the conditions for mental health and wellbeing                                                  9
Best start in life                                                                                                                        10
Housing                                                                                                                                   10
Community                                                                                                                              11
Schools                                                                                                                                    11
Employment                                                                                                                             12
Environment                                                                                                                             12
Physical health problems                                                                                                          13

Access to and experience of services                                                                                      14

A life course approach to population mental health and wellbeing                 15

Outcome measures                                                                                       18

P
age 102



DRAFT

Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton 3wolverhampton.gov.uk

Foreword

Mental health is integral to overall health, and recognised as being fundamental to growth, development, learning and
resilience. Accordingly the social, physical and economic environments in which people are born, grow, live, work and age
have important implications for mental health. The support needs of people experiencing mental health difficulties therefore
extend beyond health service provision and into wider public services. 

This Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton follows a life course approach, covering all tiers of
service provision and support for all ages. In addition, it sets out key programmes and strategies acting on the wider social,
environmental and economic determinants of health to create mentally healthy places and keep people well.

The aim is to not only meet the specific needs of different age groups, but also to reduce cumulative disadvantage
associated with poor mental health and wellbeing and related risk factors. 

The Strategy brings out key strategic and delivery themes across Council and CCG workstreams to articulate a cohesive,
population-based approach to promote wellbeing and improve mental health in the city. 

Foreword  

Councillor 
Hazel Malcolm
Cabinet Member for

Health & Wellbeing

City of Wolverhampton

Council

John Denley
Director of Public Health

City of Wolverhampton

Council

Helen Hibbs
Chief Officer

NHS Wolverhampton

CCG

P
age 103



DRAFT

4 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Vision and values

Our vision is for every resident in the City of Wolverhampton
to have the best mental health that they can at every stage
of their life. 

We will promote an approach that prevents and treats
mental health problems with the same drive, passion and
commitment as for physical health problems, embedding
mental health and wellbeing across the health, care and
wider system. This approach recognises the importance of
enabling everyone to feel good and function well throughout
their everyday lives.

This will be achieved through the following key objectives,
drawing upon the wealth of skills and expertise across the
Council, NHS and partner organisations:

• Focus on mental health promotion, mental illness
prevention and recovery throughout the life course

• Promote resilience in individuals, families and communities
through asset-based working and the wider social
determinants of health

• Deliver timely, person-centred, effective services that align
health and social care outcomes to provide integrated,
responsive services and care

• Improve people’s experiences of mental health and social
care services

• Reduce inequalities in mental health and wellbeing and in
access to care and support

• Challenge stigma and discrimination related to mental
health problems

Vision and values

P
age 104



DRAFT

Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton 5wolverhampton.gov.uk

Key strategic and policy drivers

Key strategic and policy drivers

• Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016)
emphasises the need for a shift towards prevention and
better integration of care in order to improve outcomes and
experiences for people with mental health problems and
their carers, and reduce health inequalities.

• Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health (2016)
advocates a prevention-focused approach to mental health
improvement in populations through evidence-based
planning and commissioning. It also acknowledges the
active role played by people with lived experience of mental
health problems.

• Care Act 2014 places statutory duties on Local Authorities
to promote wellbeing, ensuring personal dignity; physical
and mental health and emotional wellbeing; protection from
abuse and neglect; control by the individual over their day-
to-day life; participation in work, education, training or
recreation; social and economic wellbeing; domestic, family
and personal domains; suitability of the individual’s living
accommodation; and the individual’s contribution to society.

• No Health Without Mental Health: a cross-government
outcomes strategy (2011) set out ambitions for mental
health to be given equal priority to physical health (‘parity of
esteem’), and to become ‘everyone’s business’ – that is, for
health services, local authorities, education, employers, third
sector organisations and communities to work in partnership
to address the causes and consequences of poor mental
health and promote mental wellbeing in populations.

• Better Care Fund (BCF) is a programme spanning both
the NHS and local government which seeks to join-up
health and care services, so that people can manage their
own health and wellbeing, and live independently in their
communities for as long as possible.

• Transforming children and young people’s mental
health provision: a green paper (2017) sets out the
ambition that children and young people who need help for
their mental health are able to get it when they need it.

• Suicide Prevention Strategy for England (2012) sets
out plans for reducing suicide rates and supporting people
affected by suicide.

P
age 105



DRAFT

6 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Local and national context

Local and
national context

Mental health problems have
very high rates of prevalence,
estimated to affect around 
1 in 4 people every year. 
They are often of long
duration, even lifelong in
some cases and have
adverse effects on many
aspects of people’s lives. 

Nationally, poor mental health
is estimated to cost the
economy approximately
£105 billion per year,
including £34 billion on
dedicated mental health
support and services.  

Anxiety and depression
affect 10-15% of
women having a baby

50% of diagnosed
mental health
problems emerge
by age 14, and
75% by age 24

ADHD is diagnosed in
2-5% of teenagers in
the UK

Autistic spectrum
disorder occurs in
approximately 
1% of children
under the age of 18

1 in 10 children 
will be affected by
depression, anxiety 
or a conduct disorder
(aggression, destructive
behaviour, consistent
breaking of rules,
deceitful behaviour)

1 in 150 females and 
1 in 2000 males will
develop an eating
disorder such as
anorexia nervosa

In 2015 an estimated 3,906
children in Wolverhampton aged 
5-16 had a diagnosable mental
health disorder

In Wolverhampton in 2015/16, 
up to 510 women had mild to
moderate perinatal anxiety 
and/or depression

An estimated 105
women had severe
perinatal depression

1 NHS England internal analysis – Five Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016).
2 Sources: Public Health Profiles: Mental Health, Dementia & Neurology; Mental Health Foundation.

Prevalence of
diagnosable mental
health problems across
the life course 

Perinatal and early years

Childhood and adolescence

P
age 106



DRAFT

Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton 7wolverhampton.gov.uk

Local and national context

Anxiety disorders affect
16% of the population

At least 15% of 
the population 
will experience 
an episode of
depression

Bipolar disorder affects
up to 1% of the
population

1% of the population
will experience a
psychotic episode
during their lifetime

1% of the population
will have schizophrenia

1 in 5 older people living in
the community and 40% of
older people living in care
homes are affected by
depression 

Dementia risk doubles every
5 years after age 65: 
1 in 100 aged 60-69, 
1 in 25 aged 70-79, 
1 in 6 aged 80-89

In Wolverhampton in
2016/17 there were 19,815
adults with depression
known to their GP, and
2,780 people with severe
mental illness (all ages) 64 people died by suicide

in 2012-2014 - 57 of the
reported cases were in
men, with peak deaths
occurring in the ages 
30-34 and 50-54 (in line
with national trends)

In Wolverhampton in 2017
there were 2,253 people
aged 65+ with dementia
known to their GP

3 5 Year Forward View for Mental Health (2016)

Approximately 1 in 4 people in the UK will 
experience a mental health problem each year

Adults

Older age

P
age 107



DRAFT

8 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Local and national context

P
age 108



DRAFT

Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton 9wolverhampton.gov.uk

Local and national context

Wellbeing encompasses social, emotional and mental
wellbeing. It can be best summarised as feeling good and

functioning well.

A recent report by the Mental Health Foundation (2017)
found that that only 13% of people in England consider
themselves to have good mental health. This highlights the
importance of improving mental health and wellbeing at
population level, beyond the prevention of diagnosable or
definable conditions.

Poor mental health is both a cause and consequence of overall
health inequalities due to its associations with physical health,
employment, housing and lifestyle factors. People with severe
and prolonged mental illness die 15-20 years earlier on average
than others – two thirds of these deaths are due to avoidable
physical illness, including heart disease and cancer linked to
smoking. 

At all ages traumatic experiences, poor housing or

homelessness, being part of a marginalised group, or having
multiple needs such as a learning disability or autism are all
associated with increased risk of mental health problems, and
may also limit access to support.4

4 Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health (2016)

Creating the conditions for 
mental health and wellbeingWellbeingP

age 109



DRAFT

10 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Local and national context

• Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) describe childhood
trauma through abuse, neglect and difficulties in the home
environment. ACEs are linked to poorer health and social
outcomes, including smoking, substance use and
incarceration. 

• Children in care are 4 times more likely than their peers to
have a mental health difficulty, which may be exacerbated
with placement breakdown.

• Resilience factors such as feeling loved and having good
social support network can help protect against the effects
of childhood trauma.  

• We are developing ways to systematically capture
information on ACEs, and intervene early to reduce 
the occurrence and impact of ACEs and prevent
intergenerational problems as part of the Early Years

Strategy and Healthy Child Programme.

• Among people in contact with secondary mental health
services, only 27% in Wolverhampton live in stable and
appropriate accommodation (2016/17).

• This is lower than both the regional average (45%) and
national average (54%).

• We are actively working to improve the quality of rented
accommodation, and to reduce homelessness - working 
in partnership with mental health services – as part of the
Housing Strategy.

HousingBest start in life

P
age 110



DRAFT

Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton 11wolverhampton.gov.uk

Local and national context

• Just 50.9% of adult social care users and 25.2% of adult
carers in Wolverhampton report having as much social
contact as they would like (2016/17).

• We are developing a system to measure social isolation
locally, and mobilise the community to meet these needs
(e.g. through social prescribing).

• Young offenders are known to be a key group at increased
risk of mental health issues. Our Reducing Gangs & Youth
Violence Strategy will be incorporated into a wider
Exploitation Strategy in 2019.

• School ethos, bullying and teacher wellbeing all have an
influence on children’s mental health. An average classroom
of 30 pupils is likely to include 3 with a mental health
problem, 7 who are being bullied, and 6 who are 
self-harming.5

• The Social, Emotional & Mental Health (SEMH) Plan for
schools sets out actions for identifying and responding to
SEMH needs. This includes workforce development and
training, and off-site and on-site enhanced or alternative
provision for pupils with identified SEMH needs.

5 Lavis P (2015). Promoting children and young people’s emotional health and wellbeing: A whole school and college
approach. London: Public Health England.

SchoolsCommunityP
age 111



DRAFT

12 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Local and national context

• As of November 2017, there were 12,010 Employment
Support Allowance (ESA) claimants living in
Wolverhampton.

• It is estimated that approximately 5,525 of these are due 
to mental health problems.6

• We are strengthening pathways across health and
employment services to improve access to employment 
for people with mental health problems.

• Access to green spaces has a lasting positive effect on
mental wellbeing for all ages and socioeconomic groups.
However, these spaces are not equally distributed and are
not always safe or accessible within deprived areas.7

• We are working to improve access to green spaces for
wellbeing and physical activity through the Open Spaces

Strategy and Action Plan.

6 Data from 2016 identified 46% of ESA claimants cited mental illness as the reason for being unable to work. 
7 Better Mental Health For All: A Public Health Approach to Mental Health Improvement (2016). London: Faculty of Public Health and Mental Health Foundation.

EnvironmentEmployment

P
age 112



DRAFT

Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton 13wolverhampton.gov.uk

Local and national context

8 Naylor C et al (2012). Long-term conditions and mental health – The cost of co-morbidities. London: The King’s Fund & Centre for Mental Health.
9 Based on mid-year population estimate of 255,106 (ONS)

Physical and mental health are inextricably linked. Mental
wellbeing and resilience are protective factors for physical
health as they reduce the prevalence of risky behaviours
such as smoking, substance misuse and unhealthy eating,
which are often used as coping mechanisms in the absence
of other support. Conversely, people with cancer, diabetes,
asthma and high blood pressure are at greater risk of a
range of mental health problems such as depression,
anxiety and PTSD.

People with long term physical health conditions are more
likely to have poor mental health compared with the 
general population, indicating a need to ensure approaches

to improve mental wellbeing are integrated into physical
care pathways. 

• 30% of the UK population live with one or more long-term
health conditions. Of these, approximately 27% will also
have a mental health problem.8

• This means that approximately 20,664 people in
Wolverhampton with a long-term health condition also
have a mental health problem.9

• In Wolverhampton smoking prevalence in people with
severe mental illness is 46.5%, compared with 16.5% in the
general population. This is similar to the national average.

Physical health problemsP
age 113



DRAFT

14 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Local and national context

Mental Wellbeing in Wolverhampton – an assessment of

needs (2017) reported evidence from responses to a survey
of users about their experiences of mental health service
highlighted the following:

• Groups at higher risk of poor mental wellbeing -
unemployed, LGBTQ+, Homelessness, BAME groups,
refugee and migrants, students, ex-offenders, carers

• Key issues highlighted: isolation, access to support
groups, housing employment, financial stability, 
physical health

• Stigma: lack of understanding from front line services, 
lack of support for coming back into work.

There was concern around people wanting support but 
not meeting the threshold for accessing services, and
accessing difficulty in getting timely access to appropriate
services. The report also indicated a need to raise
awareness of where the public can get help, whether
signposts or more information on mental health issues. 

Access to and 
experience of services

P
age 114



DRAFT

Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton 15wolverhampton.gov.uk

A life course approach to population mental health and wellbeing

This Strategy places mental health care and support within
a broader Public Mental Health & Wellbeing framework,
taking into account activity across the wider system to
improve population wellbeing across the life course. This
includes initiatives across a regional or STP footprint as well
as local provision.

A life course approach to population 
mental health and wellbeing

P
age 115



16 City of Wolverhampton Council

H
ea
lth
 &
 c
ar
e 
sy
st
em

Major life changes 
& milestones

P
re
ve
nt
io
n

Families & early years (0-5)

Tier 5+
Specialist & Acute services 

Tier 4: 
Tertiary Mental Health Services

Tier 3: 
Secondary Community 
Mental Health Services 

Tier 2: 
Primary Care / Primary Care 
facing Services

Indicated (Tier 1)
For people with early
detectable signs of mental
health stress or distress;
targeting people at the
highest risk of mental
health problems

Selective / Early Help
For people in groups,
demographics or
communities with higher
prevalence of mental
health problems; targeting
individuals or subgroups of
the population based on
vulnerability and exposure
to adversity.

Universal
For everyone; targeting the
whole population, groups
or settings where there is
an opportunity to improve
mental health such as
schools or workplaces.

Strategic 
context

Acquiring 
language skills

Developing 
impulse control

Entering 
school

Learning to 
read & write

Developing 
social skills

Entering 
puberty

Forming friendships 
& relationships

Further/
higher education

Developing
independence

De
ve
lop
 a
 lo
ca
l P
re
ve
nt
ion
  C
on
co
rd
at

CAMHS Crisis and CAMHS Inpatient

CAMHS Inpatient 

        

Specialist Perinatal Team (BC&WB STP)

GPs/Health Advisers/Health Visitors

Special educational needs support if in nursery or school

Voluntary organisations – mental health specific and wider support

CAMHS: Core CAMHS – LAC, Inspire (LD), Eating Disorder service (14+), CAMHS Crisis

Develop an all age approach across the service model that incorporates the needs of young people under 18 years who require
transition to adult mental health services

Headstart, GPs/Health Visitors/School Nurses, Substance Misuse/ ‘The Way’ |  Base 25, Believe 2 Achieve, Strengthening Families, PRUs,
Counselling in schools, Educational Psychologists, Family Support Workers, EWO/SENCO, 10-12 Universal plus offer from Headstart, A&E,
PAU, Community Paediatrics, Family Nurse Partnership, Substance Misuse, COT (Disability), YOT/YOT Nurse/Worker, CAMHS link workers

(Headstart), Intensive Therapeutic Family Support (Barnado’s)
Emotional Health and Wellbeing Service (Children’s Society)

Headstart, GPs/Health Visitors/School Nurses, Substance Misuse/ ‘The Way’
Pastoral support in schools/Teachers/Education Welfare Officers (EWO)

Develop a Substance Misuse Strategy and resurrect the Substance Misuse Alliance      Suicide Prevention Forum led by CWC                                   

Healthy Child Programme 0-5: Improving the mental health & 
wellbeing of young children through promoting positive parenting 

and strong attachments
Developing ways to systematically capture information on ACEs, 
and intervene early to reduce the occurrence and impact of ACEs 

and prevent intergenerational problems

Actively working to reduce homelessness, working in partnership with mental health services  Syrian Vulnerabl                                          
Safer Homes scheme – home safety surveys and sup          

Healthy Child Programme 6-19: Health & wellbeing reviews

HeadStart (10-16 year olds – universal offer)

    
Developing the ‘Community Offer’ and asset-based approaches to promoting and supporting wellbeing in local communities, including asset mapping of community and voluntary sector support   |   Develop a Cit                                          

professionals, and employers   |    Embed public mental health across universal health improvement programmes and stra                          

Strengthening Families Hub |   Submit bid for funding to identify and support children of parents with alcohol dependence, in partnership with Commissioning, 
Children’s services and Strengthening Families team

Wolverhampton Social Hu                

Autism Strategy (CWC)  Shaping Futures – Changing Lives - People Directorate Commissioning Strategy 2018-2021 (CWC)   |   Open Spaces Strategy & Action Plan (CWC)   |   Housing Strategy (C                                 

Child & Adolescent Emotional Health & Wellbeing Refresh (NHS Wolverhampton CCG)  |  Early Help Strategy   |   Thresholds of Need and Support in Wolverhampton

Wolverhampton Suicide Prevent            

Violence Against Women & G          

Early Years Strategy (CWC) Social, Emotional & Mental Health Needs in Schools Plan (CWC) 
Reducing Gangs and Youth Violence Strategy(CWC) – to be replaced by wider Exploitation Strategy April 2019

Support young
people under
18 years who
require

transition to
adult mental
health services

Children & young people (6-19/24)

Children’s 
social
care

P
age 116



Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton 17

Dementia
Care
Pathway

Adults (25-64)

Entering work Leaving home Career 
development

Entering long-
term relationships Parenting Caring for a parent 

or relative Bereavement Retirement Long term health
conditions

Caring for 
a spouse

Coping with death 
of spouse or peers

Early Intervention in Psychosis (14-65)    

Specialist & acute inpatient services (BCPFT)
Adult Social Care Planned provision (incorporating Residential & Nursing, Very Sheltered (24 hour), Sheltered, Shared Lives (Placements with families), 

Supported Living, Housing Related Support and Prevention)
Wolverhampton Complex Needs Mental Health Service (housing support – Midland Heart)

  Deliver the Better Care Fund Planned Mental Health Care Pathway

            

                    
     

Rethink Mental Illness  |  Wolverhampton Healthy Minds IAPT Service (BCPFT)
Wellbeing service (nurse led – BCPFT) |  Wolverhampton Substance Misuse Service

Recovery Near You

                 
               

              
     
      

Develop Primary Care mental health pathways

       
      

                      and Samaritans: Continue to develop action plan; Work with Coroner to develop stronger mechanisms for surveillance of suicide and self-harm   Establish joined-up pathways for people with coexisting mental health problems and substance misuse

Thrive Into Work programme (WMCA) and Recovery College Partnership: Working with City employers and the DWP to improve 
access to employment for those with mental health problems and prevent loss of employment due to MH problems

Mind At Work – Supporting unemployed Wolverhampton residents to prevent mental health problems and manage early signs

              e Person Resettlement Programme   |  No Recourse to Public Funds policy and protocols   Development of Modern Slavery Action Plan                  
        port for victims of domestic violence by Neighbourhood Safety Coordinators Optimising systems to prevent, recognise and respond to financial exploitation

Reducing social isolation and loneliness
Workplace Wellbeing – Thrive @ Work
Mental Health First Aid training

CWC to develop action plan for the Time to Change Employer Pledge

       

      

Reducing social isolation among carers
                               ty-wide evaluation plan to monitor and assess the impact of the Strategy on population mental health and wellbeing   |   Develop communications plan to increase awareness of mental health and wellbeing among City residents, front line health and care

                   ategies, including MECC   |  Consider the mental health and wellbeing impacts of local policy and practice relating to employment, housing, planning and licensing

                        
     

Deliver targeted interventions to support the needs of marginalised and/or seldom heard groups, including specific actions to reduce the numbers of BAME people detailed under
the Mental Health Act

  ub (Starfish Health & Wellbeing): Includes Asian Ladies Support service, with plans to restart LGBTQ+ group

                                  CWC)   |   Transforming Care Together: Birmingham Community Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (BCHC), Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (BCPFT), and Dudley and Walsall Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust (DWMH)

                            Mental Health Commissioning Strategy 2018/19 – 2020/21 (NHS Wolverhampton CCG)

  ion Strategy 2016-2020 (CWC)  |   Wolverhampton Crisis Care Concordat

    Girls Strategy (CWC) |   Reducing Reoffending Strategy (CWC)
          

               Dementia Strategy (CWC & NHS Wolverhampton CCG)

Older people (65+)

Support people over 65 years who require 
transition to or access/entry to older adult 

mental health services  

P
age 117



DRAFT
Wider determinants
Reduce the number of 16-18 year olds not in employment,
education or training

Increase use of green spaces for physical activity

Increase self-rated population wellbeing scores

Vulnerable groups
Increase access to employment for people with mental
health problems

Increase numbers of people with mental illness and/or
disability in settled accommodation 

Reduce episodes of violent crime

Reduce the number of first time entrants to the youth
justice system

Increase the wellbeing of carers

Service activity
Increase rates of completed treatment and recovery,
including drug and alcohol treatment

Reduce inequalities in access to treatment and support

Reduce emergency admissions due to mental health
problems, including substance misuse

Reduce in-year bed days for mental health

Health and care outcomes
Reduce the incidence and prevalence of mental health
problems, and inequalities in the population

Reduce inequalities in physical health outcomes between
people with mental health problems and the general
population

Reduce the number of suicides

18 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Outcome measures

Outcome measures

An overarching evaluation and monitoring framework will be developed as part of this Strategy. 
This will include indicators relating to wider determinants, vulnerable groups, service activity and outcomes.

P
age 118



DRAFT

P
age 119



W
CC

 1
70
8 
 0
6/
18

City of Wolverhampton Council, Civic Centre, St. Peter’s Square,
Wolverhampton  WV1 1SH

You can get this information in large print, braille, 
audio or in another language by calling 01902 551155

WolverhamptonToday Wolverhampton_Today

wolverhampton.gov.uk   01902 551155
@WolvesCouncil

P
age 120



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Health and Wellbeing Board
11 July 2018

Report title Overview of Primary Care Strategy 

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Hazel Malcolm
Health and Wellbeing

Wards affected All wards

Accountable director Steven Marshall, Director of Strategy and Transformation 
Wolverhampton CCG

Accountable employee Sarah Southall  Head of Primary Care, 
 NHS Wolverhampton 
 Clinical Commissioning Group

Recommendation for action or decision:

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

1. Consider the content of this report and note the assurance that it affords, raising queries 
should there be any.

Recommendations for noting: 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note:

1. That the Primary Care Strategy is underpinned by an extensive programme of work that was 
launched in the summer of 2016. This report provides an overview of the progress made 
since the launch commenced. 

Page 121

Agenda Item No: 10



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose
1.1 An overview of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) Primary Care Strategy has 

been requested by the board. The report demonstrates the extent of progression that has 
taken place since implementation commenced in summer 2016. 

2.0 Background
2.1 The strategy defines the CCGs vision, aims and planned overarching outcomes expected 

from implementation over a 5 year period.   The programme of work comprises of 6 key 
priority areas:-

 General Practice as providers of community based care
 General Practice as commissioners of community based care 
 Workforce including the response to the General Practice Five Year Forward View 

(GPFV)
 Procurement and contracting models for services commissioned, particularly 

community services
 Estate focussing on the suitability of premises and facilities available to patients
 Information Technology infrastructure as a critical factor in improving efficiency and 

patient safety

There are individual work programmes for each of the above areas, that meet at no 
longer than 2 month intervals and report to the review board. The progress against target 
milestones for each of their objectives are reviewed.

The General Practice Forward View (GPFV), published in 2016, firmly places General 
Practice at the heart of the care provided by the NHS, coupled with the need to invest in 
order to secure the longer term sustainability of the NHS.

This GP5YFV programme of work compliments the Primary Care Strategy. There are 
more than 90 recommendations made in the GPFV, comprising 5 priority areas which 
pledge:-

 Investment - to reverse historic underinvestment in general practice with real terms 
funding increasing by eight percent in the last three years. By 2021, an extra £2.4 
billion will go into general practice each year

 Workforce - There will be at least 10,000 more staff working in general practice by 
2020-21 - 5,000 more doctors and 5,000 other staff like clinical pharmacists, nurses, 
and physicians’ associates

 Workload – of the biggest challenges facing general practice is the workload placed 
on staff and practices. We are supporting practices to reduce and better manage their 
workload

 Infrastructure - Investing in improving GP buildings and technology as well as a range 
of other support. This is designed to improve services for patients and enable a wider 
range of health services closer to where they live

Page 122

https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/gpfv/investment/


[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 Care Redesign - are supporting practices to strengthen and redesign general 
practice, including delivering extended access in primary care and to find new ways of 
working through training and development

Work has begun in response to these identified priorities through close allegiance with 
Wolverhampton member practices and NHS England. 

3.0 Progress
3.1 The Primary Care Strategy Programme of Work assurance was considered by the CCG 

at its Governing Body in April 2018. Headline assurance was provided for each 
programme of work. This can be found in appendix 1.

3.2 The GPFV work programme is reaching mid-point in its delivery trajectory and progress 
to date was reported as follows in April 2018:-

Chapter Not 
Started

Achieved 
and Closed In Progress Overdue Total 

Projects

0 6 1 0 71 Investment      
2 Workforce 9 3 15 0 27

     
3 Workload 4 6 15 0 25
      
4 Infra-

structure 6 6 9 0 21

5 Care 
Redesign 1 0 4 0 5

Total(s) 20 21 44 0 85

The detail that sits behind the programme is available on request 

3.3 Additionally, a series of other service development areas have been considered at the 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee recently, in accordance with the CCGs 
responsibilities as a fully delegated CCG:
 
 Special Access Service (formerly Zero Tolerance) Business Case, Policy and Service 

Specification
 QOF+ Scheme 2018 -19 Update 
 Out of Area Patient Service Specification
 Learning Disabilities Health Checks Service Specification
 Minor Surgery Service Specification

Funding for each of the above was confirmed in May with the exception of Learning 
Disabilities Health Checks and Minor Surgery as these require service improvement 
rather than a funding decision.  

Page 123



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4.0 Financial implications
4.1 Finance required to underpin delivery of both programmes is sourced through both 

national allocations (i.e. online consultations, care navigation and improving access) as 
well as local investment by the CCG. CCG direct investment makes up a large proportion 
of the application of funds required. 

5.0 Equalities implications
5.1 The CCG has in place a relevant policy and governance arrangements to ensure that 

suitable and sufficient equality analysis is undertaken for individual projects, these are 
available upon request.  

6.0 Schedule of background papers
 CCG Primary Care Strategy 2016
 General Practice Five Year Forward View 2016
 Primary Care Strategy Programme of Work 2018-19
 General Practice Forward View Programme of Work 2018-19

Page 124



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Appendix 1 
Primary Care Strategy Implementation Update

Practices as Providers Task and Finish Group
Progress made in the last three months Next steps for the next three months
All practices are aligned to their preferred 
model of care, there are 4 groups:-
Primary Care Home 1 c72k patients
Primary Care Home 2 c67k patients
Medical Chambers c96k patients
Vertical Integration c52k patients 
(see appendix 1)

Back office functions review completed. 
Groups have identified which areas they wish 
to progress by consolidating arrangements 
including subscriptions and other non-clinical 
support services.

The Home Visiting service pilot project 
business case and service specification have 
been approved at Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee.

2018/19 Improving Access has been approved 
and implementation commenced at group level 
30 minutes per 1,000 patients by September 
2018. 

Transformation Fund Service Specification has 
been developed with approval from PC 
Commissioning committee.  Delivery plans are 
currently being finalised for consideration in 
May 2018.

The QOF+ Scheme 2018-19 has been 
finalised and shared for consideration with a 
range of forums.  Feedback captured and final 
changes made.  Approval is anticipated in 
May, implementation will take place thereafter. 

A local improvement plan for the completion of 
Learning Disabilities Health checks has been 
developed and will be monitored by the Task 
and Finish Group going forward.   

Practice groups/clinical networks meet at 
monthly intervals and also each lead meets 
with the CCGs Clinical Chair on a monthly 
basis to ensure as far as possible that the 
same outcomes are being achieved.

Implement changes at practice/group level, 
review benefits and effectiveness at group 
meetings. 

Launch the Home Visiting Pilot in 
partnership with Primary Care and Royal 
Wolverhampton Trust, recruitment 
underway. 

Monitor and advertise opening hours in 
access hubs in line with new national 
standards. 

Introduce wider service provision at hubs 
including health checks, immunisations, 
wound care, minor surgery, diabetes 
management. 
Scope a series of service redesign projects 
that have been suggested by GP colleagues 
Foot Health, Audiology (self-referral) 
referrals (nursing homes).

Launch QOF+ 2018-19 Scheme across all 
practice groups focussing on prevention of ill 
health i.e. diabetes, alcohol, obesity.

Implement improvement plan to ensure 
trajectory is achieved for patients requiring 
health checks. 

Page 125



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Primary InReach Service review has 
commenced.  Working group formed 
(Enhanced Health in Care Homes 
Framework).

Primary Care Counselling contract has been 
awarded with Relate (3 year contract).

Frailty Pilot continues with quality 
improvement and financial savings identified 
evaluation due to commence shortly. 

Develop revised service specification for an 
enhanced model of primary care support for 
Care Homes.

Contract review meeting will be held to 
review referral activity and service delivery.

Evaluation of the Frailty Clinic pilot project 
and make recommendations for future roll 
out/further development.

Primary Care as Commissioners
Targeted Peer Review service specification 
has been approved and all practice groups 
have a forward programme of Peer Review 
meetings in place for 2018 - 19.   

Scoping paper presented to Programme Board 
to increase utilisation of Choose and Book 
Advice and Guidance.  A practice training 
workshop took place in April including a 
refresher on Advice and Guidance.   A 
business case will be prepared for June.

The Mental Health Primary Care Steering 
Group are also scoping a potential service 
development for Advice and Guidance with 
BCPFT.

Practice level dashboard(s) continue to be 
developed capturing a range of sources of 
data confirm activity/performance i.e. QOF, 
commissioned services etc.   

Workshop held with stakeholders regarding 
Multi-Disciplinary Team Meetings, design 
opportunities identified and will be used to 
inform the content of a final draft service 
specification that enables structured MDT 
Meetings to be introduced.  

Discussions with the provider of Sound Doctor 
(self-help video/s) have taken place with a 
view to materials being available in languages 
other than English and 
utilisation/effectiveness.

To monitor Targeted Peer Review activity on 
a monthly basis identifying learning / actions 
from each meeting.  Findings will continue to 
be reviewed by clinical leaders. 

Implement revised approach to use of 
Advice and Guidance and regularly report on 
practice/speciality level activity.

Develop a detailed proposal for Advice and 
Guidance in Mental Health and proposed 
implementation plan. 

Review the current practice level dashboard 
with practices and have received feedback 
on how the data can be used at practice/ 
group level.

Finalised service specification for GP input 
into MDT Meetings based on outcomes from 
design workshop with partners.

Utilisation data for Sound Doctor and 
availability of materials in other languages. 

Page 126



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Workforce 
Primary Care Strategy prepared, feedback 
obtained leading to GB approval April 2018
International GP Recruitment Application 
submitted February 2018

CCT Fellowship Application submitted April 
2018

Training and development programme for 
Care Navigation, Practice Managers, HCAs
Primary Care Webpage developed case 
studies (new roles, PPG Chair etc), videos and 
other content prepared, vacancy page – linked 
to Royal College of General Practitioners 
website for advertising. 

Communications / reaching out / advertising 
via Social media i.e. LinkedIn page, Twitter 
introduced, presence at recruitment fairs i.e. 
Wolverhampton University also exploring 
RCGP and Birmingham University etc, 
exhibition materials also prepared and in place 

Suite of job descriptions for primary care 
library to aid practices in recruiting to primary 
care roles. 

Community Education Provider Network 
(CEPN) funding extended by HEE beyond 
contract end date (8+4 months) Nurse 
Facilitator support from Dudley also confirmed. 

Workforce dashboard figures collated for GPs, 
Nursing, CP, Admin roles (NHS Digital)

Secured £10k non-recurring funding from 
Health Education England towards support in 
place for workforce planning. 

Implementation of Workforce Strategy 
implementation of initiatives pertaining to the 
age profile 
       - channel investment 
       - grow and develop the workforce 
        - streamline the workload 
        - improve infrastructure 
        - and support practices to redesign their 
         services to patients 

Next steps following feedback from NHSE 
i.e. IGPR and CCT Fellowships

MECC Resources due to be distributed to 
practices 

Ongoing promotion of general practice via 
social media i.e. Linked In page and joint 
working with Dementia Action Alliance. 

Ensure practices access support from CCG 
when vacancies arise i.e. job descriptions, 
advertising etc. 

Review contracting arrangements with 
CEPN for 2018-19 ensuring Health 
Education West Midlands reprocurement of 
services is adequately represented. 

Review workforce figures and training data 
at task and finish group supporting practices 
to address gaps in provision.
Provide feedback on outcomes of 
investment from workforce planning funding.

Survey of primary care staff who have 
attended training 2017-18 due to conclude 
(May 2018) and analysis report will be 
prepared (June WTFG).
Mental Health Therapists – improve the 
interface between MH and PC

Strengthen links with STP Local Workforce 
Delivery Board (LWAB) and associated sub 
groups.

Page 127



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Focus on interdependencies with Contracting 
TFG and financial investment requirements to 
ensure we are working towards a sustainable 
primary care
Commence delivery of 2018-19 work 
programme and monitor activity via critical 
path. 

Contracting Task and Finish Group
Primary Care Contracting Strategy is currently 
being developed by the Task and Finish 
Group.

The Primary Care Advice, Support and 
Transformation support will continue to be 
provided by NHS England in addition to 
existing resource within the CCG.

NHS England will continue to commission 
Direct Enhanced Services in 2018-2019.

Risk Gain share approaches across the Black 
Country have been considered by the Task 
and Finish Group.

Priorities for 2018-19 agreed and defined in 
new work programme.

Meeting schedule in place and Terms of 
Reference to be updated. 

Workshop on Primary Care Contracting, 
commissioning and finance inter-
dependencies will be held to define where 
work programmes overlap/influence 
delivery.

Launch 2018-19 programme of work and 
review risks to reflect the revised 
priorities/planning milestones.

Estates Task and Finish Group
Void space targets have been met. On-going 
programme should reduce this by £100k in 
2018-19

Newbridge and East Park have now met the 
ETTF criteria. They are now awaiting sign off 
from NHSE and CCG so that their respective 
developments can proceed

Request that NHSPS can move forward with 
developments on Heads of Terms 
Work with other cohort 1 schemes to finalise 
sign off so that they can start building work
Complete STP workbook to add schemes to 
possible future developments

Page 128



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

IT Task and Finish Group
Shared Care Record - Funding from NHS 
England approved and quote received from 
Graphnet to continue development of the 
solution.

The migration planning/preparation continues 
in line with the CCGs programme, next 
system go live scheduled for 23 May 2018.

Project Manager to deliver E-Consultations is 
now in post and has commenced 
development of project documentation to 
deliver online triage and video consultation 
within practices identified to participate in the 
pilot.

A schedule has been developed for 
facilitators to visit practices during March and 
April 2018 to encourage the uptake of patient 
online.

Text Messaging solution – Two-way texting 
has been rolled out to almost all practices, 
remaining sites will go live shortly. 

GP appointment access utilisation tool: Tool 
to be deployed centrally by NHS England.  
E-RS Workshop held for all practices, well 
attended.

Joint working with Sound Doctor to 
review utilisation and effectiveness i.e. 

 
E-Consultation Solutions - Agree 
deployment dates with stakeholders to 
enable trial to commence. 
E-RS - new 2ww implementation date to 
be confirmed, list for PSO exclusions, 
continued support for practices.

Text Messaging solution – complete 
installation/roll out to final sites and 
ensure that all training has taken place. 

GP appointment access utilisation tool 
to be deployed centrally by NHS 
England.

Page 129



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]
Appendix 2
Practice Groups (Clinical Networks)

P
age 130



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 Recommendations for noting:

1. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note progress made towards the delivery 
of the Better Care Fund.

Health and Wellbeing Board
11 July 2018

Report title Better Care Fund (BCF) Update Report

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Cllr Roger Lawrence
Leader of the Council

Key decision Yes

In forward plan Yes

Wards affected All wards

Accountable director David Watts, Director of Adult Services
(City of Wolverhampton Council)

Steven Marshall, Transformation and Strategy Director
(Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group)

Originating service People

Accountable employee(s) Sarah Smith 

Tel
Email  

 Head of Strategic Commissioning - People
City of Wolverhampton Council
01902 555318
Sarah.Smith@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

Report has been considered 
by

Commissioning Management Team
People Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board

4 June 2018
11 June 2018
26 June 2018

Page 133

Agenda Item No: 11



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2.0 Purpose

2.1 To advise the Health and Wellbeing Board on the progress made towards the delivery of 
the Better Care Fund and Improved Better Care Fund.

3.0 Overview

3.1 Better Care Fund is a programme spanning both the NHS and local government which 
seeks to join up health and care services so that people can manage their own health 
and wellbeing and live independently in their communities for as long as possible.

4.0 Background and context

4.1 Wolverhampton continues to work closely in partnership towards the successful delivery 
of the Better Care Fund Plan and vision for integration in the City. 

4.2 Robust partnership governance arrangements continue and keep the plan on track and 
an ethos of working together to tackle the on-going challenges and complexity that this 
work presents strategically and operationally on a daily basis.

4.3 National Performance Metrics are reported in the following areas:
 Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC)
 Non-elective admissions
 Admissions to residential and care homes
 Effectiveness of reablement

5.0 Performance against metrics

5.1 Wolverhampton improved and exceeded NHSE expectations for 2017-2018. The overall 
reduction between December 2016 and the latest DToC figures published for March 
2018 show a reduction of 53% for Wolverhampton residents and 31.3% for Royal 
Wolverhampton Trust.  In comparison, the national reduction is 20.9%. February’s DToC 
daily delays rate (per 100,000 population) saw the City’s position move up to 43rd out of 
the 151 Local Authorities included in the published data. 

Delayed Transfers of Care (December 2016 - March 2018)

Page 134



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5.2 The delivery of the BCF Programme including the development of admission avoidance, 
redesign of community services, additional reablement services and step-up beds have 
contributed positively to the reduction of Non-Elective Admissions, as shown below.

 5.3 Wolverhampton also achieved a reduction of 1,593 Non-Elective Admissions (6.3%) 
against the same period in 2016-2017 as confirmed by the latest Monthly Activity Reports 
(MAR) published for March 2018.

Non-Elective Admissions (April 2015 - March 2018)

5.4 The performance target for permanent admissions to residential and nursing care has 
been set at 260 (597.2 per 100,000 population aged 65+) for 2017-2018 and 2018-2019. 
This is between 21 and 22 per month. A total of 281 placements were made during 2017-
2018 (23.40 per month) and although slightly above target this represented a significant 
reduction of 104 admissions (27%) on the total figure for 2016-2017 of 385. 

Permanent Admissions into Nursing / Residential Care (April 2016 - March 2018)

5.5 The published target in the plan for the proportion of older people (65 and over) who 
were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation 
services is 85.7% and carries forward into the current financial year.

Page 135



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

6.0 Progress against plan

6.1 Success can be celebrated across the programme as health and social care agencies in 
Wolverhampton continue to work closely in partnership to minimise delayed transfers of 
care. 

6.2 Wolverhampton continues to implement the High Impact Change Model for Managing 
Transfers of Care (which includes the Discharge to Assess process) for Wolverhampton 
patients admitted to the Royal Wolverhampton Trust and Black Country Partnership 
Foundation Trust. 

6.3 Significant progress has been made around the further integration of health and social 
care data. Using Fibonacci software front line professionals involved in the direct care of 
individuals can now access key health, social care and mental health data (using the 
NHS number). A pilot providing GP access has recently gone live.  

6.4 Partners have also reached agreement to co-locate health and social care staff operating 
in the North East locality at the Science Park by the end of the calendar year. Options for  
longer-term hub solutions across the city are being developed. 

6.5 The community Rapid Intervention Team has won a prestigious nursing award for their 
successs in reducing A&E attendances. The service won the Burdett Nursing 'Who 
Cares, Wins Award’ for their success in caring for acutely unwell patients at home, 
preventing hospital admissions. The service has improved patient choice, control and 
quality of life and sustained avoidance rates at 90%.

6.6 Developing integration with other community services has progressed, including housing 
services, this has helped to facilitate discharges and has resulted in improved living 
conditions for some individuals and enabled better management of their health 
conditions.   In addition, an integrated piece of work to target specific cohorts who are at 
risk of falls has been identified with housing.

6.7 Wolverhampton celebrated and demonstrated its progress with the wider Better Care 
community by presenting at the February 2018 Regional Integration Event in Birmingham 
which sparked wider interest and a desire by the Better Care Team to visit the Council’s 
programme and see the work in practice.

6.8 A draft mental health strategy has been produced. The need for resilient individuals, 
families and communities is placed at the heart of the strategy. The mental health 
stakeholder forum is being relaunched at the end of June 2018 and will promote better 
co-production of the final strategy.  Discussions are ongoing for Approved Mental Health 
Professionals to co-locate with the Black Country Partnership Foundation Trust.

 
6.9 The City of Wolverhampton has been awarded Dementia Friendly Community status to 

December 2018 by the Alzheimer’s Society. The Wolverhampton Dementia Action 
Alliance, supported by the City of Wolverhampton Council,  has successfully brought 
together dozens of local organisations that want to become more dementia friendly, 
including retailers, businesses, the emergency services, religious groups, and education 
providers. Dementia Action Week took place between 21–27 May and over 15 separate 

Page 136



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

activities were planned over the week. A flagship information event took place on 22 May 
attracting over 65 people followed by a grand Dementia Friends session held at the 
Grand Theatre. At this session 120 people became Dementia Friends with BBC WM in 
attendance and live interviews took place with Councillor Sandra Samuels OBE and 
carers. Arrangements are also in place to develop the dementia strategy for the City of 
Wolverhampton and the draft will be shared later in the year.  The intention is to retain 
the status through self-assessment each year and the Better Care Programme will be a 
vehicle to support this.

7.0 Improved Better Care Fund

7.1 The iBCF plan exists of five main programmes:
 Home First – Discharge to Assess Plus Home First – Discharge to Assess Plus
 Home First – Reablement
 Demand Management
 Minimum Adult Social Care Funding Level / Stabilisation of the Social Care Market
 Increasing Choice and Control for People

7.2 A number of additional schemes have been successfully rolled out and have contributed 
to improved health and social care outcomes for Wolverhampton's population and 
include: 

 Six reablement step-down flats at Showell Court Extra Care Scheme
 Rapid response service 
 Admission avoidance/step-down service 
 Community reablement service (additional capacity) 

7.3 The additional schemes are currently being evaluated and this will inform decisions  
regarding the continuation or expansion of those schemes, or commissioning of 
alternative schemes. 

8.0 Financial implications

8.1 The pooled revenue budget for 2017-2018 totalled £66.8 million, of which £29.3 million 
was a contribution from Council resources and £37.5 million from the CCG.  The 
Council’s contribution included the improved Better Care Fund and the additional Adult 
Social Care monies announced in the Spring budget of which totalled £7.6 million. It 
should be noted that the fund included £6.5 million representing the NHS transfer to 
Social Care (S256).  In addition to the revenue budget the fund included a capital grant of 
£2.7 million (Disabled Facilities Grant).

8.2 The Section 75 agreement details the risk sharing arrangements for both organisations 
for any over / under spend within the pooled fund.   The risk sharing arrangements in 
relation to the iBCF monies is held 100% by the Council.

Page 137



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

8.3 The reported overspend on the revenue pooled budget at year-end was £419,000.  
Based on the agreed risk share Wolverhampton CCG was responsible for £226,000 and 
the City of Wolverhampton Council £193,000. 
[MI/13062018/N]

9.0 Legal implications

9.1 Cabinet Members for Adults, Public Health and Wellbeing and Resources in consultation 
with the Strategic Director, People and Director of Finance recently agreed to the final 
terms of the Better Care Fund Section 75 Agreement and authorised the Solicitor of the 
Council to complete the agreement along with any necessary ancillary agreements 
arising from the main agreement.

9.2 A Section 75 agreement is in place for the delivery of the BCF plan 2017-2018.
[RB/13062018/F]

10.0 Equalities implications

10.1 Each individual project within the workstreams has identified equality implications, and a
full equality impact analysis has been carried at work stream level.

11.0 Environmental implications

11.1 Each individual project within the workstreams will identify environmental implications,
such as the need to review estates for the co-location of teams and services.

12.0 Human resources (HR) implications

12.1 Each individual project within the workstreams will identify HR implications. HR
departments from both Local Authority and Acute Providers are already engaged in
discussions regarding potential HR issues such as integrated working and change of
base for Employees.

13.0 Corporate Landlord implications

13.1 Corporate Landlord (Estates Valuation and Disposals) meets regularly with the Task and
Finish Team and is working with the team to assist and evaluate if any of the assets 
within the existing NHS and Council Estate are suitable for reuse to support the BCF 
proposals. The BCF programme has an Estates Task and Finish Group in place to 
consider accommodation options on a city-wide basis.

14.0 Schedule of background papers

Better Care Fund Quarter 4 Submission 20 April 2018 
Papers available on modern.gov as presented at following meetings:

People Leadership Team 9 April 2018
Strategic Executive Board 17 April 2018
Leaders Brief 23 April 2018

Page 138



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Health and Wellbeing Board
11 July 2018

Report title Black Country Transforming Care Partnership

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Hazel Malcolm
Health and Wellbeing

Wards affected All wards

Accountable officer Dr Helen Hibbs, Chief Officer Wolverhampton CCG

Accountable employee Steven Marshall Director of Strategy and Transformation

NHS Wolverhampton 

Clinical Commissioning Group

Recommendation for action or decision:

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

1. Consider and note the Black Country model for the Transforming Care Partnership.

Page 139

Agenda Item No: 12



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of the work that is ongoing across the Black 
Country TCP.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Black Country Transforming Care Partnership (TCP) was established in April 2016 to 
transform health and care services for people with learning disabilities and/or autism. The 
programme aims to reduce the number of people with learning disabilities and/or autism 
residing in hospital so that more people can live in the community, with the right support, 
close to their home.

The partnership is made up of:
• Dudley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
• Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
• Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG
• Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
• Walsall CCG
• Walsall Council
• Wolverhampton CCG
• City of Wolverhampton Council
• Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

3.0 Progress, options, discussion, etc.

3.1 The Wolverhampton area moved to a new model of delivery for patients living with learning 
disability in 2016.

Following a consultation process assessment and treatment beds at Pond Lane were 
closed and resource was moved to commission a new intensive support team to assist 
people to remain in a community setting.

The Wolverhampton model is now being commissioned across the Black Country TCP, 
details of this are within the attached presentation. 

Page 140



Black Country Transforming 

Care Partnership
Strengthening community services for people with learning 

disabilities and/or autism 

P
age 141



Transforming Care – homes not hospitals

The Black Country Transforming Care 

Partnership (TCP) was established in April 2016 

to transform health and care services for people 

with learning disabilities and/or autism. The 

programme aims to reduce the number of people 

with learning disabilities and/or autism residing in 

hospital so that more people can live in the 

community, with the right support, close to their 

home.

The partnership is made up of:

• Dudley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)

• Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council

• Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG

• Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council

• Walsall CCG

• Walsall Council

• Wolverhampton CCG

• City of Wolverhampton Council

• Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

P
age 142



Case for change – Winterbourne View Hospital

• 2011 BBC Panorama investigation exposes the physical and psychological abuse suffered by 

people with learning disabilities at Winterbourne View Hospital, South Gloucestershire.

• A clinical psychologist who reviewed the footage described the abuse as “torture”

• Hospital closed - 11 staff members sentenced for criminal acts - six imprisoned.

• Damning verdict of the serious case review, calls for hospital placements for people with learning 

disabilities and autism to be radically reduced and subject to greater levels of scrutiny.

• Programme of action published, highlighting that people who are kept inappropriately in hospital 

should be transferred to community-based care.

• NHS England publishes a national plan in 2015 - ‘Building The Right Support’ to drive system-

wide change and put in place new models of care by March 2019.

The Black Country TCP is now working with people with learning disabilities and autism, 

their families and carers to agree and deliver local plans for the programme.

P
age 143



‘Building the Right Support’ 

National Service Model 

The National Service Model, 

developed with the support of 

people with lived experience, 

clinicians, providers and 

commissioners, sets out how 

services should support 

people with a learning 

disability and/or autism. 

With the right set of 

services in place in the 

community, the need for 

inpatient care will 

significantly reduce.

P
age 144



Developing a Black Country clinical model

Using the nine principles from the National Service Model and guidance from NHS England, the 

TCP has developed a new clinical model for learning disabilities services in the Black Country. 

Before undertaking the development of the new model, a series of internal processes were 

strengthened in order to support the transformation required.

The following areas were identified as key building blocks for developing the model:

• Support the main provider and commissioners to produce an adult community and inpatient

model for services. This model should cover the next five operational years and should include 

staffing structures and service capacity (with consideration of other resource implications).

• Consider the children and young people pathway and provide recommendations for future 

inclusion, with particular reference to transition

• Engage and involve social care and the Third Sector as part of the community based model of 

provision

• Ensure that community based providers can be supported to meet the needs of people moving 

out of hospital.

P
age 145



Developing a Black Country clinical model

The National Transforming Care Programme mandates that each TCP meets the nationally 

prescribed trajectory for bed reduction by March 2019. For the Black Country this is reducing CCG 

commissioned beds from 41 to 16.

• Dudley - Beds at Ridge Hill have temporally closed to new admissions due to staffing provision 

concerns. The provider undertook an estates assessment and concluded that the most efficient 

and effective resource to deliver assessment and treatment would be located from Sandwell 

Heath Lane Hospital.

• Sandwell - A provision of 10 assessment and treatment beds will remain open at Sandwell 

Heath Lane Hospital, as a single facility to serve Black Country patients. This is in alignment 

with the national recommended bed provision in proportion with the population size.

• Walsall – Patients have been using a range of independent assessment and treatment facilities 

as all current beds are spot purchased. Following the temporary closure to new admissions at 

Orchard Hills, patients use other facilities in the Black Country.

• Wolverhampton - Assessment and treatment beds at Pond Lane closed following a 

consultation process in July-August 2016. Patients use other facilities in the Black Country. 

P
age 146



Proposed Black Country Transforming Care 

Model

The new clinical model for the Black 

Country, focuses on having the right 

support, at the right time, in the right place 

to maintain people’s rights, respect and 

dignity.

• It is based on the nine principles 

outlined in ‘Building the Right Support’

• Focused specialist care and treatment 

will be available for the people who 

require it

• Admissions to hospital will be for the 

least amount of time required.

P
age 147



Black Country Transforming Care

Current service provision

Current service 
provision

• Community Learning Disability 
Service - delivered locally across 
the four Black Country boroughs

• Assessment and treatment beds 
- available for the few people who 
need it and those who do not have 
access to intensive support 
services or specialist care.  
Walsall - Orchard Hills temporally 
closed to new admissions                   
Dudley - Ridge Hill temporally 
closed to new admissions.

P
age 148



Black Country Transforming Care

Proposed community model

Community model

• Community Learning 
Disability Service - delivered 
locally across the four Black 
Country boroughs

• Assessment and treatment 
beds - available for the few 
people who need it 

• Intensive support service              
New Service delivered at-scale 
across the Black Country

• Forensic Support Service  
New Service delivered at-scale 
across the Black Country 
Implementation of new services 
– September 2018.

P
age 149



Black Country Transforming Care

Assessment, treatment and forensic pathway

P
age 150



Black Country Transforming Care

Children and young people workstream

As part of this programme, children's commissioners and service providers are working together to 

ensure that children and young people with diagnosed learning disabilities and/or autistic spectrum 

disorder (ASD) are supported within local communities, within capable environments to avoid 

unnecessary inpatient mental health admissions. 

The children and young people (CYP) workstream is currently focused on the:

• Development of CYP and parent/ carer involvement specifically in relation to inclusion on TCP 

Board and/ or sub-groups 

• Better understanding of the Black Country TCP CYP population through joint/aligned dynamic 

and at risk of admission registers 

• Strengthening of governance arrangements around long stays and delayed discharges, 

establishing a clear process to review length of stay across the TCP footprint including line-by-

line reporting to the TCP Board.

P
age 151



Black Country Transforming Care

Equality impact assessment analysis

An equality impact assessment has been carried out for implementing the new model of care. 

Across all protected characteristics there are no negative impacts identified. There is a positive 

impact in relation to disability, as the proposed changes will provide service improvements for 

community care, and rights based principles developed by people with learning disabilities and/or 

autism.

Increased investment in community services: Assessment and treatment inpatient bed 

closures and reductions are in line with the national recommendations, so that reinvestment can 

be made into community provision. This is a positive impact where investment in more 

appropriate, high quality services can prevent inappropriate hospital admissions and reduce 

reliance on unnecessary inpatient stays. The shift in the clinical model to community assessment 

and treatment will provide the right care, at the right time in the right place. 

P
age 152



Black Country Transforming Care 

Finance introduction

• Activity overview

• Financial overview

• Modelling

• Transformation monies

• Financial implications - service model

• Issues and Risks

P
age 153



Black Country Transforming Care 

Activity overview

• Patient trajectory

• Started with 102 Black Country inpatients in March 2017

• Current position

• Performance against the trajectory

• Issues to consider

• Local trajectory

• Risks

Actual

31/3/17

Actual

31/3/18

Target

31/3/19

CCG 41 37 16

Specialised Commissioning 61 42 27

Total 102 79 43

P
age 154



Black Country Transforming Care 

Financial overview

• Financial model

• Each CCG and LA has modelled the impact

• Total impact across the four Black Country CCGs and LAs circa £4m

• Impact of new funding arrangements

• Level of certainty

• Varying impact for stakeholders

• Affordability

• Transformation bid monies (matched funding)

• 2017/18 - £559k

• 2018/19 - £750k & £350k

• Investment in inpatient and community services

• Other local issues

P
age 155



Black Country Transforming Care 

Service Model

Overview

• Total investment by CCGs with Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (BCPFT) in 

respect of LD services (£14m)

Inpatient Service Model

• Reduction in beds

• New model – Unit of 10 assessment and treatment beds commissioned across the Black 

Country

• Cost reduction £3.5m

Community Service Model

• Increase in community service provision (e.g. intensive support and forensic community 

services)

• The funding released from inpatient beds (£3.5m) is to be reinvested in community services

P
age 156



Black Country Transforming Care

Service User engagement 

Consultation with carers - conducted by Chris Sholl in April 2016, commissioned by Sandwell

and West Birmingham CCG

• Sent out to 26 families who had recent experiences of Care and Treatment Reviews (CTRs). 11 

respondents and four families were met face to face and others engaged via telephone. One of 

the recommendations made by families was for an “increased focus on early intervention to 

avoid hospital admissions”.  

‘So what, what next’ project  - conducted by Community Catalysts, commissioned by the Local 

Government Association 

• The project was initiated by the National Empowerment Steering Group, a group of people with 

a lived experience who say “getting out of hospital is important but the work doesn’t stop there.” 

The aim of the project was to talk to people with learning disabilities and/or autism and 

capture their experiences post discharge. Community Catalysts care are also helping to identify 

people across the Black Country who are happy to share their story. A report will be written at 

the end of the project which finishes in July 2018.

P
age 157



Black Country Transforming Care

Service User engagement 

Patient experience questionnaires developed in easy read by Dudley Voices for Choice

Piloted in Dudley and Wolverhampton during September 2017 (with a view to rolling out across the 

wider Black Country). The questionnaire identified current perceptions of services, impact of the 

care and treatment review process for Black Country patients, what was important to patients when 

looking at service improvement. 

Initial feedback has echoed the sentiments of the programme and has highlighted the importance 

of good quality care coordination, effective timely information and interventions. The results also 

highlighted that people were experiencing things very differently, with a wide variation in their 

responses that the services offered were very different.

Some stated that their experiences were positive, where others felt unsafe in their service. Two 

quotes which were received from patients were “there was no choice in where I live” and “nothing 

to learn when I was in hospital”. 

P
age 158



Black Country Transforming Care

Service User experience and feedback

The priorities highlighted by patients were about activities and the lack of opportunities available to 

people with learning disabilities. Parent and carers comments were more focused on the lack of 

services available for people with learning disabilities. 

Other key messages were: 

• Questions around whether they would still see the same team and the same doctor

• A high number of respondents said they did not know who their key workers/contacts were

• The terminology used was unfamiliar and should not be used e.g. blue light review

• There was some doubt that the people who were asked to support others had the right skills and 

training

• Respondents were not sure about independent advocates and what support they provide

• Respondents who had not used the assessment and treatment service had little or no 

knowledge of what services were available if they were to go into crisis or need intensive 

support

P
age 159



Black Country Transforming Care

Engagement approach

Dudley Voices for Choice have been commissioned to develop communication materials in easy 

read formats and to carry out engagement activities for the Black Country TCP.

This will be a targeted approach with patients, relatives, carers and their representatives, whom the 

programme will have an impact on. There will also be a number of opportunities for the wider public 

and potential future users of the service to engage.

This will be a provider led, eight week exercise carried out in two phases:

• Phase one will consist of face to face meetings on an individual basis with patients and their 

relatives, with a focus on gathering patient experience/insight via questionnaire

• Phase two will consist of patient and public engagement events with a focus on gathering 

feedback on the proposed community model, via questionnaire. Including the proposed future 

inpatient consolidation.

A report will then be produced on all of the involvement activity and presented to the TCP 

Programme Board prior to the clinical model being implemented.

P
age 160



Outcomes for vulnerable people balanced with 

community safety

Once the new community model is in place, all citizens in inpatient care will a have a regular Care 

and Treatment Review (CTR). These reviews will assess whether someone’s care is safe, 

effective, whether they need to be in hospital, and whether there is a plan in place for their future 

care. 

Clinicians, commissioners and social workers will participate in these reviews. Treatment is 

personalised to address issues and if felt appropriate, planning for discharge will commence. Staff 

will use a 12 point discharge pathway with each individual to carefully plan a discharge and ensure 

all the right support is available in the community. 

A small number of people in inpatient care will have Ministry of Justice (MOJ) restrictions. The risk 

assessment for these individuals will be particularly robust. 

P
age 161



Thank You

Questions?

P
age 162



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Health and Wellbeing Board
11 July 2018

Report title Healthwatch Wolverhampton Annual Report

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Hazel Malcolm
Health and Wellbeing

Wards affected All wards

Accountable director Elizabeth Learoyd, ECS Executive Director

Originating service Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Accountable employee(s) Susan Eagle 
Tel
Email

Commissioning Officer 
01902 555043
susan.eagle@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Health Scrutiny Panel

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

1. Review the Healthwatch Wolverhampton Annual Report and provide feedback on the 
work programme conducted during 2017/18.  

Recommendations for noting:

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note:

1. The work programme priorities to be undertaken by Healthwatch during 2018/19 and 
provide any comment or supplementary service areas to be reviewed by Healthwatch 
Wolverhampton. 

Page 163

Agenda Item No: 13



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to review the Healthwatch Wolverhampton 
Annual report to review the progress made against the statutory functions, to comment 
on the impact of the delivery of Healthwatch services in Wolverhampton, and to identify 
areas of focus within the identified work programme priorities set for 2018/19.  

2.0 Background

2.1 Healthwatch Wolverhampton is the consumer champion for Health and Social Care, 
established as part of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. It is a requirement of local 
Healthwatch to produce an annual report of its work programme, detailing the projects 
undertaken, including findings, and recommendations, and the impact of such reports on 
the delivery of services. The Healthwatch Annual Report must be submitted to 
Healthwatch England by 30 June each year. Statutory functions of local Healthwatch also 
include the power to Enter and View NHS and Social Care services and to review the 
service levels provided, and to deliver Information and Signposting services. In 
Wolverhampton, Healthwatch also delivery the statutory advocacy service for NHS 
complaints and details of progress made in this service area is also included within the 
Annual Report.  

3.0 Progress

3.1 The Healthwatch Wolverhampton Annual Report details the work undertaken throughout 
2017/18. The work programme has been set for 2018/19 following a survey of 400 
residents, referred to as a ‘ listening tour of Wolverhampton residents’ to help identify key 
work priority areas. The progress made against the work programme will be updated 
throughout the year and a full analysis of the year will be presented at the next Annual 
Report review.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 Not applicable.

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 Not applicable.

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 None.

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 Not applicable.

Page 164



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 Not applicable.

9.0 Corporate Landlord implications

9.1 There are no implications for the Council’s property portfolio. 

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 Not applicable.

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual report
2017/18

Page 167



2Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Contents
Message from our Chair 3

Message from our Chief Officer 4

Highlights from our year 5

Who we are 6

Your views on health and care 8

Helping you find the answers 14

Making a difference together 16

Complaints advocacy 21

It starts with you 24

Our plans for next year 28

Our people 30

Our finances 34

Contact us 36

Page 168



3Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Following the departure of Dr Isobel Gillis the 

previous Chair of Healthwatch I assumed the role 

of Chair on an interim basis until a permanent 

replacement could be appointed. My term of office 

was from September 2017 until January 2018.

During this period I oversaw 3 main projects: - a 

review of dental services, a review of the 

application of the Red2Green initiative in local 

hospitals and a mental health project which was 

ongoing when I relinquished the role of Chair.

The findings of the dental project were that finding 

a dentist local to where patients live was an issue 

for some people as was access to some dental 

practices for disabled patients. A major issue was 

identified with the cost of dental treatment even 

when it was undertaken as an NHS patient. Our 

findings replicated a national study undertaken by 

Healthwatch England. We issued a report which is 

published on our website and forwarded our 

recommendations for further action to local 

commissioners.

The Red2Green initiative has been led by NHS 

Improvement and is basically a graphical 

representation of a patients stay in hospital. Red 

depicts a negative result for a patient and 

represents for instance a patient suffering delayed 

transfer for various reasons. Green represents a 

positive outcome for the patient, an example being 

the early discharge from hospital with an 

appropriate care package. We undertook a review 

of the local hospitals performance on this initiative 

and found them to be adopting the principles and 

producing positive “green” results.

During my time as, Interim Chair we were 

constantly seeking a permanent Chair. I am pleased 

to report that following a competitive process 

Sheila Gill was appointed and commenced her 

duties on the 9 January 2018.

As I have been a member of Wolverhampton 

Healthwatch Advisory Board since July 2016, I have 

gained a good understanding of the changing health 

and social care landscape. Since my appointment 

as Chair in January 2018, I have worked with 

Healthwatch Advisory Board members and staff to 

deliver Healthwatch priorities and core functions of 

engagement, monitoring, challenge and influence. 

We are trying to drive up the quality of local health 

and social care services and ensuring the views and 

experiences of local residents are considered by 

commissioners and service providers. Although we 

have achieved a lot this year, there is still a lot to 

do!

Message from 
our Chair

Robin Morrison, Chair September 2017-January 2018

Sheila Gill, appointed Chair January 2018
Page 169



4Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Healthwatch will ensure that 

residents voices are heard 

through service design and 

deliver.

The ongoing challenge across health and social care 

is around the Black Country Sustainability and 

Transformation Plans and how the services are 

going to be delivered locally for Wolverhampton 

residents

Healthwatch have engaged with the public around 

our priorities, summaries can be found further on 

in this report and the full report can be found on 

our website: 

www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk.

Healthwatch have continued to increase the 

number of volunteers that are working with 

Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Healthwatch have joined up with Compton Care 

and Black Country Neurological Alliance to start a 

Café Neuro in Wolverhampton, this is a monthly 

meet for a chat and a coffee with other carers, 

users, staff of people who have a neurological 

condition. The café runs the third Thursday of 

every month for 2 hours in the afternoon.

Healthwatch having been working with the 

University of Wolverhampton and Wolverhampton 

College to provide placements for students within 

Healthwatch to gain additional experience / 

knowledge around Health and Social Care. The 

University nurse student that was placed with us 

found the placement informative. The college 

students gained more knowledge of Healthwatch 

but also how to work in an office environment.

Healthwatch will continue to work with both the 

university and the college to support students.

We have a very busy year ahead but the focus is 

still the same; ensuring that patients have a voice 

within the Health and Social Care settings

Message from 
our Chief Officer

Elizabeth Learoyd, Chief Officer

I would like to say “Thank you” to all our staff and 
volunteers that have worked to ensure that residents 
of Wolverhampton had an opportunity to engage in 
the priorities that they have chosen.

Page 170

http://www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk/


5Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Highlights from 
our year

The number of people 

we have reached on 

social media

224

32,700

Our reports have tackled 
issues ranging from 

Sign
Language 
Interpreters 
to

Dental 
charges 

Our volunteers 

have carried out 

14
Enter and View 

Visits, as well as 

surveys and other 

engagement 

activities

We’ve visited

local events

We’ve spoken to

4100
people

We’ve given 

2723
people 

information and 

advice

Page 171



6Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Who we are

Healthwatch Wolverhampton 

exists to make sure health 

and social care services in 

the city work for the people 

that use them. 

Everything we say and do is informed by our 

connections to local people. Our sole focus is on 

understanding the needs, experiences and 

concerns of people of all ages and backgrounds 

who use services and to speak out on their behalf. 

Our role is to ensure that local decision makers 

and health and social care providers put the 

experiences of people at the heart of their work. 

We believe that asking people more about their 

experiences can identify issues that, if addressed, 

will make services better. 

Our vision

Healthwatch Wolverhampton acts as an 

independent voice for local people, championing 

quality health and social care services. It is our 

job to argue for consumer interests for all those 

who use health and social care services in the 

city. Through effective engagement to gain 

service user feedback, we can raise awareness of 

key issues affecting our local health and social 

care services and recommend improvements. 

Our mission is to: 

• Monitor service delivery through concerns 

raised and feedback received 

• Analyse service user feedback and data to 

produce evidence and insight reports

• Challenge commissioners and providers on the 

quality, access and delivery of health and social 

care services

• Develop services through public involvement 

and engagement to ensure local residents have 

their voices heard

Working in partnership

We are continuing to work hard to raise our profile 

with local decision makers and developing strong 

working partnerships throughout the city to enable 

us to have influence and impact in the work that 

we do for residents of the city.

Some of the decision making forums where we 

have a voice include: 

• Health and Wellbeing Board

• Systems Delivery Board

• Wolverhampton Health Scrutiny

• Wolverhampton Safeguarding Adults Board

• Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group 

Board

• Local Pharmaceutical Network

• NHS England Quality Surveillance Group

• Integrated Care Alliance Page 172



7Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Meet the team

Tracy Cresswell

Engagement / Volunteer  

Manager

Rasham Gill

Community Engagement

Outreach Officer

Danny Cope

Information / Signposting

Officer

Judith Stroud

Advocacy Officer 

Eve Aston

Information / Administration 

Officer

Elizabeth Learoyd

Chief Executive

Shooky Devi

Operations Co-ordinator
Sam Hicks

Research and Evidence

Officer

Page 173



8Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Your views on 
health and care

Page 174



9Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Listening to people’s views

In 2017/18, we engaged with local residents 

through a variety of methods, ensuring our 

outreach work reached people at the grass roots 

level with a focus on localism and community 

empowerment. 

• Our Community Outreach Officer uses a 

collaborative approach to engage with 

individuals, voluntary groups and community 

organisations. 

• We develop capacity through the recruitment of 

Healthwatch volunteers to support projects and 

activities locally throughout the city

• Our engagement events enable us to raise 

awareness of Healthwatch and the services we 

offer

• We gather feedback from local people so that 

we can influence health and social care services 

design and delivery

• We offer opportunities for real involvement for 

local people

• By conducting Enter and View visits into 

services, we observe and gather patient 

experiences so that we can help bring about 

service improvements 

Page 175



10Healthwatch Wolverhampton

What we have learnt from visiting 
services

The Enter and View Programme provides 

Healthwatch Wolverhampton with an opportunity 

to see how a service is run.  It also gives an 

opportunity to hear the views of patients, 

relatives, carers and staff at the point of service 

delivery. 

“An Enter and View Visit is not an inspection” 

Healthwatch offers a laypersons perspective rather 

than an in-depth formal inspection conducted by 

the regulatory body, the Care Quality Commission 

(CQC). Our Enter and View Programme is not a 

standalone activity; it is just one tool available to 

use for collecting evidence and feedback and is 

part of a wider engagement strategy. 

We have 24 trained Authorised Representatives 

who support the Enter and View programmes.  

During 2017/2018 we carried out 14 Enter and View 

visits across GP Practices, Care homes, Nursing 

homes and hospital these visits were both 

announced and unannounced. 

MGS Medical Practice:               
Lowhill Branch

Healthwatch had been contacted in 2016 from a 

patient who was having problems with their 

prescriptions. Healthwatch with the support of the 

business manager and main GP partner carried out 

drop in sessions across the practices in June 2017, 

the report was shared with the GP and business 

manager and a number of recommendations were 

made.

These recommendations were used as a guideline 

for the announced visit that took place in 

December 2017.

The following key observations and comments were 

made during our visit: 

• There were still issues with patients getting 

appointments, and prescriptions not being ready 

• No clear guidance on how to complain.

• Patient Participation Groups ensure patients are 

engaging with the practice, however there was 

no notification of these meetings in the 

practice.  The Authorised Representative met 

with the chair of the group, who had not been 

aware of a meeting that had taken place earlier 

on in the year at the practice 

• Patients did not know how or who to complain 

to. 

• The notice boards were far too busy, needs to 

be a lot easier for patients to read, and they are 

all in English

Update March 2018: 

Prior to the practice joining Royal Wolverhampton 

Trust Vertical Integration programme, the average 

appointment per 1000 patients was 56 per week, 

through the data collected since the beginning of 

the programme in June 2016. Royal Wolverhampton 

Trust can now show that they are providing an 

average of 66 appointments per 1000 patients per 

week. This is a total of over 7000 appointments 

additionally available to the practice population 

since June 2016.

MGS Medical Practice, Lowhill

Page 176



11Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Oxley Lodge Care Home

Authorised Representatives carried out the visit 

after Healthwatch Wolverhampton received 

concerns from members of the public.  The visit 

took place in April 2017.  The visit received both 

positive and negative reviews from the residents.  

A number of recommendations were put to the 

home as listed below:

• To ensure all staff have confidentiality training 

on a regular basis, not just on induction

• Encourage residents to sit in the ‘pass over’, 

more stimulating for the residents who can sit 

and watch what is going on outside, they can 

watch the birds, rather than just sitting in the 

chairs in the lounge, looking at the walls etc

• Ensure that the notice board is free of clutter 

and residents, visitors, carers and relatives can 

view the information without having to search for 

it

• The lift was out of order due to a part being 

ordered, the home to chase up the part

• Ensure that the carpets are fitted correctly 

before the residents are allocated the rooms

• Ensure that the rooms are appropriate for the 

needs of the residents, for example if you have a 

resident who has fallen or is prone to falls, do 

not place them in a room where the floor is 

uneven or the carpet is coming away from the 

door

• Re-iterate to staff the importance of putting 

signs up after cleaning, i.e. Wet Floor by the 

bathroom

• The management to enquire on who can support 

them with falls prevention in the home

Other observations included:

• There seems to be confusing evidence with 

regards to who communicates with the relatives 

/ carers when a resident has had an accident / 

incident / fall.  Better communication from the 

management is required on who needs to contact 

the relatives / carers

• If a patient has a fall and it is alerted by the 

mat, what is the procedure for dealing with the 

residents?

There was no provider response because shortly 

after the visit from Healthwatch the home was 

put up for sale and has closed.

Oxley Lodge Care Home

Page 177



12Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Royal Wolverhampton Trust:

Ward C16 Diabetes

Healthwatch Wolverhampton receives feedback on 

a range of services and treatments received by 

patients at the Royal Wolverhampton Trust.       

This visit was unannounced and was responding to 

recently received concerns to Healthwatch in 

respect from a patient. These were primarily 

around care received on Ward C16. 

Upon arrival the Authorised Representatives noted 

that the ward was very busy, with a number of 

staff around the Nurse station and the immediate 

area. The Ward Sister had recently left the Ward to 

carry out other duties and therefore was not 

available for us to introduce ourselves and inform 

her of the nature of the visit. However the member 

of staff who we spoke with made us welcome and 

sought to locate the Ward Sister. 

The following key observations and comments were 

made:

• The ward was mixed gender made up of four 

bays and two side rooms 

• Two of the bays were single gender

• The Authorised Representatives were able to 

speak to nine patients and one relative.           

The majority of whom said that they had no 

complaints about the care they were receiving. 

However they did observe staff were under 

considerable pressure as noted that they did not 

attend promptly when the buzzer was pressed 

• A patient in the side room raised concern of 

sleep disturbance, which we believe the noise 

was coming from the TV monitor, also the bed 

was too small for the patient which meant being 

uncomfortable when in bed

• The majority of patients arrived onto the ward 

via accident and emergency upon which a care 

plan would be produced 

• Those patients who were referred from a nursing 

home would arrive with a care plan which would 

be integrated with one produced by the ward

• Visiting times are flexible which both patients 

and family members appreciated

• There had been some recent management 

changes on the ward which were still settling in

• Overall we found that the ward appeared to be 

somewhat cluttered with equipment and chairs 

in the corridors leading to the bays

Provider feedback

Thank you for your positive feedback of your 

observations during your visit on 21 December 

2017. During the time of your visit 09.55 – 11.30 

nursing and healthcare staff were washing patients, 

changing clothing and bed linen; all the necessary 

equipment required is stored on trolleys which are 

located outside each bay during this period in 

accordance with Infection Prevention advice. 

Unfortunately this may have resulted in the 

“cluttered” appearance outside each bay. However 

this is temporary as once patient washes and bed 

making has been completed the trolleys are 

dismantled and returned to the linen store. 

New Cross Hospital, Royal Wolverhampton Trust

Page 178



13Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Our Authorised Representatives 

The Enter and View Visits undertaken 
in 2017/2018 are listed below:

➢ Arbour Lodge Residential Care 
Home

➢ Aspen Lodge Residential Care Home

➢ Atholl House Nursing Home

➢ Eversleigh Care Centre

➢ MGS Medical Practice

➢ Mountfield House Care Home

➢ Outpatients – Fracture and 
Orthopaedics

➢ Oxley Lodge Care Home

➢ Ward A8 – Geriatric Medicines

➢ Ward A21 – Childrens

➢ Ward C16 – Diabetes

➢ Ward C24 – Renal

➢ Woodfields Residential Home

➢ Wulfrun Rose Nursing Home

If you would like to join our team of Authorised 

Representatives, contact a member of the 

Healthwatch Wolverhampton team for more 

information on 0800 470 1944.

❖ Anita Kainth

❖ Anu Sandhu

❖ Beverley Davis

❖ Dana Tooby

❖ Donald McIntosh

❖ Elizabeth Learoyd

❖ Jane Emery

❖ Janice Edwards

❖ Judith Stroud

❖ Kerry Southall

❖ Kirpal Bilkhu

❖ Louise Omekoko

❖ Maggie Macombe

❖ Marlene Lambeth

❖ Mary Brannac

❖ Matthius Katanga

❖ Pat Roberts

❖ Raj Sandhu 

❖ Rasham Gill

❖ Roger Thompson

❖ Rose Urkovskis

❖ Sheila Gill

❖ Tina Richardson

❖ Tracy Cresswell

Our Enter and View leaflet for providers 

and commissioners is available upon 

request. 

We would like to thank our Authorised Representatives (listed below) for their time and commitment 

given to the Enter and View programme to make it a success.

Page 179



14Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Helping you find the 
answers

Page 180



15Healthwatch Wolverhampton

How we have helped the community get 
the information they need

We are often contacted by members of the 

public who do not know where to get the 

information that they need, and we help to 

point them in the right direction, here are some 

examples of how we have helped people find the 

answers they need. 

A Recovery Support Worker required information 

on how they could register their homeless clients 

with a GP. Healthwatch signposted them to 2 GP’s 

in their local area.

Healthwatch was contacted by an individual who 

wanted a list of Home Care Agencies near 

Essington. Healthwatch e-mailed over the name of 

some of the care agencies (and CQC reports) that 

were local to the home address,

An individual had an issue with a dentist over 

dentures.  The individual had had some new 

dentures made however was unable to wear them 

due to the thickness of them.  The individual had 

raised it with the dentist who had not been very 

helpful, Healthwatch contacted NHS England to 

see what the options were for the individual. NHS 

England explained that the individual needed to go 

back to the practice and explain to them again, 

however, the individual was unable to go as they 

felt uncomfortable and they had no one to support 

them. Healthwatch left the individual with NHS 

England contact number alongside the number for 

WHACs in case they wanted to pursue it further.

Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) had sent an 

individual to Healthwatch as they had an issue 

with a GP. On listening to the individual around 

the issues, it was clear that they wanted to go 

down the complaint route. Healthwatch passed 

their information with their consent onto WHACs.

An individual contacted the office seeking support 

with some conditions they were suffering from. 

The individual had Fibromyalgia, so they were 

signposted to Rheumatology Support Group. The 

individual also had anxiety and depression and 

were signposted to Healthy Minds and Starfish.

Tracy Cresswell, providing contact details for to 

local services at an event.

Page 181



16Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Making a difference 
together

Page 182



17Healthwatch Wolverhampton

How your experiences are helping to 
influence change

In 2017/18 Healthwatch Wolverhampton’s priority 

areas included:

• Red 2 Green

• Dental

• CAMHS

• Accident and Emergency Department 

Red 2 Green

Healthwatch Wolverhampton were invited to take 

part in a trial project that was being led by 

Emergency Care Improvement Programme (ECIP) 

around a hospital discharge process called Red 2 

Green. The idea behind the project is reducing the 

number of days patients are in the hospital 

without having any interventions.

Healthwatch engaged with 107 patients across 10 

medical wards at New Cross Hospital. There were 

several questions that the patients answered 

ranging from “do you know why you are in 

hospital?” to “do you know when you are going 

home?”.

One of the aims of the project is to encourage 

patients to ask the following questions: -

“What is the matter with me?”

“What is going to happen today?”

“When am I going home?”

“What is needed to get me home?”

The response from the patients regarding these 

questions was mixed, several of them were happy 

to ask and are regularly asking, however several of 

the patients did not feel comfortable asking and 

felt it was up to the doctors and nurses to decide.

Whilst carrying out the surveys Healthwatch was 

invited to listen in on the Multi-Disciplinary Team 

Meeting (MDT), these are where consultants, social 

workers, nurses, OT, Physio’s discuss the progress 

of the patients. These meetings take place daily.

In addition to the surveys, patients were asked if 

they wished to take part in an interview once they 

were discharged home, several of the patients 

agreed to this. The overall feeling from the 

patients that were interviewed was there should 

be better communication between the staff and 

the patients, as some of the patients were having 

tests but did not know why.  Some were given 

medication but did not know why.  There was also 

miscommunication between different doctors, 

changing medication without discussing with the 

patients. 

Respondents offered a few suggestions for ways in 

which patients could be encouraged to ask 

questions. These included:

• A patient pack on admission to hospital, which 

could include an information leaflet about Red 

2 Green and a prompt card with the four 

questions.

• Information on the ward noticeboards and 

posters on the walls.

• Staff be trained to welcome the questions and 

support patient confidence to speak up.

• Dementia friendly information.

Page 183



18Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Access to Health and Social Care Services for 

Deaf and Hard of Hearing People in 

Wolverhampton. 

In July 2017 we held two public events at the 

University of Wolverhampton, this attracted over 

60 attendees. The events provided a rich source of 

information about what it is like to be deaf or a 

hard of hearing service user of health and social 

care in Wolverhampton. The events gave the 

attendees an opportunity to share their 

experiences on the following subjects: 

• GP Surgeries / GP Provision 

• Hospitals 

• Dentists 

• Urgent Care / NHS 111 / 999 

• Opticians / Pharmacists 

• Community services 

• Nursing homes / care homes 

Some of these experiences were positive for 

individuals who had used health and social care 

services, however there were some negative 

responses.  Some of the themes that came out of 

the events are:  

• Lack of clear communication 

• Trained and Qualified British Sign Language 

interpreters 

• Deaf awareness training for front line staff in 

health and social care settings 

• More opportunities for Deaf parents to socialise 

with other parents in child – based forums

• Degree of frustration with voicing concerns for 

a considerable time, yet very little has been 

done to remove barriers  

There were several recommendations for local 

partners to consider.  Healthwatch to meet with 

the partners to work together on considering these 

recommendations and producing an action plan. 

Recommendations: 

• Patients decide if an interpreter is required 

not the staff

• Deaf patients are involved in the 

commissioning process for interpreting 

services

• All health and social care services with 

waiting areas have non-verbal communication 

methods in place.

• CCG and local authority commission sufficient 

interpreters to meet the demand and they 

have the required recognised qualifications 

To view the report and all the recommendations 

visit our website at: 

www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk

Page 184

http://www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk/


19Healthwatch Wolverhampton

CAMHS 

(Children Adolescents Mental Health Services)

Mental Health Support and CAMHS (Children 

Adolescent Mental Health Services)

CAMHS was one of Healthwatch priorities. The 

project was split into two parts, with the first part 

engaging with senior staff in secondary schools and 

colleges, and the second part engaging with the 

users of the service.

Part 1

A survey was electronically sent out to 46 

secondary schools and colleges, with 17 

responding. The questions asked ranged from 

training the staff, knowledge of the service, 

referrals into the service to support for the staff 

and students.

The responses identified that some of the staff 

had received training, however there were still a 

number that had not received any training. The 

staff that had received the training expressed that 

they would have benefitted from having the 

following:

Awareness of Mental Health conditions

Understanding on how to support the students

Specialist training

Knowledge of resources to help young people

Cognitive Behaviour Therapy

The respondents had heard of CAMHS and several 

of the schools had made referrals into the service, 

even though the referral criteria is “very medically 

orientated” and was reliant on a diagnosis being in 

place.

There were several respondents that experienced 

accessing CAMHS for certain groups was 

restricted.

The length of time averaged between 1 to 3 

months from referral to assessment and between 3 

to 6 months from assessment to treatment. There 

had been issues where the referrals had been 

closed for vulnerable students, even though it had 

been agreed to keep it open due to their 

vulnerability.

There were a number of solutions that were 

offered, these can be found in the full report on 

our website 

www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk

Part 2

An electronic survey was sent out to users of the 

service, however there were no responses 

received. Further work needs to be carried out 

with these users.

Recommendations: 

• Review the provision of children’s advocacy 

services in Wolverhampton and provide 

signposting information

• Develop a range of different therapeutic 

approaches, either within CAMHS or other 

service providers

• Review the referral process to allow it to be 

more inclusive of non-medical professionals 

• More face to face meetings between CAMHS, 

psychologists and school staff

To view the report and all the recommendations 

visit our website at: 

www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk

Page 185

http://www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk/
http://www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk/


20Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Dentistry in Wolverhampton 

One of our priorities was around the dentists in 

Wolverhampton.

Healthwatch carried out a survey engaging with 

over 500 people, the report highlighted that there 

were mixed feelings around registering with a 

dentist, the majority who are not registered 

expressed that “they did not have the time”, 

there was a small number who were frightened / 

scared of the dentist, or who did not know how to 

register.

Over 50% of patients that are registered with a 

dentist go on a regular basis (every 6 months), 

mainly for routine check-ups.

Not all patients can attend the dentist due to work 

or other commitments, 45% of these would like 

more appointments to be available in the evening, 

15% of patients would like more appointments 

available at weekends, however over 38% of 

patients would not know where to go for 

emergency treatment.

These findings were similar to the report that 

Healthwatch England carried out last year.

There were several recommendations that came 

out of the report and these can be found on the 

website www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk

Evolution of Transfer of services from New Cross 

Hospital

One of our priorities was around the patient 

experience following on from the Transfer of 

Services between New Cross Hospital and Cannock 

Chase Hospital.

Healthwatch conducted surveys with patients in 

the specialist services affected by the Transfer of 

Services at both sites. The specialist services are 

Orthopaedics, Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Acute 

Medicine, Cardiology, Paediatrics, Acute Surgery, 

General Surgery and Oncology.

213 patients participated in the survey with 66 

patients from Cannock Chase Hospital, 137 

patients from New Cross Hospital and the 

remaining 10 not stating which hospital they had 

used.

There were several patients that had not been 

offered choice of hospital by their GP, however 

the quality of care received was rated positively 

by over 94% of the patients that responded.

Over 90% of patients at New Cross and 95% of 

patients at Cannock Chase Hospital would 

recommend the hospital to their friends and 

family.

The information that was given to patients when 

they were discharged was different across the 2 

sites, with Cannock being rated a lot higher than 

New Cross, some of the patients at New Cross did 

not know who to contact if they needed support.

There were a number of recommendations that 

arose from the report and they can found in the 

full report on 

www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk

Page 186

http://www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk/
http://www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk/


21Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Complaints advocacy 

Page 187



22Healthwatch Wolverhampton

NHS complaints advocacy service

Wolverhampton Health Advocacy Complaints 

Service (WHACS) provides Wolverhampton 

residents with direct access to information and 

support when making a complaint about the NHS.

Over the last 12 months, we have received 109

new referrals for advocacy support. Our dedicated 

advocacy Freephone number is answered by 

advocates, so people have access to someone who 

is trained to answer questions, give advice, 

understand individual needs, signpost to other 

services and provide continuing support. We work 

closely with other community and voluntary sector 

organisations and have an established database of 

contacts to refer clients on to additional support 

services.

We are pleased to provide a high quality, person-

centred service that is recognised through our 

achievement of the Quality Performance Mark 

(QPM) accreditation, which is a nationally 

recognised advocacy accreditation for delivering 

high standards of advocacy support.

Our advocates have helped people to achieve 

positive outcomes with their NHS complaints. 

Through supporting people to make complaints, we 

have helped to highlight where problems exist in 

NHS services across Wolverhampton and ensure 

people get their voices heard when things go 

wrong to ensure that they can bring about positive 

change and service improvements. We have also 

been able to use anonymised data and insight from 

the advocacy service to inform our other 

Healthwatch functions, including our Enter and 

View programme.

Through advocacy support, we have been able 

to empower people and ensure people have 

their voices heard.

Our advocates provide resources and support to 

help people to self-advocate by using one of our 

specially designed Self Help Information Packs. 

Where people do need more intensive support, 

advocates give tailored one to one support in 

person.

Page 188



23Healthwatch Wolverhampton

What our clients say:

With our clients being at the heart of everything 

that we do, we continually ask for feedback on 

our advocacy service to help us improve and 

develop the service to meet people’s needs. Here 

are a few examples of what our clients have said 

about the advocacy service:

“My advocate went above and beyond to support 

me to progress my complaint. She kept me 

updated at every single step and is an asset to 

your team”

“My advocate’s support and understanding of my 

issues was reassuring. She was reliable and 

informative, guiding me through the complaints 

procedure”

“I was supported throughout, and my advocate 

assisted me to draft my complaint letter, and 

helped me to review the responses I received. My 

advocate helped me to prepare for a meeting with 

the hospital, and as a result I achieved my desired 

outcome, and the hospital provided me with an 

Organisational Learning Action Plan. This was 

always my aim, and I am satisfied that the hospital 

listened to me and made changes to benefit other 

patients. I have recommend the advocacy service 

to others”

Advocacy case study

WHACS supported Mr K to make a complaint 

regarding the care and treatment of his late wife, 

who was receiving cancer treatment in hospital.  

Mr K was unhappy about the manner in which his 

wife was discharged home for end of life care. Her 

pain relief medication was dispensed by the 

hospital pharmacy, but when the District Nurse 

arrived at Mr K’s home she was unable to 

administer pain relief as it was dispensed as oral 

medication instead of medication to be 

administered by injection. Some medication was 

also missing. 

Mrs K was left in pain, which was distressing for 

the family. A new prescription had to be obtained 

from the hospital, with the help of the District 

Nurse.  Mr K spent 2 hours driving around various 

local pharmacies to collect the correct medication 

once the correct prescription had been issued, as 

the hospital was unable to dispense at the hospital 

pharmacy as it had closed.

Mr K drafted a complaint letter with the support of 

his advocate and received a response which Mr K 

was unhappy with. The hospital confirmed that the 

prescription for pain relief had been changed from 

injection to oral for discharge, and that the 

correct procedure had not been correctly followed 

by the hospital pharmacy.  However, there was no 

clear indication within the response about what 

action the hospital intended to take to prevent the 

same situation arising in the future. Mr K decided 

to ask for a meeting with the hospital.

Mr K’s advocate supported him to prepare his 

questions for the meeting and attended the 

meeting with him.

Following the meeting the hospital produced an 

action plan with completion dates which would 

address the issues as follows:

Measures would be taken to ensure adequate stock 

control within the pharmacy

Electronic prescribing system to be introduced.

Supply of palliative care drugs to be available, if 

needed in the community, and this is to be raised 

with NHS England.

Pharmacy to liaise with community nursing teams 

to make them aware of the pharmacy support 

available out of hours.

Mr K was satisfied that the hospital had taken his 

complaint seriously, and had identified where 

practice and procedures needed to be revised.

Page 189



24Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Page 190



25Healthwatch Wolverhampton

#ItStartsWithYou

Healthwatch Wolverhampton receives hundreds of 

calls throughout the year from people needing 

support, information and advice. We also receive 

requests for support when we are out and about in 

the community during our outreach work. Here are 

a few examples of the issues we have supported 

people with. 

Case study one

Healthwatch was contacted by a lady who had been 

refused funding for a Hernia operation under the 

Procedures of Low Clinical Value (POLCV), this was 

having an effect on her health and she was losing 

weight. Healthwatch met with this lady and 

obtained her consent to engage with the Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG), and Royal 

Wolverhampton Trust (RWT). This lady had 

complex needs not just the hernia.

Healthwatch contacted the CCG regarding the 

commissioning of this operation and explained that 

it was not just a hernia operation.  The CCG 

informed Healthwatch that they had not received 

the information that had been requested from 

RWT, that was why the operation had been 

refused.   

Healthwatch contacted RWT regarding this, they 

were not aware of any information being 

requested, the operation request was resubmitted.   

The lady contacted Healthwatch to say that she 

had got a date for early December 2017 for her 

operation and thanked Healthwatch for their input. 

Healthwatch were contacted in January 2018 by 

the lady who informed Healthwatch that the 

operation was successful, and she was waiting for a 

follow up appointment with the consultant. 

“With the help of Healthwatch Wolverhampton 
I was able to have my operation which was a 
success.”

Page 191



26Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Case study two 

Following a presentation from Healthwatch 

Wolverhampton, a lady contacted the team 

regarding her friend who was at the ripe old age of 

90.  There were a number of issues that the 

gentleman had they were:

• Couldn’t get a medical professional to sign his 

documentation for a blue badge as they had not 

known him for 2 years.

• He had been on the waiting list for 

approximately 3 ½ years waiting for a hip 

operation.

• This gentleman had never been in hospital and 

had lived independently without any support 

from carers etc. His family had ensured that his 

house was adaptable to his needs as they did not 

live in the country.

Healthwatch carried out some research with 

regards to his blue badge and found that this could 

be checked at a local library. Healthwatch 

contacted the library to see what the procedure 

was for this individual and explained the issues 

that the gentleman was having.

The library carries out all the checks, including 

taking the photograph, click here for more 

information about this service: 

http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/article/1720/B

lue-Badge-Scheme.

Healthwatch contacted the gentleman and gave 

this information which he was grateful to 

Healthwatch as he finally felt he had been listened 

to.

The second issue was that he was waiting for a hip 

operation and he informed Healthwatch that he 

felt that it was due to his age. 

With his consent Healthwatch contacted the 

consultant’s secretary, She explained that even 

though this gentleman had been to see the 

consultant in Cannock the operation would be 

taking place in Wolverhampton. She also  

explained that this gentleman was top of the list, 

and they would be contacting him as soon as a 

theatre had been booked.

Healthwatch explained to her that the gentleman 

had said that they were not doing it because of his 

age which she disagreed as it was due to waiting 

for theatre space at the hospital. This was relayed 

back to the gentleman. In the meantime, his family 

contacted Healthwatch from America for guidance 

on the services that would be supporting him after 

his operation. They were signposted to a number 

of organisations and the discharge co-ordinator 

within the hospital.

Within a week the gentleman phoned Healthwatch 

to say that he had got a date for his operation and 

said “you are one of the few people that have 

listened to me”

The gentleman contacted Healthwatch to say he 

had had his operation and it had all gone well, he 

was recovering well in Bradley before going 

home. Healthwatch visited him at home and he 

was walking independently without any aids. He 

shared his experience in hospital as being mixed as 

he had to have a catheter fitted even though he 

felt he did not need one, and it took him a few 

months to have it removed. He was given supplies 

but not told how to re-order.

The communication around the services that would 

be going in to support him whilst at home was 

poor, as the organisations did not look at him as an 

individual, they just saw a 90-year-old gentleman 

and assumed that he had care at home, he was 

unaware of district nurses and other services that 

would be able to support him. 

“You were one of the few people who have 
listened to me.” 

Page 192

http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/article/1720/Blue-Badge-Scheme


27Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Case study three

Healthwatch was contacted via e-mail regarding 

Methotrexate medication. There was difficulty in 

getting blood tests to coincide with the repeat 

prescription which was delaying the patient on 

getting their medication on time.

Healthwatch met with the GP regarding this issue, 

the patient was currently having their blood tests 

at the hospital, the results were not getting 

through to the practice in a timely manner which 

resulted in delays in the prescription. Not all 

clinical staff have access to the trust portal which 

relays the results.

A number of things were suggested from this 

meeting:

• More clinical staff have access to the portal.

• Improve the communication for staff.

• Patients where possible to have blood tests at 

the surgery rather than the Trust.

• Patients to be encouraged to order their repeat 

prescriptions on line.

• Practice to look at prescribing the medication 

over a longer period.

This was taken on board by the practice and the 

patient that had the issue with the medication.  

The practice was going to look at other patients 

who are on this medication.

#ItStartsWithYou

Feedback from patients and services users is vital 

to allow Healthwatch Wolverhampton to champion 

peoples experiences of health and social care 

services. Without people sharing their experiences 

of these services it is highly likely that issues would 

not be identified and that they would continue.

Healthwatch not only use feedback to try and get a 

resolution to individual problems, but this 

information is used to see if there are wider 

problems in the services.  

Our work and the ability of Healthwatch 

Wolverhampton to improve services starts with 

you.

“The recommendations were taken onboard by 
the GP practice. They are now looking in to 
other patients who may be affected.”

Page 193



28Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Our plans for next year

2018/19

Page 194



29Healthwatch Wolverhampton

What next?

Throughout the year, we received thousands of 

contacts from residents across Wolverhampton 

outlining concerns, and providing us with feedback 

and insight into peoples experiences of local health 

and social care services. 

We rely on people to talk to us and have their 

say on services as this information helps us to 

prioritise our work programme for the year 

ahead, ensuring that we can focus our limited 

resources to create the biggest impact. 

To help support our decision making process 

Healthwatch Wolverhampton conducted a 

“listening tour” between January and March 2018. 

We spoke to over 500 people across 

Wolverhampton and talked to people about their 

experiences of health and social care. This helped 

to build a picture of what services are working well 

and where there are problems. It also allowed 

people to share what they are really concerned 

about. 

The information collected from local peoples 

feedback as well as the information gathered 

during our listening tour helped the Healthwatch 

Advisory Board to set our 6 key priority work areas 

for 2018/19.

Strategic priorities have also drawn our focus onto 

ensuring that we are providing a voice for young 

people of Wolverhampton, and continue to develop 

a young persons Healthwatch, for people up to the 

age of 25. 

With the complex and ever changing landscape of 

health and social care services, and the move 

towards integrated services, Healthwatch has an 

important part to play in ensuring that people 

understand what developments and proposals are 

being made to ensure that they have a say on how 

services should be designed and commissioned in 

the future. 

Wolverhampton is part of the Black Country 

Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) and 

our strategic focus for the year ahead is to ensure 

that there is meaningful and ongoing public 

engagement on the STP plans for Wolverhampton, 

to give people a voice and ensure they are at the 

heart of all decisions being made about the future 

of health and social care service. 

In addition to our priorities, Healthwatch 

undertakes a  range of other research projects and 

activities into a wide variety of other topics based 

on the feedback of people using the service. We 

continually listen and respond to the views and 

experience of the public to help inform our 

ongoing work plan throughout the year.

We welcome input from local residents who wish 

to put forward a priority work proposal. 

Our top priorities for next year

1. Hospital Discharge

2. Cancer services

3. Domiciliary care

4. GP services

5. Loneliness and isolation

6. Drugs and alcohol 
Page 195



30Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Our people

Page 196



31Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Decision making

Healthwatch Wolverhampton is delivered by 

Engaging Communities Staffordshire (ECS), a not for 

profit Community Interest Company (CIC) which was 

set up to help provide a voice for the public in the 

delivery of public services and using our expertise 

and industry knowledge to maximise our impact on 

engagement with the shared ethos to:

• Always support the voice of the community and 

to offer an effective way for people to be 

involved in the services that provide for their 

health and social care needs.

• Enable better decisions to be made by health 

and social care organisations based on the 

experiences and views of the public and the 

collection and analysis of city wide data.

• Involve people in ways that are both efficient 

and effective.

• ECS is governed by the ECS Board which holds 

ultimate accountability for the delivery of the 

Healthwatch Wolverhampton contract and wider 

portfolio of service delivery.

• The ECS Board is led by our Chair, Robin Morrison 

and supported by Non-Executive Directors 

namely: Lloyd Cooke, Frances Beatty MBE, Will 

Taylor and Yvonne Buckland.

How we involve the public and 
volunteers

There are a range of ways for the public to get 

involved with Healthwatch Wolverhampton, these 

include:

• Completing surveys

• Talking to us when we are out and about

• Message us on social media

• Experience Exchange

• Email or call 

• Attend Healthwatch events

We also offer a number of volunteering 

opportunities for people that want to support the 

work of Healthwatch, these include:

• Office support

• Enter and View

• Reading Panel

• Community Engagement 

People can also sign up to be a Healthwatch 

volunteer within their own organisation to promote 

Healthwatch to colleagues, as well as share any 

information of Healthwatch activities. 

Page 197



32Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Our volunteers

“I just wanted to say a massive THANK YOU to you 

all for allowing me to commence my practice 

placement with you.

You all have made me feel very welcome and the 

range of experience you have shared with me has 

been very interesting.

I particularly enjoyed working with a community on 

International Women's Day, looking at both 

complaints and positive experiences people have 

had using services. I also enjoyed home visits with 

the advocacy service, completing surveys with 

patients using the Emergency Department, and 

being able to support an Enter and View visit with 

the team. I have also been able to format the 

briefings and reports in your office.

Now that I have had the pleasure of learning all 

about what Healthwatch offers I will champion your 

service both with my professional peers and 

patients/service users. I am sure the work you do 

will enhance services, inform and improve Nursing 

practice.

Once again Many Thanks, I wish you all the best for 

the future. ” – Tracy Jackson, Volunteer

“In my day job as Service Development Manager for 

Action on Hearing Loss (formerly the RNID), I am 

involved in various meetings around the country 

and hear about new and exciting things that are 

coming into play. 

When Healthwatch was in its shadow state a few 

years back now, I took a keen interest in how this 

service would develop around the country. 

I encounter a lot of issues that I felt were not really 

being addressed in health services and social care 

and thought a good route to express my 

thoughts/feelings and to make a difference is to 

get involved. Although I held a busy schedule I 

decided I would sign up to Healthwatch so I 

contacted Healthwatch Walsall where I was born 

and at the same time Healthwatch Wolverhampton 

where I now reside (Bilston), Wolverhampton came 

through first so I opted to work with them.

I want to help organisations that support people 

who may be deemed vulnerable to improve their 

services so that people accessing them will receive 

a first class delivery. I get much joy from 

volunteering with Healthwatch Wolverhampton. 

When I see changes take place due to our 

intervention that makes me happy and I really 

enjoy meeting new people listening and learning 

about their journey in life and also sharing mine in 

the hope that someone will take note and do 

better.” – Roger Thompson, Volunteer

“When I see changes take place due to our 
intervention that makes me happy and I really 
enjoy meeting new people listening and 
learning about their journey in life.”

Page 198



33Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Healthwatch Advisory Board (HAB)

The remit of the Healthwatch Advisory Board is to 

support the ECS Board to ensure good governance in 

the delivery of our Healthwatch service and ensure 

there is a robust voice for the community.

Members of the Healthwatch Advisory Board 

comprise of local Wolverhampton residents.

In 2017/18 board members were:

• Dr. Isabel Gillis (Chair 01/04/17-01/09/17)

• Robin Morrison (Interim Chair 1/9/17- 9/1/18)

• Sheila Gill (Chair- effective from 9/1/18)

The Healthwatch Wolverhampton Advisory Board 

has grown and developed over the last 12 months. 

We have seen some new faces and said goodbye to 

old friends who have moved on to pursue new 

opportunities. 

We were sad to say goodbye to our Chair

Dr. Gillis who left us in September but want to 

thank her for her valued contribution throughout 

her time as Chair. We also said goodbye to Michaila 

Tope, Vivienne Douglas-Watson and Yusuf Shafi who 

we want to thank for all their commitment and 

input over the last 12 months

We started 2017/18 with a new Chair, we were 

delighted to appoint Sheila Gill as our new Chair in 

January 2018 and she continues to lead the board 

from strength to strength.

We thank Robin Morrison for acting as interim chair 

and are pleased to confirm that he will remain on 

the Board as a valued member.

The Healthwatch Advisory Board has a specific 

remit set out below:

• Decides on Healthwatch priorities, and 

Healthwatch activity such as the Enter and View 

programme, informed by public feedback and 

consultation

• Advises the Healthwatch representative to the 

Health and Well Being Board

• Receives reports on community engagement and 

communications activity, and decides future 

plans

• Is consulted on Wolverhampton based income 

generation work to ensure there is no 

unmanageable conflict of interest

• Steers and signs off the production of the 

Healthwatch annual report and any Healthwatch 

response to consultations

• Represents Healthwatch at public engagement 

and strategic meetings

• Acts as a spokesperson for Healthwatch, agreeing 

press releases as appropriate

• Follows up on Healthwatch reports to ensure 

impact

During our public meetings we have seen 

presentations from Jeremy Vanes from the Royal 

Wolverhampton Trust regarding the future of West 

Park Rehabilitation Hospital. 

Other Public Healthwatch meetings were attended 

by Compton Care, Vocare Urgent Care Centre, and 

Connect regarding Musculoskeletal services. 

• Dana Tooby

• Michaila Tope

• Yusuf Shafi

• Jane Emery

• Rose Urkovskis

• Maggie Macombe

• Vivienne Douglas-Watson

Sheila Gill, Healthwatch Wolverhampton Chair and 

Jeremy Vanes, Royal Wolverhampton Trust Chair, 

discussing West Park Rehabilitation Hospital. Page 199



34Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Our finances

Page 200



35Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Income £

Funding received from local authority to deliver local Healthwatch 

statutory activities 

194,289

Additional income 10,020

Total income 204,309

Expenditure £

Operational costs 32,624

Staffing costs 159,613

Office costs 9,499

Total expenditure 201,737

Balance brought forward 2,572

Page 201



Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Regent House

First Floor

Bath Avenue

WV1 4EG

www.healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk

t: 0800 470 1944

e: 

enquiries@healthwatchwolverhampton.co.uk

tw: @HWwolverhampton

fb: facebook.com/HWwolverhampton

Page 202



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Health and Wellbeing Board
11 July 2018

Report title Strengthening Governance and System 
Leadership – Final Recommendations

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Roger Lawrence
Health and Wellbeing Board Chair

Wards affected All wards

Accountable directors David Watts, Director, Adults;

John Denley, Director of Public Health

Originating service City Health

Accountable employee(s) Brendan 
Clifford
Tel
Email
Madeleine 
Freewood
Tel
Email

Service Director - City Health 

01902 555370
Brendan.Clifford@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Development Manager – City Health

01902 3528
Madeleine.Freewood@wolverhampton.gov.uk
 

Report to be/has been 
considered by

People Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board

21 June 2018
26 June 2018

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

That the Health and Wellbeing Board:

1. Receive and approve the final recommendations detailed in the attached ‘City of 
Wolverhampton Health & Wellbeing Board Internal Review Final Recommendations – 
July 2018’ document.

2. Note and comment, as appropriate, on the Recommendations - Implementation Timeline 
and draft governance documents included in the Review.

Page 203

Agenda Item No: 14

mailto:Brendan.Clifford@wolverhampton.gov.uk
mailto:Madeleine.Freewood@wolverhampton.gov.ukx


This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To seek approval from the Health and Wellbeing Board to implement the final 
recommendations of the Internal Board Review.

2.0 Background

2.1 The City of Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Board is committed to a cycle of 
continuous improvement in order to drive the transformational change required to deliver 
sustainable improvements in the health and wellbeing of local communities. 

2.2 The Health and Wellbeing Board commissioned an ‘Internal Board Review’ in early 2018 
and the outcome of this review, accompanied by a series of initial recommendations, 
were presented to the Board in April 2018. Following further consultation with 
stakeholders the updated final recommendations are presented in the attached ‘City of 
Wolverhampton Health & Wellbeing Board Internal Review Final Recommendations – 
July 2018’, including the timeline for the implementation of recommendations and draft 
documents to support the new governance structure.

3.0 Recommendations

3.1 The full set of recommendations are detailed in the attached ‘City of Wolverhampton 
Health & Wellbeing Board Internal Review Final Recommendations – July 2018’.  

3.2 In summary and most significantly, these include recommendations to:

 Rename the Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Board ‘Health and Wellbeing 
Together’ to emphasise its place as an important partner in health and care system 
leadership.

 Replace the existing Health and Wellbeing Board vision and mission with the City 2030 
Vision and work more collaboratively with city partnership boards on its implementation.

 Establish an Executive, made up of a smaller number of existing Board members, to 
undertake the statutory “sign off” functions of the Board, therefore providing the whole 
board membership with more space and time for strategic discussion and thematic 
agenda items.

 Replace the existing use of ad hoc task and finish groups with more clearly defined links 
to existing partnership boards and collaborative activity; including a rebranding of the 
Children’s Trust Board as the ‘Growing Well Board’ (out to consultation), clustering the 
Better Care Fund workstream and Adult Transformation activity under the heading ‘Living 
and Ageing Well’ and aligning the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy with the new Public Health Vision  and 2017 Public Health 
annual report.

 Approve the updated Terms of Reference, and other governance documentation, to 
support the rebranded Health and Wellbeing Board, with the aim of relaunching the 
Board at the 17 October meeting.

 To approve the rebranding of the Health and Wellbeing Board, including the new logo.

Page 204



This report is PUBLIC 
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

 Approve a draft Communications and Engagement plan.
 Approve the launch of the new style Board and microsite in time for the 17 October 

meeting.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  
[MI/18062018/X]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory board established under the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012. It has a statutory duty, with clinical commissioning groups to 
produce a joint strategic needs assessment and a joint health and wellbeing strategy for 
its local population. 
[RB/18062018/M]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 The content of communications and engagement is being developed with due regard to 
equalities and diversity information to improve engagement with citizens and 
stakeholders in the City of Wolverhampton and wider.  The proposed update of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy gives the Health and Wellbeing Board the opportunity to 
extend its commitment to equalities and diversity through the delivery of the strategy.

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 None arising directly from this report.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 None arising directly from this report.

9.0 Corporate Landlord implications

9.1 None arising directly from this report.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

10.1 Appendix 1: City of Wolverhampton Health & Wellbeing Board Internal Review Final 
Recommendations – July 2018

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



Brendan Clifford & Madeleine Freewood
CITY HEALTH | CITY OF WOLVERHAMPTON COUNCIL

City of Wolverhampton                                
Health & Wellbeing Board Internal Review                                         

Final Recommendations

JULY 2018

Page 207



2Contents

Contents
Contents...................................................................................................................2

Background ..............................................................................................................3

Purposes of the Health and Wellbeing Board ..........................................................4

360-degree Board Review Methodology..................................................................5

Presentation of Interview Responses.......................................................................6

Health and Wellbeing Board: Now ...........................................................................7

Health and Wellbeing Board: Opportunities .............................................................9

Health and Wellbeing Board: Key Shifts & Recommendations..............................12

Appendix 1 - Recommendations Implementation Timeline....................................18

Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation ............................................................19

Page 208



3Background

Background
1.1 The City of Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Board is committed to a 

cycle of continuous improvement in order to drive the transformational 
change required to deliver sustainable improvements in the health and 
wellbeing of local communities.

1.2 New appointments within the City of Wolverhampton Council, the 
confirmation of an updated Clinical Commissioning Group Board, a re-
energised Systems Development Board and the expiry of the current Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy, have all created a timely opportunity to reflect 
on current practice and strengthen the system leadership of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board going forward.

1.3 As a result, the Health and Wellbeing Board commissioned an internal review 
in the early part of 2018. The outcomes of this review, accompanied by a 
series of initial recommendations, were presented to the Board in April 2018. 
Following further consultation with stakeholders the updated final 
recommendations are presented in this report accompanied by an action log 
showing the timeline for the implementation (Appendix 1).

1.4 In conjunction with the internal review, Public Health officers and 
Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group colleagues, were tasked with 
leading on the production of a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy as the 
current strategy expires at the end of 2018. The approach to the 
development of the strategy was agreed at the 11 April 2018 Health and 
Wellbeing Board meeting and the draft strategy is on the agenda for the 11 
July meeting. Following this meeting a period of formal consultation on the 
draft strategy will then commence in time for final ratification at the October 
Board meeting.

Page 209



4Purposes of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Purposes of the Health and Wellbeing Board
2.1 Health and Wellbeing Boards are statutory partnerships given specific 

functions under The Health and Social Care Act 2012.1 The regulations 
relating to Health and Wellbeing Boards are published as Statutory 
Instrument 2013 No. 218 entitled, The Local Authority (Public Health, Health 
and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.2

2.2 The principal responsibilities of Health and Wellbeing Boards as defined in 
legislation, guidance and good practice documents are:

 To assess the needs of their local population – children, young people 
and adults - through a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).

 To set out how these needs will be addressed through a Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy as a strategic framework for Clinical Commissioning 
Groups, local authorities and NHS England to make commissioning 
decisions.

 Improvement of the health of the local population.
 Improvement of the quality of health services.
 Promotion of integration in the care and health system.
 Sign-off of relevant plans such as the Clinical Commissioning Group

Commissioning Strategy.
 Local co-ordination of national policy e.g. Dementia challenge; Better 

Care Fund etc.
 Over-seeing effective engagement with local people.
 Any other functions that may be delegated by the Council under section 

196(2) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. For example, this could 
include specific public health functions, functions relating to the joint 
commissioning of services or the operation of pooled budgets between 
the NHS and the council. These delegated functions could also include 
housing, planning, work on deprivation and poverty, leisure and cultural 
services, all of which have an impact on health, wellbeing and health 
inequalities.

2.3 Legislation allows flexibility to Councils and their partners to determine how 
they set up and run Health and Wellbeing Boards; and Boards have the 
freedom to develop ways of working that reflect the wishes of their members 
and the needs of the communities they serve.

1 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted
2 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/218/contents/made

Page 210

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/218/contents/made


5360-degree Board Review Methodology

360-degree Board Review Methodology
3.1 A desk-top review of key documents was undertaken to identify best practice 

and guidance including published Health and Wellbeing Board Peer Review 
findings.

3.2 This informed the development of a semi-structured discussion framework 
which was shared with members of the Health and Wellbeing Board prior to a 
series of interviews that took place over a three-week period.  This 
framework covered five key areas: lived experience of the board, 
governance, the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, integration and 
engagement.

3.3 Following each interview notes taken were emailed back to the participant 
with the invitation to check for accuracy and make any further additions.

3.4 This review also enabled the Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Board to 
reaffirm its commitment to the principles underlying the creation of Health 
and Wellbeing Boards:

 Shared leadership of a strategic approach to the health and wellbeing of 
communities that reaches across all relevant organisations.

 A commitment to driving real action and change to improve services and 
outcomes.

 Parity between board members in terms of their opportunity to contribute 
to the board’s deliberations, strategies and activities.

 Shared ownership of the board by all its members (with commitment from 
their nominating organisations) and accountability to the communities it 
serves.

 Openness and transparency in the way that the board carries out its work.
 Inclusiveness in the way it engages with patients, service users and the 

public.3

3.5 The outcomes and a series of initial recommendations were presented at the 
11 April meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board4 informed by best 
practice and interview responses.  Individuals were not identified, but as 
Board members were advised, the origins of specific comments may be 
clear.  

3.6 A period of consultation then commenced whereby the Chair, Vice-Chair and 
individual Board members were invited to comment on the proposals. The 
review document was also presented at partnership meetings, including the 
Executive Commissioners meeting, Systems Development Board and 
Children’s Trust Board, as well as internal Council governance meetings.  In 
response to feedback, the recommendations presented to the 11 April 2018 
meeting have been updated in this report and are presented as final 
recommendations.

3 Page 4 Health and wellbeing boards: A practical guide to governance and constitutional issues 
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/health-and-wellbeing-boar-44f.pdf
4http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s69872/Item%2011%20Appendix%20HWBB%20Review%20Report%2
0FINAL%20002.pdf

Page 211



6Presentation of Interview Responses

Presentation of Interview Responses
4.1 The Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Board is made up of members 

who helped establish the Board and attended in its shadow form, through to 
newly appointed members. Long serving members understood the Board as 
being on a journey, they felt the foundations were now laid and they looked 
forward to the next stage in its development and to unleashing new 
opportunities. 

4.2 The New Local Government Network report “Get Well Soon – Re-imagining 
Place Based Health”5  argues that this next stage in the evolution of Health 
and Wellbeing Boards is the move towards becoming system leadership 
forums.  It suggests that to achieve this involves a series of key shifts: 

Now                                    Key shift                          Opportunity

Board operating in parts of the 
system

Board overseeing the system

Consulting with but then doing to 
communities

Empowering resilient communities

Reactive and supply side-focussed Proactive and demand side-focussed

Good understanding of what is 
happening

Build insight into why it is happening

Focus on topics, projects and 
institutions

Focus on outcomes, systems and 
place

4.3 Interview responses chimed with this model and direction of travel.

4.4 Given this, interview responses have been thematically grouped and are 
presented as a composite under the headings “Now” and “Opportunity”.  

4.5 The “Key Shifts” required to enable the Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing 
Board to realise its aspirations and opportunities are then presented as a 
series of recommendations for the Board to approve.

5 http://www.nlgn.org.uk/public/wp-content/uploads/Get-Well-Soon_FINAL.pdf

Page 212



7Health and Wellbeing Board: Now

Health and Wellbeing Board: Now
5.1 There was a consistent view articulated in participant discussions that the 

Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Board has the right organisations 
round the table (with the possible exception of the Ambulance Service), that 
positive working relationships have been established and there is a shared 
consensus on direction of travel.  

Membership and balance of members is appropriate, all the main players are now 
round the table.

Since establishing the Shadow Board huge progress has been made and the 
framework and governance of the board is now successfully embedded.

5.2 The senior membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board is seen as a 
powerful and genuine asset offering a real opportunity to give the Health and 
Wellbeing Board a central role in driving system change.  There is an 
understanding and appreciation that organisational diversity enables a 
healthy and necessary plurality of voices.

…. the inclusion of the Fire Service, Police and Voluntary Sector representatives on the 
Health and Wellbeing Board can act as a critical friend and offer appropriate challenge, 
provide an alternative point of view.

5.3 The seminar format of the ‘development day’ meeting and networking lunch 
was regarded as useful at facilitating opportunities for discussion and tackling 
silo thinking. There is a clear understanding that the Health and Wellbeing 
Board is a strategic, not operational group, with core business that it must 
attend to e.g. statutory reporting, monitoring of Better Care Fund etc.  
However, there was a repeated concern that the Board needs to more 
consistently evidence outcomes and impact and spend less time signing off 
retrospective documents, investing more time instead in building insight and 
shaping future direction.

Health and Wellbeing Board meetings often have a reactive agenda, there will always 
be important, time limited, issues, however need to balance against wider thematic 
issues.  In particular, how health and wellbeing can enable people to reach their full 
potential, build social capital and contribute to the wider economy.

5.4 There is a genuine commitment to ‘place’ and working together to deliver 
tangible and positive health outcomes that improve the health and wellbeing 
of local people and communities. It was argued for example, that the 
refreshed Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy needed to “reflect the story of 
place”.  

5.5 Partnership working is valued and examples were provided where this had 
worked well which offered positive models to learn from more widely; i.e. the 
collaboration between the CCG and Police in relation to BCF and “high 
intensity users”.  Non-health partners in particular wanted to enhance 
collaboration even further and referred to shared priorities and a desire to be 
more active participants.   

Page 213



8Health and Wellbeing Board: Now

5.6 There is a broad-brush commitment to, and belief in, the opportunities offered 
by integration of health and social care and new care models - however more 
work is needed to understand what this means in practice, the contributions 
of all partners and how best to deal with the challenges of a shifting and 
politicised health landscape.

5.7 Board members understood the review as presenting them with an 
opportunity to both reflect on current working, but also recast the Board, and 
there was an appetite to embrace innovation.

Recognise that the Health and Wellbeing Board needs to deliver its statutory 
responsibilities. How far can we make it something else?  And what is that?

Do we want the Health and Wellbeing Board review to lead to an improved business as 
usual model or is there potential to do something more innovative?

Future focus can now be on the health and wellbeing system not any specific service 
area such as Council Public Health, CCG strategies and the like

… now [the Health and Wellbeing Board is] established – what next?  There is an 
opportunity to do something radical.

It’s not yet possible for the Health and Wellbeing Board to have an agreed view on 
what integration looks like – this is a work in progress, not least because the 
Government position keeps changing. 

Integration is essential, but it depends what you mean by it. Need to understand 
priorities where integration would help. Need collaboration on best outcomes for 
people.

Steady progress is being made, within the city there is a growing consensus about the 
path to follow. The problem for the Health and Wellbeing Board comes as soon as you 
cross borders. Artificial geographical footprints are being imposed on the city in a top 
down way e.g.  Black Country STP doesn’t fully recognise Trust’s relationship with 
South Staffordshire.  Wolverhampton can carry on embedding vertical integration, 
developing whole city system and innovating on our own terms, however this doesn’t 
stop the government imposing conditions on how integration must work across a 
geographical footprint that is counter intuitive to the work taking place on the ground or 
existing relationships.

Page 214



9Health and Wellbeing Board: Opportunities

Health and Wellbeing Board: Opportunities 
6.1 Interview conversations revealed a striking consensus amongst Health and 

Wellbeing Board members about the opportunities to drive the Board forward, 
and, also, the tensions and challenges inherent in this.  This consensus is 
thematically presented below.

6.2 Members recognised that while the Health and Wellbeing Board is a statutory 
Board, it “didn’t have teeth” to enforce or compel. Instead, its power was very 
much understood in terms of the effectiveness of the relationships between 
members as well as their ability to exercise place and system leadership. A 
recurrent theme was therefore how to enable these relationships to develop, 
including the provision of space to “surface and resolve conflicts”6 as part of 
the consensus building process.

Strengthening partner relationships involves having the time and space to do this.  Formal 
meetings will have their own etiquette and powerplay, disrobing back into a workshop 
mode can create the opportunities for new types of conversations/ relationships to 
develop.  

For the Health and Wellbeing Board to have consensus there needs to be space and time 
for private discussion.  … the benefit of this would be that the agendas for the open public 
meetings could be more tailored for public consumption and real engagement. 

6.3 In addition to strengthening the existing development day a number of Board 
members suggested creating an ‘Executive Group’ as a means to achieving 
this “space and time” for strengthening relationships, building consensus and 
broadening the scope of the agenda:

Health and Wellbeing Board meetings will always need to respond to big ticket health 
priorities …  Using the JSNA and Public Health vision to inform there or four key priorities 
the board could adopt a thematic approach to meetings, the core membership could then 
be reduced but a greater variety of partners invited to attend the themed meeting most 
relevant to them. 

6.4 There was a collective view that the current Health and Wellbeing Board 
vision and mission was a positive contribution on the Board’s development 
journey, and while members liked the focus on the life course, the evolution 
of the Board now called for a new “systems within systems” 7 approach.  In 
particular, Board members wanted to strengthen and develop relationships 
both between members and between the Board itself and other city 
partnership/operational groups, including for example, Children’s Trust Board, 
Safer Wolverhampton Partnership, Systems Development Board, LEP, City 
Board, etc, “ensuring minimal overlap but no gaps”.

6.5 Given the above some Board members questioned the value of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board continuing to have its own vision and mission, when a 
wider co-produced vision and mission for the City of Wolverhampton already 
exists in the form of the City Vision 2030.  In addition, an updated Joint 

6 https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/leading-across-health-and-care-system
7 https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/place-based-systems-care/ten-design-principles

Page 215

http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=8851&p=0


10Health and Wellbeing Board: Opportunities

Health and Well Being Strategy will express the Board’s vision and mission in 
the context of the updated strategy. 

6.6 There was also a view consistently articulated that issues related to children 
and young people were under-represented at Board meetings, as were the 
linked topics of early intervention, prevention, education and aspiration, which 
chimed with the forward-looking view of the City 2030 vision.   

6.7 Members wanted to move away from a deficit model of the City and citizens 
to a more asset-based approach which sought to more fully understand the 
wider determinates of health and had a longer-term focus.

6.8 At the same time Board members expressed a view that they wanted to 
deepen and broaden partnership working and identify more opportunities for 
co-production at all levels within their organisations and at an earlier stage in 
the report writing process.

6.9 It was also argued that the Health and Wellbeing Board needed to act as a 
place leader or place shaper using the “sphere of influence” of its current 
membership to both “make links more explicit, identify new opportunities and 
promote a joined-up approach” as well as more proactively influence and lead 
at a regional level to ensure best outcomes for local populations, 
communities and people.

Going forward the Health and Wellbeing Board should have a focus on ‘place’ i.e. what 
services are provided where; what do the right conglomerations of services look like; what 
is the right coverage – how do we ensure services are in the right places while accepting 
not everyone can have every service on their doorstep.  In terms of “place” – this refers to 
Wolverhampton, the Black Country and the Combined Authority geographical footprints – 
the Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Board therefore needs to … make use of 
existing partnership forums …, rather than seek to create new networks and additional 
meetings which there isn’t the capacity to attend.

6.10 Board members recognised that the working of the Board and a definition of 
place was complicated by these overlaid, and sometimes competing, regional 

Don’t think there is a value in the Health and Wellbeing Board having its own separate 
vision and mission – should be contributing to a wider vision and mission for the city 
(possibly 2030 vision) through defined and agreed priorities.  

Walsall Health and Wellbeing Board recently went through a process to refresh its 
priorities.  As part of this it looked at how it linked in with other partnership boards, for 
example community safety and safeguarding boards.  They considered if all the different 
partnership boards were required, levels of duplication etc.  and came to the conclusion 
that it’s important for there to be a single vision linking all the related boards together. 
There is potential for Wolverhampton to undertake a similar approach – this could be 
underpinned by 2030 vision.  … the refresh led them to reduce the number of priorities and 
concentrate on where they can make the biggest difference.

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, the Vision and Mission of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and Joint Strategic Needs Assessment data shouldn’t just be used to 
present a deficit model of the city. The strengths of the city, what makes people come and 
stay are equally important.   These strengths include the quality of its people, social 
cohesion, nurturing culture and super diversity.  By understanding what is good about the 
city, we can seek ways to work these harder.  

Page 216



11Health and Wellbeing Board: Opportunities

geographical footprints for which no single organisation was entirely 
responsible.  

6.11 In addition, the physical location of anchor institutions did not denote the 
totality of their sphere of influence. For example, only 37% of Royal 
Wolverhampton Trust income is derived from work for the City of 
Wolverhampton. Adding to this complexity, local partnership arrangements 
could be undermined by national directives, the political imperative for short 
term impact could skew activity away from long term initiatives and different 
organisational and financial incentives could work to act against integration.  

6.12 While this complexity presented a challenge to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, it also presented an opportunity, as the Board and its collective 
membership was a constant running through these multiple footprints.  This 
meant that Health and Wellbeing Board had the potential to “be at the heart 
… concentrating on the offer to the citizen.”  The Health and Wellbeing Board 
could see the whole picture to “ensure breadth was considered.” The Board’s 
membership, particularly the elected members, also provide a direct level of 
local accountability. 

6.13 Accountability lines and measuring outcomes and impact were raised by 
members of the Board.  There was a consensus view that the Board needed 
to strengthen these and make them more explicit, so as to be able to monitor 
both progress and impact, to clearly understand how it was “making a 
difference” to the local citizen. Tied to this was the view that the Board, 
informed by the City Vision 2030, should widen its scope to move beyond the 
integration of health and social care to take a much broader view of the role 
housing, business, access to jobs and skills, the voluntary and community 
sector, social enterprises and people themselves; and concentrate its efforts 
on the areas where it can make the biggest difference through an agreed set 
of metrics.   

6.14 The Board was united in its commitment to activity to strengthen community 
capacity.  There was a clear understanding that the Board “needs to invite 
cooperation of citizens not tell them what to do.” At the same time there was 
an understanding that the role of engagement activity was to inform the 
Board.

[The Health and Wellbeing Board] shouldn’t duplicate – [it] shouldn’t do what agencies 
themselves are doing. Health and Wellbeing Board should use what agencies do.

6.15 There was therefore a view the Board could utilise Healthwatch more 
strategically. It was also clear that The Police, Fire Service, University and 
Voluntary Sector were all engaged in activity focussed on building community 
resilience and if this could be joined up more effectively would more likely to 
succeed.   It was suggested that individual agencies should (for want of a 
better word) “cede” authority to the overall partnership which would make 
individual agencies more effective in meeting their aims.    

6.16 These observations about the future direction of the Board present a series of 
opportunities that inform the final recommendations in the next section of the 
report.

Page 217



12Health and Wellbeing Board: Key Shifts & Recommendations

Health and Wellbeing Board: Key Shifts & 
Recommendations
7.1 Interview conversations demonstrate a clear commitment by Health and 

Wellbeing Board members to innovate and they identified opportunities for 
Board development.  To realise these opportunities involves a key shift in the 
way the Board operates both in terms of its governance arrangements and 
how the Board positions itself in the wider system.  

7.2 This section of the report therefore summarises the Board “asks” and seeks 
to translate these into a series of final recommendations for Board approval 
at the July 2018 meeting, with the aim of launching the new style Board in 
October 2018. 

7.3 Governance asks – interview comments can be summarised as follows: 
 More space for active discussion and time to invest in Board member 

relationships and shared priorities, including building on the existing annual 
“development day”.

 A forward-looking agenda enabling members to more actively shape and 
influence future direction, including a greater focus on prevention, early 
intervention and aspiration.

 A smaller core membership to be responsible for statutory functions of the 
Board.

 A clear set of agreed metrics to measure outcomes, impact and plan for the 
future.

 Greater clarity about the governance relationship between the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, Healthwatch and Health Scrutiny.

 More opportunity for partner organisations to co-produce/ collaborate on 
reports earlier in the process.

 To incorporate a thematic approach to meetings that enables consideration 
of the wider determinants of health and an understanding of the important 
part education, housing, skills, jobs, economic regeneration etc. play in 
relation to community resilience and wellbeing.

 To provide a more welcoming and open meeting for members of the public 
to attend, balanced against the need for private and closed time for 
focussed discussion and consensus building.

 For specific discussions with a narrow health focus on integration to take 
place outside the formal meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board.

7.4 Governance final recommendations – updated following consultation:

 To rename the Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Board ‘Health and 
Wellbeing Together’ to emphasise its place as an important partner in 
health and care system leadership.

 To review current membership and establish an Executive, made up of a 
smaller number of existing Board members, to undertake the statutory “sign 

Page 218



13Health and Wellbeing Board: Key Shifts & Recommendations

off” functions of the Board, therefore providing the whole Board membership 
with more space and time for strategic discussion and thematic agenda 
items.

 To replace the existing use of ad hoc task and finish groups with more 
clearly defined links to existing City Partnerships/ Boards and collaborative 
activity; including a rebranding of the Children’s Trust Board as the 
‘Growing Well Board’8, clustering the Better Care Fund workstream and 
Adult Transformation activity under the heading ‘Living and Ageing Well’ 
and aligning the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy with the new Public Health Vision9 and 2017 Public 
Health annual report10. 

 To re-state delegation to these new groupings to: (a) rebalance the agenda 
ensuring focus on the whole life course, (b) better inform the Board of 
outcomes and impact; and (c) provide more opportunity for partner 
organisations to co-produce/ collaborate on reports earlier in the process.

 To support the development of strong and purposeful relationships within 
the Board through an annual strategy meeting and an opportunity to learn 
from best practice from across the sector.

 To approve the governance documents in Appendix 2 that support the 
refreshed Board, including an updated Terms of Reference.

 To change the current meeting cycle by using the dates identified for 
Agenda Setting meetings as the new Executive meetings and then 
reviewing the whole meeting cycle for the municipal year 2019-20.

 To approve the revised governance structure overleaf, which has been 
updated since April to incorporate stakeholder feedback.

8 The Children’s Trust Board (CTB) is currently in the process of reviewing membership, Terms of Reference 
and Board name.  Members of the CTB asked for young people to be consulted on the final version of the 
Board name and this will take place before October 2018.
9 http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=15370&p=0
10 http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=15122&p=0

Page 219



14Health and Wellbeing Board: Key Shifts & Recommendations

Revised Governance Structure

7.5 Wider system asks – Board members stated that they wanted: 

 To replace the existing Board vision and mission, with the wider co-
produced vision and mission for the City of Wolverhampton - City Vision 
2030.  

 To enhance the role of Board members as place leaders and the role of the 
board to shape and influence all the different geographies of health for the 
benefit of local people.

 Greater practical opportunities to work together on place-based leadership 
with other City Boards/ regional bodies, while ensuring each board “retains 
its own identity”.

 To build this synergy with existing City Partnerships/Boards without creating 
duplication or additional meetings.

 To ensure a line of accountability back to community and individual 
wellbeing so that the impact of regional decisions can be understood at the 
local level.

City 2030 Vision 

 
C

ity
 B

oa
rd

S
E

P
 

W
M

C
A

 

Health & Wellbeing Together
Formerly HWBB

Health & Wellbeing Together Executive  

Healthier, Longer, Lives

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment & Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy

 
W

M
C

A
 

W
ellbeing 
B

oard
 

In
te

gr
at

ed
 

C
ar

e 
A

lli
an

ce
 

 
System

s 
D

evelopm
ent 

B
oard
 

Growing Well Board 
Children’s Trust Board

Living & Ageing Well
Transforming Adult Social Care

BCF Board
  

Page 220



15Health and Wellbeing Board: Key Shifts & Recommendations

 To view integration through the lens of a whole system approach, for 
example, while integration of health and social care services has less of a 
direct impact on the Police, stress in the system this has a knock-on impact 
on Police resource; and this is the same for other partners.

 To capitalise on the reach and sphere of influence of the Board at a regional 
level through active dialogue with the West Midlands Combined Authority, 
Sustainable Transformation Plan, Local Enterprise Partnership, Association 
of Black County Authorities etc.

 To strengthen the relationship with all partners enhancing collaboration on 
shared priorities.

7.6 Wider system final recommendations –  updated following consultation:

 To replace the existing Health and Wellbeing Board vision and mission with 
the City 2030 Vision and work more collaboratively with City 
Partnerships/Boards on its implementation.

 To hold a future meeting of the Board’s annual strategy day jointly with the 
City Board.

 To enable greater dialogue with the City Board through the members who 
sit on both Boards for example, using the work of the Inclusion Board, 
Economic Growth Board or Skills and Employment Board to inform the 
bigger picture for the Health and Wellbeing Board.

 To share annual planning documents between City Partnerships/Boards 
and strengthen the relationship between the Board and other 
complimentary partnership groups, e.g. the Local Estates Forum, etc.

 To review opportunities for joint communications, conference activity and 
Chair’s meetings between City Partnerships/Boards.

 To undertake a joint engagement activity with citizens and identify 
opportunities to align Health and Wellbeing Board engagement activity with 
the City conference season (i.e. Residents week, Visitors week and 
Business week).

 To explore opportunities for further aligning Board priorities with activity 
taking place within all partner organisations (including West Midlands 
Police, West Midlands Fire Service, Wolverhampton University and 
Voluntary Sector) as well as thematic issues such as children and young 
people.

 To explicitly position the renamed Health and Wellbeing Board at the heart 
of the multiple geographies of health and maximise opportunities to shape 
decision making at the WMCA and other regional bodies to the benefit of 
the City.

7.7 In order to commence work to support the wider system recommendations 
the Health and Wellbeing Board approved partnership work to commence on 
the development of a Board ‘Engagement and Communication Plan’ so as to 
capture partner activity and expertise, avoid duplication, and co-ordinate 
existing activity more effectively. 

Page 221



16Health and Wellbeing Board: Key Shifts & Recommendations

7.8 Meetings have therefore taken place in June 2018 with the communication 
leads from Health and Wellbeing Board partners to review how information 
on joint priorities is shared across organisations and map forthcoming 
activity. This work will be on-going and will also seek to identify opportunities 
for the Board to deliver its responsibility to actively engage with partners, 
stakeholders and the wider Wolverhampton community, through formal 
statutory consultation as well as on-going dialogue focused on the 
experience and health needs of the population.

7.9 It is proposed that the Systems Development Board Officers Group oversee 
the development of this work on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
This will include:
- Identifying a mechanism for communication leads to update a year 

planner on an on-going basis and the timely sharing of information about 
events and activities.

- Identifying how partners can support each-other to raise the profile of 
activity in the shared planner – this could be as simple as retweeting or 
sharing messages on social media across partners.

- Identifying priorities where collaboration will enable a greater reach or 
impact, as well as opportunities for aligning activity, for example making 
best use of national campaigns such as volunteer week, carer week etc.

- Working towards a longer term aim to collaborate on specific Health and 
Wellbeing Board led campaigns or activity linked to the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy priorities.

7.10 Health and Wellbeing Board Partners not currently represented on the 
Systems Development Board Officers Group will be included in discussion 
about achieving the above. 

7.11 Alongside this activity the Director of People, has established a working 
group to refresh the 2016 ‘Partnership/Board Joint Working Protocol’.  This 
will enable a framework to support City Partnerships/ Boards to:
- Develop an integrated approach to tackling key issues, engagement 

activity, commissioning activities etc.

- Align annual plans where there are shared strategic priorities and 
evaluate their impact.

- Coordinate approach to performance and risk management, quality 
assurance, critical incidents, inspections, transformational change etc.

- Provide mutual challenge and support
- Share good practice and resources

7.12 The final version of this protocol will be delegated to the Chair of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board for sign-off on behalf of the Board and then added to 
the Board microsite along with all other governance documentation.

7.13 In addition, at its April 2018 meeting the Health and Wellbeing Board 
approved a recommendation to develop a Wolverhampton specific Board 

Page 222



17Health and Wellbeing Board: Key Shifts & Recommendations

identity, including branding and web presence. The aim of this is to raise the 
profile of the Board and enhancing shared ownership between partners.  

7.14 Work to produce the microsite has commenced with the intention of a launch 
date to coincide with the rebranding of the Health and Wellbeing Board in 
October 2018.

7.15 The new logos to support the updated Board structure have been further 
refined following consultation and are presented below: 

                

             

Page 223



Appendix 1 - Recommendations Implementation Timeline

P
age 224



19Appendix 1 - Recommendations Implementation Timeline

May- June 2018 July - Aug 2018 Sept - Oct 2018 Nov - Dec 2018 Jan - Feb 2019 Mar - April 2019 May 2019

HWBB 11 Jul HWT 17 Oct Exec meeting 04 Dec
HWT 23 Jan                                   

Exec meeting 20 Feb HWT 10 Apr START NEW MUNCIPAL YEAR
To rename the Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing 
Board ‘Health and Wellbeing Together’ to emphasise its 
place as an important partner in health and care system 
leadership.

In progress

To establish an Executive, made up of a smaller number of 
existing board members, to undertake the statutory “sign 
off” functions of the board.

In progress

To replace the existing use of ad hoc task and finish 
groups with more clearly defined links to existing 
partnership boards and collaborative activity.

In progress

To re-state delegation to these new groupings to: (a) 
rebalance the agenda, (b) better inform the board of 
outcomes and impact; (c) provide more opportunity for co-
productio & collaboration

In progress

To change the current meeting cycle. In progress

To develop governance documents to support the 
refreshed Board. In progress

To replace the existing Health and Wellbeing Board vision 
and mission with the City 2030 Vision and work more 
collaboratively with city partnership boards on its 
implementation.

In progress

To hold a future meeting the Board’s annual strategy days 
jointly with the City Board. In progress

To enable greater dialogue with the City Board through the 
members who sit on both boards e.g. using the work of the 
Inclusion Board, Economic Growth Board or Skills and 
Employment Board to inform the bigger picture.

In progress

To share annual planning documents between city 
partnership boards. In progress

To review opportunities for joint communications, 
conference activity and chair’s meetings between City 
partnership boards.

In progress

To undertake a joint engagement activity with citizens 
timed with residents week. In progress

To identify opportunities to align with the city conference 
season including using the 
http://www.livelearnworkwolves.com/ platform as a vehicle 
to engage with the public. 

In progress

To explore opportunities for further aligning Board priorities 
with activity taking place within all partner organisations 
(including West Midlands Police, West Midlands Fire 
Service, Wolverhampton University and the community and 
voluntary sector) as well as thematic issues such as 
children and young people.

In progress

To explicitly position the renamed Health and Wellbeing 
Board at the heart of the multiple geographies of health and 
maximise opportunities to shape decision making at the 
WMCA and other regional bodies to the benefit of the city.

In progress

Compeleted / In 
progress

HWBB Review April 2018 recommendations

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

Pl
ac

e 
ba

se
d 

an
d 

sy
st

em
 le

ad
er

sh
ip

5/12/18 Full council ratify new 
2019/20 meeting calendar.

Jul HWBB to approve use of 
agenda setting meeting dates 
for Exec group until May 2019.

Updated 
governance 
structure 
and ToR for 
approval 
Jul HWBB.

Draft protocols presented to 
Jul HWBB for approval.

New Board launch - October 
meeting.

Business Week 
events: 24-28 
September.

Implement new protocols Oct  
onwards.

A partnership boards officer 
group established May 2018 to:
> Review ToR for city 
partnerships/boards and ensure 
consistency in respect of 
working on cross cutting 
themes. 
> Identify shared priorities and 
engagement activity.
> Share KPIs in order to develop 
a greater understanding of what 
information each city 
partnership/board holds to 
reduce the duplication of 
reporting.
> Refresh partnership working 
protocol.
> Share engagement activity.

New cycle of meetings begin.

New Board launch - October 
meeting.

Revised Health & Wellbeing Together 
governance structure.

First Exec meeting to take place,
utilising  dates  previously set for 
previous agenda setting meetings.

Draft protocols produced and shared with 
relevant stakeholders.

WMCA Mental Health First Aid 
Training event.

Inclusion of WMCA Wellbeing 
Board into governance 
structure. 

Consultation with Board members via Chair's 
bulletin & attendance at partnership 
meetings.

Consultation with relevant partnership 
boards.

Consultation with relevant partnership 
boards/ stakeholders, including Children's 
Trust Board (CTB).

Consultation with 
partners regarding a 
joint communication & 
engagement plan and 
approach to sharing 
activity related to JHWS 
priorities.

Final approval at Jul HWBB.

Consultation with relevant stakeholders.

Consultation with CWC Democratic Services.

Residents Week: March 2019

Consultation 
with young 
people re new 
name for CTB.  

Relaunch of CTB with new name, 
logo and revised ToR.

Chairs meeting to review 
protocol and establish on 
going governance and meeting 
cycle.

Partnership boards officer 
group to  complete refresh of 
protocol and establish on-
going governance and meeting 
cycle.

City Board review with final recommendations to October Board meeting.

Systems Development Board 
Officers Group to identify: 
- Means for communication 
leads to share information 
about events and activities 
and raise profile.
- Priorities where 
collaboration will enable a 
greater reach or impact, as 
well as opportunities for 
aligning activity.
- Opportunity to collaborate 
on specific campaigns linked 
to JHWS priorities.

Revised governance structure - consultation 
with stakeholders and present to Jul HWBB 
for approval.

Launch 
microsite.

Development 
of Board 
microsite.

P
age 225



Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

The following draft governance documentation has been produced to support the 
working of Health and Wellbeing Together:

 Terms of Reference (updated) page 20
 Agenda Item Request Template (updated) page 26
 Guide to Asking a Question at Health & Wellbeing Together Board 

Meetings (new) page 28
 A Protocol outlining the relationship between Wolverhampton Healthwatch, 

City of Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Together and the City of 
Wolverhampton Council Health Scrutiny Panel (new) page 31

An updated Wolverhampton Partnership/Boards Joint Working Protocol is 
currently being developed in partnership with the City Board, Safeguarding Adults 
Board, Safeguarding Children Board, Safer Wolverhampton Partnership and the 
Children’s Trust Board.

Page 226



21Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

Terms of Reference: Health & Wellbeing Together 

Health & Wellbeing Together is the forum where key leaders from the health and 
care system come together to improve the health and wellbeing of the local 
community, work towards reducing health inequalities and support the 
development of improved and joined up health and social care services. It is the 
name given to the City of Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Board, a statutory 
Board established under the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Health & Wellbeing Together will:

- Provide strong local leadership for the improvement of the health and 
wellbeing of the population of Wolverhampton.

- Encourage integrated working through promoting an ethos of integration 
and partnership in the planning, commissioning and delivery of services.

- Collaborate with other City Partnership Boards/stakeholder groups to 
identify shared priorities and appropriately coordinate activity, informed by a 
commitment to a place-based approach to health.

Health & Wellbeing Together is responsible for: 

- Assessing the needs of the local population by developing and overseeing 
the implementation of the City's Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).

- Preparing and publishing a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 
that is evidence based through the work of the JSNA and other supporting 
needs assessments.

- Taking forward the key priorities from the JHWS and to performance 
manage progress against defined targets.

- Preparing a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) to ensure 
pharmaceutical services in Wolverhampton meet local needs.

- Ensuring that health and social care commissioning plans are coordinated, 
align with the JSNA, the JHWS and meet local needs.

- Overseeing and coordinating plans for the integration of health and social 
care services to improve the health and wellbeing of people in 
Wolverhampton and reduce health inequalities.

- Coordinating public health work that is undertaken on behalf of Health & 
Wellbeing Together, including wellbeing and social care prevention 
pathways.

- Supporting local voice and patient choice by ensuring that the views of local 
people are used to inform decision making and improve democratic 
accountability.

- Working collaboratively with other strategic City Boards/ Partnerships on 
the implementation of the City 2030 Vision.

- Ensure the work of Health & Wellbeing Together is aligned with policy 
developments both locally and nationally.

Page 227



22Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

A Health and Wellbeing Together member role description is available in Appendix 
1 of this document.

Health & Wellbeing Together governance and reporting relationships:

Health & Wellbeing Together is comprised of a Full Board and an Executive.   Full 
Board meetings are structured to shift focus from service silos to system outcomes 
by adopting a thematic approach to addressing the priorities identified in the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. Additional stakeholders may therefore be invited to 
attend specific meetings at the discretion of the Board.  

The primary focus of the Executive group is to sign off statutory documents and 
provide a strategic forum for the Council and health partners to drive health and 
social care integration.

- The Growing Well Board11 is responsible for strategic planning of services 
for children and young people in the city. It reports into Health and 
Wellbeing Together on shared priorities and key performance indicators in 
relation to children and young people.

- Living & Ageing Well is responsible for leading the Better Care Fund 
workstream and Adult Transformation activity.  It reports Better Care Fund 
submissions into Health and Wellbeing Together so that the Board can 
measure performance and have strategic oversight of the delivery of agreed 
programmes.

- The Systems Development Board is responsible for setting the strategic 
direction for system transformation across the city and for making 
recommendations to the constituent organisations about actions to be taken 
to ensure transformation work helps achieve the overall vision in the Joint 

11 ‘Growing Well’ is the proposed new name for the Children’s Trust Board and is currently being consulted 
on with young people in the City. The final name, board logo and refreshed Terms of Reference will be 
approved by the end of the year.

Page 228



23Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

Health and Wellbeing strategy.   It will inform the Health and Wellbeing 
Together Executive.

- The Integrated Care Alliance is a patient centred collaborative approach 
based on a shared vision and clinical alignment with the aim of removing 
artificial distinctions between primary and secondary care. It aims to work 
collectively to develop coherent plans for the Wolverhampton health and 
care system.  It will inform the Health and Wellbeing Together Executive.

- The WMCA Wellbeing Board was established to support the West Midlands 
Combined Authority to achieve its ambitions of improving health and 
wellbeing outcomes for its residents by adding value to the work that 
already goes on within individual localities. This includes, providing 
governance for the Combined Authority’s work to improve wellbeing and 
health outcomes including the development of devolution propositions and 
ensuring that the Combined Authority’s work in relation to wellbeing and 
health complements and supports the work of Sustainability & 
Transformation Plans within the Combined Authority area.  A designated 
representative from Health and Wellbeing Together represents 
Wolverhampton on the WMCA regional Wellbeing Board.

In addition to the above, Health & Wellbeing Together is committed to working 
collaboratively with the City Board, Safer Wolverhampton Partnership and Adult 
and Children Safeguarding Boards, to remove duplication, ensure consistency of 
approach on cross cutting themes and achieve greater impact across the whole 
system. An officers’ partnership group supports this joint working in accordance 
with the Partnership Working Protocol [link].

A protocol outlining the relationship between Wolverhampton Healthwatch, City of 
Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Together and the City of Wolverhampton 
Council Health Scrutiny Panel is available here [link].

Health & Wellbeing Together membership

In line with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 membership of Health & 
Wellbeing Together will consist of —

- at least one councillor of the local authority
- the director of adult social services for the local authority,
- the director of children’s services for the local authority,
- the director of public health for the local authority,
- a representative of the Local Healthwatch organisation for the area of the 

local authority,
- a representative of each relevant clinical commissioning group, and
- such other persons, or representatives of such other persons, as the local 

authority thinks appropriate.

Additional members will be considered as appropriate. The overall size of the 
Health & Wellbeing Together Full Board will, however, be kept at a level which is 
manageable and able to support efficient and effective decision-making.

Members may allocate a named substitute to attend on their behalf by notifying the 
Chair of the Board and Democratic Services in advance of the meeting. 

Page 229



24Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

Agency Role
Leader of the Council, Chair+

Cabinet Member for Children and Young People
Cabinet Member for Adults
Cabinet Member for Public Health & Wellbeing+

Shadow Cabinet Member for Public Health & 
Wellbeing
Director of Public Health+

Director of Adults’ Services+

Director of Children’s Services+

Service Director - City Health+

City of Wolverhampton Council 

Head of Commissioning+

Chief Officer, Vice-chair+Wolverhampton CCG
Director of Strategy & Transformation+

Wolverhampton Healthwatch Chief Officer
NHS England Locality Director
University of Wolverhampton Faculty of Education, Health and Wellbeing
West Midlands Fire Service Operations Commander 
West Midlands Police Chief Superintendent 
Third Sector Partnership Designated representative
Children’s and Adult 
Safeguarding Boards

Independent Chair

Chief Executive+Royal Wolverhampton NHS 
Trust Chair+

Black Country Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Chief Executive

+ Executive Group member

The Chair will be appointed by the City of Wolverhampton Council.  The Vice-chair 
will be appointed by Wolverhampton CCG.

Should neither Chair of Vice Chair be able to attend a meeting of Health & 
Wellbeing Together, the Chair shall designate another statutory member of the 
Board as Chair for this meeting. Where this is not possible, a Chair shall be 
elected at the start of the meeting.

The Chair of Health Scrutiny is invited to attend Full Board meetings as an 
observer.

Health & Wellbeing Together voting and decision-making

Reports to Health & Wellbeing Together Board meetings should be prepared in a 
way that enables effective decision making. Decisions, recommendations, 
declarations of interest and reservations will be recorded in the minutes.

All meeting papers will be published on the Council website at least five clear 
working days before the meeting concerned.

Page 230



25Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

There will be sovereignty around decision making processes. Members will be 
accountable through their own organisation’s decision-making processes for the 
decisions they take. It is expected that members of Health & Wellbeing Together 
will have delegated authority from their organisations to take decisions within the 
terms of reference.

Decisions taken by Health & Wellbeing Together are generally done so by 
consensus.  If a Board decision should require a vote then all members may 
participate having one vote each; in the event of a tie then the Chair will have the 
casting vote. Observers do not have a vote.

Items can be added to the agenda by completing the Agenda Item Request 
Template [link].  Completed forms will be considered at the next available meeting 
of the Health & Wellbeing Together Executive as part of the agenda setting and 
forward planning process. No business will be conducted that is not on the 
agenda.

A thematic Forward Plan of activity will be reviewed at each full meeting of Health 
& Wellbeing Together to ensure agenda items are strategic and timely. 

Health & Wellbeing Together frequency of meetings and quorum

A full meeting of Health & Wellbeing Together will take place four times a year.  
The Executive will meet approximately six weeks prior to each Full Board meeting.  

Full meetings of Health & Together will be conducted in public unless confidential 
information is to be disclosed. There will be the opportunity for members of the 
public to ask questions in line with the protocol outlined in the guide to speaking at 
meetings [link].

Items that are of a confidential nature will be discussed within the Private
section of the agenda (i.e. contains exempt information as defined in Schedule
12A to the Local Government Act 1972).

An extraordinary meeting can be called when the Chair considers this necessary 
and or/ in the circumstances where the Chair receives a request in writing from 
50% of the membership of the whole membership. 

An annual informal focus day / session on specific issues of interest will take place 
and all members will be encouraged to attend.

Agendas and papers for Board meetings will be made publicly available via the 
website unless covered by exempt information procedures.

The quorum for meetings will be 50% of the membership. There must be at least 
one Council and one CCG Board Member representative at each meeting.

Page 231



26Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

Appendix 1

Health and Wellbeing Together role the description

Members of Health & Wellbeing Together who represent a partner organisation 
should be senior people with a strategic role within their organisation, able to 
comment on the full range of their organisation’s interests, report back to that 
organisation on debates within Health & Wellbeing Together and make decisions 
committing the organisation to taking action and providing resources. They should 
also be able to answer for their organisation’s delivery of their commitments to the 
work of Health & Wellbeing Together. They should be able to speak for their 
organisation with authority; commit their organisation on policy and practice 
matters; and hold their organisation to account. 
 
Members of Health & Wellbeing Together who represent a range of organisations 
or stakeholders should have a mandate to sit on the Board on behalf of the people 
they represent, report back to them on the Board’s work, seek to influence them 
on commitments made at the Board and represent their views wherever possible 
at the Board. 

Members of Health and Wellbeing Together will:

- Make every effort to attend all meetings or send an appropriate substitute.
- Fully engage in meetings including active participation in all relevant 

agenda items.
- Commit to supporting the development of strong and purposeful 

relationships within the Board through attendance at an annual strategy 
meeting and by proposing, as appropriate, future agenda items.

- Raise awareness and support of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy through 
their own organisation.

- Where any member of Health & Wellbeing Together sits on another 
strategic city partnership group or board they will raise awareness of Health 
& Wellbeing Together and its priorities, as appropriate, seeking 
opportunities to further embed whole system leadership. 

In addition to the above expectations of all members, it is also the role of the 
Healthwatch representative to ensure that the diversity of the Wolverhampton 
patient, public and carer population is represented at meetings of the Board. 

Page 232



Health & Wellbeing Together: Agenda Item Request Form
Date of HWT meeting:
Title of agenda item:
Lead organisation(s):
Lead author(s):
Is item for discussion or information? Discussion   ☐        Information ☐
Is item open to the press and public? Yes              ☐                     No ☐
Report format: Detailed cover report with links/appendices ☐

Cover report with short PowerPoint presentation (max 6 slides) ☐
Other ☐ If so, please specify:

Who will be presenting the item?
Reason(s) for requesting the agenda item 
at this time?
What is the desired outcome from the 
HWT meeting?
How can the HWT add value to this item?
Is this matter contentious or sensitive? If so, please provide details:
Is this matter mandated or required? If so, please provide details of legislation and/or guidance:
Are there any interdependencies or wider 
implications that the HWT should be 
aware of?
Financial implications?
Equality implications?
Are there any important timelines 
associated with the item?

P
age 233



28Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

Please return to Democratic Support by email: democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk or by post to Democratic Support, Governance 
Services, Wolverhampton City Council, Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton, WV1 1RG.

Completed forms will then be considered by the Health & Wellbeing Together Executive for inclusion in the Forward Plan.  You will be notified 
of the outcome the of the decision of the Executive following the meeting and the timeline for submission of reports.

The Executive meets approximately six weeks prior to each Full Board meeting.

P
age 234

mailto:democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk


Your Guide to Asking a Question at
 Health & Wellbeing Together Board Meetings

What is the role of Health & Wellbeing Together?
Health and Wellbeing Together is the forum where city partners come together to 
improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and work towards reducing 
health inequalities.

You can access meeting dates, agendas and papers, including the Board’s Forward 
Plan, here.

Further details about the remit of Health & Wellbeing Together can be found in the 
Terms of Reference. [insert link]

Process for asking questions at the Health & Wellbeing Together meetings
Health & Wellbeing Together recognises the importance of providing patients, carers 
and service users with the opportunity to contribute to shaping health and social care 
priorities.  Members of the public are therefore able to attend and ask a question at 
Board meetings in accordance with the guidance below.

Agenda: All Health & Wellbeing Together Board meetings have an agenda and 
supporting papers.  These are published five clear working days in advance of the 
meeting.  A ‘public question time’ is a standing item on the agenda.  Any speaker not 
present when the public speaking session commences will lose the opportunity to 
speak.

If you wish to speak at a meeting you need to notify the clerk to the Board and 
complete and return the Public Question Sheet [insert link] at least 10 days 
before the date of the meeting you wish to speak at.

Your request will be considered to ensure that it relates to the agenda and is an 
appropriate matter for a public question. You will be contacted prior to the meeting by 
the clerk to the Board to confirm whether your request to speak or ask a question has 
been put onto the agenda.

If you are attending and wish to bring along an advocate or interpreter, please advise 
on the request form.

Timed speaking: Any member of the public can speak at the Health & Wellbeing 
Together Board meetings, but there are some rules to ensure that the meeting is kept 
to an acceptable timescale.

Once a question has been confirmed as being added to the agenda a maximum of 3 
minutes will be allocated to the speaker and there will be a maximum of three public 
speakers per meeting.  (Should more than 3 speakers request to speak at one 
meeting this will be determined on a first come first served basis).

Page 235

https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=178


30Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

To make the best use of your time, you could:

• Prepare a script beforehand so you don’t forget what to say
• Rehearse your question and time yourself 
• Find out who you are directing your question to
• If you are speaking directly, speak clearly so you don’t have to repeat yourself

The Chairperson will have the discretion to halt a speaker should they begin to stray 
from the subject matter or make inappropriate or offensive comments. There will not 
be provision for supplementary questions.

Once speakers have finished they will be asked to retake their seats.  

Minutes: A copy of any questions, the name of the person asking the question and 
the response to the question will be published with the Board minutes.

Confidential and exempt items: In accordance with the City of Wolverhampton 
Constitution members of the public and press will be asked to leave the meeting for 
any agenda items considered confidential or exempt. You can find out more 
information about what constitutes a confidential or exempt item here. 

The agenda will make clear if any items are to be considered confidential or exempt.

Social media: Members of the public may use social media in meetings in adherence 
with the Protocol for Recording, Filming and Social Media at Meetings as outlined in 
the City of Wolverhampton Council’s Constitution.

Can I provide additional information to present at the meeting?
Additional material can be provided for further reference but it should be noted that the 
public speaking session is not the appropriate forum to seek answers to individual 
complaints or queries which will need to be pursued elsewhere. The clerk to the Board 
can provide further details on how to do this if required.  Please note, any printed 
material must be provided by yourself. Due to timescales, PowerPoint Presentations 
or use of overhead projectors cannot be facilitated

What happens if a matter that I want to talk about is withdrawn prior to meeting?
Reports are seldom withdrawn once the agenda has been published but if you wanted 
to speak about a particular issue and find that the Board agenda has been changed 
you can ask that your application to speak is moved to another meeting.1952 383205
_ Democratic
Further information or support is available from Democratic Support 
Telephone: 01902 555043 
Email: democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Adopted by Health & Wellbeing Together, the City of Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Board [date]

Page 236

https://wolverhamptonintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s69712/Constitution.pdf
http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s1349/Item%205%20-%20Appendix%20C.pdf
mailto:democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk


31Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

Public Question Sheet

Date of meeting: Name of the member of 
the public:

Question title:

Question in full:

I will be accompanied by an advocate / 
interpreter to provide additional support

Name:

Health & Wellbeing Together Response (to be published in the Minutes)

Return to Democratic Support by email: 
democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk or by post to Democratic Support, 

Page 237

mailto:democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk


32Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

Governance Services, Wolverhampton City Council, Civic Centre, St Peter's 
Square, Wolverhampton, WV1 1RG.

Page 238



33Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

                                                                                           
                                                           
A Protocol outlining the relationship between Healthwatch Wolverhampton, 
City of Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Together and the City of 
Wolverhampton Council Health Scrutiny Panel.

1.0 Background

1.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 identifies a range of individual and joint 
responsibilities for Health and Wellbeing Boards, local Healthwatch organisations 
and local Health Scrutiny Panels.  This protocol sets out the relationship between 
these bodies in Wolverhampton and explains how they will work together to 
improve the health of local people and reduce local health inequalities. All groups 
acknowledge that each body has its own particular role and responsibilities and 
does not exist in a hierarchy, and that this protocol does not preclude any of the 
bodies from working with any other organisation to deliver their aims.

2.0 Scope

2.1 The following bodies are included in this protocol:
 Health & Wellbeing Together, the name given to the City of Wolverhampton 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 Healthwatch Wolverhampton 
 City of Wolverhampton Council Health Scrutiny Panel 

3.0 Aim

3.1 The protocol aims to ensure:
 There is clarity around the roles, responsibilities and statutory obligations of 

the above parties.
 Work is well coordinated with no duplication of effort.
 We achieve more by working together in a positive way
 Working together has a positive impact for the residents and users of health 

and social care services in Wolverhampton.
 There is effective challenge of the commissioners and providers of health 

and wellbeing services arrangements across the City of Wolverhampton.

4.0 Purpose

4.1 This protocol sets out:
 The distinct roles, responsibilities and statutory obligations for each of the 

bodies covered by this protocol; and
 How we work together to improve the health and wellbeing of the people of 

Wolverhampton.

5.0 Working principles and commitment

5.1 Given that the shared aims of the Health and Wellbeing Together, Healthwatch 
Wolverhampton and the Health Scrutiny Panel are to improve the health and 

Page 239



34Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

wellbeing of the people of Wolverhampton through the commissioning and delivery 
of high quality services, each undertakes to:

 Have a shared understanding of respective roles, responsibilities, 
priorities and different perspectives
These roles and responsibilities are outlined in Appendix A and B.

 Promote a culture of openness and trust
 Share information including our work programmes

This will help with coordination of particular issues and avoid potential 
duplication of work. It will also help to inform key decisions for the forthcoming 
year.  This will be supported by a coordination group, membership of which is 
to be determined.

 Share timely information on key risks and concerns
A referral mechanism is outlined in Appendix C.

 Engage in early discussions on issues of common interest to ensure a 
joined-up approach

 Carry out meaningful consultation and engagement with the public
 Share good practice and resources

6.0 Review Arrangements

6.1 This protocol will be reviewed a year after its agreement and bi-annually 
thereafter or in response to new legislation or national guidance necessitates an 
earlier review.  Where there is concern that this protocol is not succeeding, 
resolution will be sought through communication between the Chairs.

7.0 Signatures

……………………………………………………………………………………Date
Chair, City of Wolverhampton Health & Wellbeing Together

……………………………………………………………………………………Date
Chair, City of Wolverhampton Council Health Scrutiny Panel

……………………………………………………………………………………Date
Chief Officer, Healthwatch Wolverhampton 

Page 240



Appendix A: Summary of roles, responsibilities and statutory obligations

Health & Wellbeing Together

Summary Roles and Responsibilities Statutory obligations/ best 
practice recommendations in 
relation to the other two bodies

Health & Wellbeing Together is the name 
given to the City of Wolverhampton Health 
and Wellbeing Board.  It was established 
in response to the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012 to act as a forum for key leaders 
from the health and care system to work 
together to improve the health and 
wellbeing of the people of Wolverhampton 
and to promote the integration of services.  

The Board became a formal committee of 
the City of Wolverhampton Council in April 
2013.  The main functions of the Board are 
set out in Sections 195 and 196 of the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012.12

This means that the Board has a:

 Duty to oversee the development of the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) which provides a comprehensive picture of the 
health and wellbeing needs of Wolverhampton.

 Duty to encourage integrated working between health and social 
care commissioners, including providing advice, assistance or other 
support to encourage arrangements under section 75 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (i.e. lead commissioning, pooled 
budgets and/or integrated provision) in connection with the provision 
of health and social care services.

 Role to review performance of the Better Care Fund (BCF) and 
consider future work, including overseeing the strategic direction of 
the BCF and the delivery of better integrated care, as part of the 
statutory duty to encourage integrated working between 
commissioners. 

 Duty to develop the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment.
 Duty to produce a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 

covering social care, health care and public health.
 Right to be consulted by each Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

on their commissioning plan and to give an opinion whether each 
CCG’s commissioning plan takes proper account of the JHWS.

 To have a voting representative 
from Healthwatch Wolverhampton 
on the Board. 

 To enable Healthwatch 
Wolverhampton to participate in 
the preparation of the JHWS and 
JSNA.

 To ensure that a representative of 
Health & Wellbeing Together 
attends Health Scrutiny on 
request, providing reasonable 
notice has been given.

 Duty to respond to Health Scrutiny 
reports and recommendations.

12 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/part/5/chapter/2/crossheading/health-and-wellbeing-boards-functions/enacted

P
age 241



36Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

Healthwatch Wolverhampton 

Summary Roles and Responsibilities Statutory obligations/ best 
practice recommendations in 
relation to the other two bodies

Healthwatch Wolverhampton is an 
independent consumer champion for both 
health and social care. Providing a 
statutory requirement for all local 
authorities to enable patients and carers to 
have a safe, secure environment within 
which they can share their health and care 
concerns and experiences.  The 
Healthwatch network was established as 
part of the Health and Social Care Act 
2012 and is regulated under this and many 
other Acts.

The aim of Healthwatch Wolverhampton is 
to give citizens and communities a 
stronger voice to influence and challenge 
how health and social care services are 
provided in the locality.  In addition, 
Healthwatch Wolverhampton provides, or 
signposts, people to information to help 
them make choices about health and care 
services.

This means Healthwatch Wolverhampton will:

 Enable people to share their views and concerns about their local 
health and social care services and understand that their 
contribution will help build a picture of where services are doing well 
and where they can be improved.

 Make reports and recommendations about how local care services 
could or ought to be improved. These should be directed to 
commissioners and providers of care services, and people 
responsible for managing or scrutinising local care services and 
shared with Healthwatch England.

 Provide advice and information about access to local care services 
so choices can be made about local care services.

 Formulate views on the standard of provision and whether and how 
the local care services could and ought to be improved; and sharing 
these views with Healthwatch England. 

 Make recommendations to Healthwatch England to advise the Care 
Quality Commission to conduct special reviews or investigations (or, 
where the circumstances justify doing so, making such 
recommendations direct to the CQC); and to make 
recommendations to Healthwatch England to publish reports about 
particular issues. 

 Provide Healthwatch England with the intelligence and insight it 
needs to enable it to perform effectively. 

 To appoint one person to 
represent it on Health and 
Wellbeing Together.

 To provide a copy of its Annual 
Report to the Health Scrutiny 
Panel and Health and Wellbeing 
Together.P

age 242



37Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

Health Scrutiny Panel

Summary Roles and Responsibilities Statutory obligations/ best 
practice recommendations 
in relation to the other two 
bodies

The Health Scrutiny Panel for City 
of Wolverhampton Council is the 
key panel for the purposes of 
fulfilling the roles outlined in the 
Health Scrutiny Functions 
Regulations 2013.13

The specific responsibilities of the 
panel are detailed in the City of 
Wolverhampton Council 
constitution.14

In addition to its role of holding 
decisionmakers to account on 
health and social care, health 
scrutiny also has a valuable 
proactive role in increasing 
decision-makers’ understanding of 
communities and how best to 
tackle health inequalities.

This means the Health Scrutiny Panel will:

 Review and scrutinise matters relating to the planning, provision and 
operation of the health service in the area. 

 Require information to be provided by certain NHS bodies about the planning, 
provision and operation of health services that is reasonably needed to carry 
out health scrutiny. 

 Require employees including non-executive directors of certain NHS bodies 
to attend before them to answer questions. 

 Make reports and recommendations to certain NHS bodies and expect a 
response within 28 days. 

 Set up joint health scrutiny committees with other local authorities and 
delegate health scrutiny functions to an overview and scrutiny committee of 
another local authority. 

 Refer NHS substantial reconfiguration proposals to the Secretary of State15 if 
a local authority considers: 
o The consultation has been inadequate in relation to the content or the 

amount of time allowed.  
o The NHS body has given inadequate reasons where it has not consulted 

for reasons of urgency relating to the safety or welfare of patients or staff.  
o A proposal would not be in the interests of the health service in its area.

 To make recommendations 
to relevant decision makers, 
as appropriate, including 
Health and Wellbeing 
Together.

 To acknowledge and 
respond to referrals from 
Healthwatch Wolverhampton 
and Health and Wellbeing 
Together.

 Include in its membership 3 
members from Healthwatch. 

 A duty to receive reports 
submitted by Healthwatch 
Wolverhampton.

13 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/218/regulation/30/made
14 https://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s69712/Constitution.pdf
15 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/324965/Local_authority_health_scrutiny.pdf

P
age 243



38Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

Appendix B: Reporting Arrangements – thematic areas 

Activity Lead Contribution

Enter and View Healthwatch 
Wolverhampton

Health & Wellbeing Together and Health Scrutiny
 Receive findings as appropriate, in order to supplement and triangulate information 

provided by service providers to gain an additional impression of quality of services, 
safety and issues of concern around specific services and provider institutions. 

Healthwatch Wolverhampton 
Annual report

Healthwatch 
Wolverhampton

Health & Wellbeing Together
 Receive at a meeting of the Full Board meeting
Health Scrutiny Panel
 Receive as part of a presentation by Healthwatch.

Joint Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy (JHWS)

Health and Wellbeing 
Together

Healthwatch
 Consult (for annual update of priorities).
 Contribute to inform any refresh, as appropriate
Health Scrutiny Panel
 Consult (for annual update of priorities).
 Receive assurance progress is being made to deliver the outcomes in the JHWS.

Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA)

Health and Wellbeing 
Together

Healthwatch 
 Consult (for annual update of priorities).
 Contribute to inform refresh, as appropriate.
Health Scrutiny Panel
 Consult (for annual update of priorities).

New legislation and changes to 
the legal framework

All Health and Wellbeing Together 
 Consider the implications of new legislation and assess the likely impact and 

opportunities across the local health and care system, informed as appropriate, by 
evidence provided by Healthwatch.

 Respond to legislative proposals and consultations
Health Scrutiny
 Respond to legislative proposals and consultations, it may legitimately hold separate 

conclusions to Health & Wellbeing Together.
Public Health Annual Report Health and Wellbeing 

Together
Healthwatch
 Consult to inform priorities, as appropriate.

P
age 244



39Appendix 2 – Governance Documentation

Health Scrutiny Panel
 Consult to inform recommendations, as appropriate.

Scrutiny Reviews Health Scrutiny Panel Health & Wellbeing Together
 Provide information and attend as requested
Healthwatch
 Provide information and attend as requested

In addition to the above:

 Health & Wellbeing Together can request Healthwatch Wolverhampton to:
 Undertake a particular piece of work within its remit, with mutual consent and where reasonable notice has been given.
 Receive reports and information through engagement with patients, service users, cares and the public which impact on the delivery of the 

JHWS, with mutual consent and where reasonable notice has been given.

Health & Wellbeing Together can request Health Scrutiny to:
 Undertake a particular piece of work within its remit, with consent of the panel and subject to available resource.
 Undertake a Scrutiny Review with consent of the panel and subject to available resource.

Healthwatch Wolverhampton can provide Health & Wellbeing Together and Health Scrutiny with:
 Information and reports on strategic and/or providers and services, including highlighting any concerns about services.
 Information and challenge from the perspective of the public, service users and carers.
 A Referral to Health Scrutiny related to any issue which it feels warrants further investigation with consent of the panel and subject to 

available resource.

Health Scrutiny can request Health & Wellbeing Together and Healthwatch Wolverhampton to:
 Respond to any recommendations made as a result of scrutiny activity.
 Attend Health Scrutiny meetings where reasonable notice has been given.

P
age 245



With thanks for their contribution to this review 

City of Wolverhampton Council:
Cllr Roger Lawrence, Leader, Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board
Cllr Val Gibson, Cabinet Member for Children (up to May 2018)
Cllr Sandra Samuels, Cabinet Member for Adults
Cllr Paul Singh, Shadow Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing (up to 
May 2018)
Cllr Paul Sweet, Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing (up to May 
2018)

City of Wolverhampton Council:
Tim Johnson, Deputy Managing Director/ Strategic Director for Place
Mark Taylor, Strategic Director for People
Emma Bennett, Director of Children's Services
Claire Nye, Director of Finance
Meredith Teasdale, Director of Education
David Watts, Director of Adult’s Services
John Denley, Director of Public Health
Sarah Smith, Head of Strategic Commissioning

Black Country Partnership, NHS Partnership Trust
Jo Cadman, Strategy and Transformation Director

Healthwatch Wolverhampton
Elizabeth Learoyd, Chief Officer

NHS England
Jo-anne Alner, Locality Director, West Midlands

The Royal Wolverhampton Hospitals NHS Trust
David Loughton, Chief Executive
Jeremy Vanes, Chairman

Third Sector Partnership
Helen Child, Chief Officer, Citizens Advice Wolverhampton

University of Wolverhampton
Dr Alexandra Hopkins, Dean - Faculty of Education, Health & Wellbeing 
Dr Ranjit Khutan, Associate Dean, Institute of Community & Society

West Midlands Fire Service
David Baker, Operations Commander, Black Country (up to May 2018)

West Midlands Police
Chief Superintendent Jayne Meir 

Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group
Dr Helen Hibbs, Chief Officer
Steven Marshall, Director of Strategy & Transformation   

Wolverhampton Safeguarding Board
Linda Sanders, Independent Chair    

Page 246



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Health and Wellbeing Board
11 July 2018

Report title Draft Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Hazel Malcolm
Health and Wellbeing

Wards affected All wards

Accountable director
Originating service Public Health

Accountable employee(s) John Denley
Tel
Email

Director of Public Health 
01902 550148
John.denley@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Strategic Executive Board
People Leadership Team

26 June 2018
21 June 2018

Recommendations for action or decision:

The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to:

1. Endorse or agree amendments to the priorities identified
2. Endorse or agree amendments to the approach to measuring progress
3. Approve the strategy for wider consultation, dependent on the above amendments being 

made

Page 247

Agenda Item No: 15



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose

1.1 To present a draft of the new Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 – 2023.

2.0 Background

2.1 Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWB) are a formal committee of the local authority 
charged with promoting greater integration and partnership between bodies from the 
NHS, public health and local government. They have a statutory duty, with Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs), to produce a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
and a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) for their local population.

2.2 Interviews have recently been conducted with Wolverhampton HWB members to collate 
views on the role and structure of the Board, as well as the strategy, which is due to be 
refreshed in 2018. Members consistently fed back that priorities should be chosen based 
on the Board’s ability to make a real difference.

2.3 The purpose of the Board, through its strategy, is to provide collective systems 
leadership across the health and care economy. However, the Board would set itself up 
to fail if it tried to address the full breadth of health and wellbeing (much of which would 
continue as business as usual without the Strategy or Board). It is recommended, 
therefore, that the strategy should focus on areas in which the Board can add value and 
unlock the potential for transformational change through system leadership.

3.0 Proposed strategy

3.1 It was felt that if the HWB priorities were anchored back to the City 2030 vision this would 
enable the Board to be free to drive the health agenda from a city-wide perspective using 
a thematic approach. The HWB needs to be able to respond quickly to emerging needs, 
and a narrow focus on Joint Health and Wellbeing strategy priorities would hinder this, so 
the priority areas have been deliberately described at a high level; the detail of work 
programmes and indicators would be agreed in sub-groups.

3.2 Public and patient involvement should be integral to the JSNA and JHWS process; it is 
proposed that the JHWS process should provide a useful platform to engage with the 
public in a debate about the big issues we are facing, such as integrating health and 
social care. As well as formal consultation, it is recommended that public involvement 
should be built into each ongoing theme of the strategy moving forwards.

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
[MI/19062018/Q]

Page 248



This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
[RB/15062018/D]

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 A reduction in health inequalities is an overarching aim of the Board. Equalities impact 
assessments will be carried out as appropriate for each priority area during the process 
of developing the associated workplans.

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 There are no environmental implications associated with this report.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 There are no environmental implications associated with this report.

9.0 Corporate Landlord implications

9.1 There are no Corporate Landlord implications associated with this report.

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank



Wolverhampton Joint Health 
& Wellbeing Strategy 
2018-2023

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 1

P
age 251



2 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Foreword 3

Introduction 4

Theme 1 - Growing Well 5

Priority 1 - Early Years 7

Priority 2 - Children & young people mental wellbeing and resilience 8

Theme 2 - Living Well 9

Priority 3 - Workforce 10

Priority 4 - City Centre 11

Priority 5 - Embedding prevention across the system 12

Theme 3 - Ageing Well 13

Priority 6 - Integrated Care; Frailty and End of Life 14

Priority 7 - Dementia friendly city 15

Demonstrating Impact 16

Working Better Together - Representatives 18

Contents

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 2

P
age 252



Wolverhampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 – 2023 3

Health and wellbeing is about more than health and care
services. The environments we live in, our lifestyles, the
opportunities we have throughout our whole lives, education,
family, good jobs, and community - all have an impact our
health. 

We have a vision that by 2030 Wolverhampton will be a
thriving City of opportunity, where we are serious about
boosting the health and wellbeing of the people who live and
work here. The year 2030 may seem distant, but the plans we
already have in place for the next five years will mark a step
change in achieving this vision. Aligned to this is the Vision for
Public Health 2030, which has set ambitious targets to
improve the health and wellbeing of our residents over the
twelve years.

Often health and wellbeing issues are complex, multifaceted
and require partners to work together around the needs of
people. There are clear areas of work that can be done better
in partnership, across the whole system. These are the things
that we have chosen to focus on. 

Working collectively, we want to support independence and
empower everyone to look after their own health and wellbeing
by using the assets available in communities. We aim to create
environments and opportunities for people to thrive and stay
well, making Wolverhampton a City where people want to live
and work. And when health and care services are required, we

will ensure they are built around the people who need them -
focussed on improving their experiences and their outcomes.

This is our commitment to the people 
of Wolverhampton.
To make the most difference, we need the support of all -
partners, members of the public and service users. This is the
start of our journey to the 2030 City vision and we are
committed to meaningful partnership working. In fact, it is one
of the things we will measure ourselves on.

Foreword

Councillor Roger Lawrence, 
Leader of the Council
Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Dr Helen Hibbs, 
Chief Officer, Wolverhampton Clinical
Commissioning Group, Vice Chair of the Health
and Wellbeing Board

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 3

P
age 253



4 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

In developing this document we have considered:

•   the bigger picture of health and wellbeing outcomes across
the whole population in Wolverhampton, as summarised in
our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

•   relevant local and national strategies and plans

•   the views of local residents, via the Wolverhampton
Lifestyle Survey, Healthwatch, and a consultation on the
strategy document

•   the views of all the organisations represented on the Health
and Wellbeing Board

Priorities have been chosen based on the Board’s
ability to make transformational change happen
through system leadership. 

We have adopted a life-course approach, grouping people into
stages of their life. This helps us to look more holistically at the
needs of people, rather than purely services or medical
conditions. 

The priority themes are deliberately high level, because we
recognize that the action plans under these themes may need
to evolve over the next five years according to changing local
needs. The detail of the workstreams that contribute to the
high level priorities will be developed in sub groups and
reported back to the Board for assurance.

This strategy does not reflect everything we will consider as a
board or that the partners will deliver, but focuses on what we
can do better together and provides strategic direction.

You can find more information about population health and
wellbeing in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment at
www.wolverhampton.gov.uk.

Introduction

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 4

P
age 254



Wolverhampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 – 2023 5

In 2030 we will

1. Theme - Growing Well

CELEBRATE
ENTERPRISE
EDUCATION
& SKILLS

have world class public
services that continually
improve and have
collaboration and 
co-production at their heart

What do we know?
There are areas within the City that have high levels 
of child poverty and deprivation is associated 
with a number of health outcomes, including childhood 
obesity, tooth decay, and poor mental health. There are 
also higher rates of children’s emergency hospital admissions 
from deprived areas of the City.

% of children in poverty 2015 - 
income deprivation affecting children

39.6 to 43.6 (3)            29.6 to 39.5 (8)            

19.6 to 29.5 (5)            10.6 to 19.5 (3)            less than 10.5 (1)

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 5

P
age 255



lower than national
average of 69.3%

6 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Growing Well

Teenage

pregnancies

down from
56.8 per 1,000
in 2010 to 28
per 1,000 now

rapid improvement
since 2010

higher average than
England (17.7) and 
West Midlands
(21.1)

Better than the
England average
of 6%

School 
readiness rise

from 44.2%
in 2012/13
to 62.4%
in 2017/18

of secondary
school aged pupils
had at least one drink 
in the last week

18% improvement
in last 4 years

18%

Emergency hospital admissions 

for under 19s

8,703 per 100,000 in 
Tettenhall Regis (affluent)

Compared to 13,060
in Fallings Park
(deprived)

of young people 
are not in 
education, 

employment 

or training

5.3% secondary school

age pupils who were
drunk in the previous
week less likely to

rate mental health

as good or

excellent.

trend recently
improved

lower than 39.6%
in England, and
39.8% for the
West Midlands

Reduced from
47% in 2014

improved from
21% in 2014

35.6%
of pupils achieved
grade 9-5 English
and Maths GCSE

39%

At 5.6 per 1,000 our

INFANT
MORTALITY RATE
is 7th highest of
our 16 nearest
neighbours

improved in 
recent years

higher than
England average
of 3.9 per 1,000

of secondary
school age
pupils have 
tried smoking

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 6

P
age 256



Wolverhampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 – 2023 7

What happens during the early years (starting in the
womb) has lifelong effects on many aspects of health and
wellbeing - from obesity, heart disease and mental health,
to educational achievement and economic status.

Research shows social class, income, living conditions and
parent’s own education levels are directly related to child
development outcomes. However, the quality of the home
environment acts as a significant modifying factor.

From the point of conception through to the first day at
school, parents, babies and young children have regular
contact with a range of different services including
midwifery, health visiting, GPs, children’s centres,
childcare and early education provision.

All services need to be focused on delivering an approach that
supports parents to develop good parenting skills, and be an
active participant in their child’s health and development,
enabling the child to become an active learner with a strong
attachment and healthy relationships. Children who need
additional support will be identified at an early stage and have
appropriate support put in place, focussing on improving
outcomes for the child and the family.

Priority 1 - Early Years

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 7

P
age 257



8 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

More than half of all mental health conditions in adulthood
begin before the age of 14. Schools and primary care settings
have traditionally been seen as part of the first port of call for
support in addressing the common problems of childhood.
Currently mental health services are able to provide support
for only one in four children and young people who need it.
Too often children, young people and their families are unable
to access early support which could help them through a
difficult point in their lives and could potentially cure mental
health problems at an early stage.

Children exposed to Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) -
such as living with an adult experiencing alcohol or drug use
problems, being a victim of abuse, or having a parent with a
mental health condition – are at risk of increased rates of
suicide and mental illness later in life. Disadvantaged and
vulnerable children and young people are at greater risk of
exposure to adverse childhood experiences. In addition, some
groups of children and young people, including young carers,
refugee and asylum-seeking families, disabled, LGBT and
looked-after children, are more vulnerable to mental 
health problems.

A proportionate universal response is required, balancing
improved access to support for all with an additional focus on
those most vulnerable to poor mental health. We are
committed to creating a pathway that supports children and
young people at all levels of access, and work is needed to
ensure that there is an adequate workforce available to meet
the needs of children and young people. We will ensure that
our mental health services for children and young people are fit
for the future and provide the extensive range of care
pathways and services spanning health, social care, education
and the criminal justice system. We are committed to ensuring
there are no gaps in provision and that entry points to services
are both timely and easy to navigate.

Priority 2 - Children & young people’s 
mental wellbeing and resilience

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 8

P
age 258



Wolverhampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 – 2023 9

Premature mortality (under 75y) is improving but there are still significant inequalities between men and women, and between
affluent and deprived areas. 

2. Theme - Living well

4.1%
claimed
unemployment

benefits in
November 2017

improved from a
high of 8% at the
beginning of 2013

higher than England
average  of 2%

Adult obesity

28.5%
of adults are
classified 
as obese 

higher than
England average
of 24.4% 

rates stabilising

upward trend

higher than rate of
647 admissions
nationally  

rates
improving 

higher than
national average

Males Gap between local and national
healthy life expectancy (years) 7

Gap between richest and poorest wards 
life expectancy in Wolverhampton (years) 11.3 

Gap between local and national
healthy life expectancy (years) 4.6

Gap between richest and poorest wards 
life expectancy in Wolverhampton (years) 9.5Females

are committed to
sustainability

for future generations

HAVE A 
CITY CENTRE

WE’RE PROUD OF

CELEBRATE
ENTERPRISE
EDUCATION
& SKILLS

In 2030 we will

Alcohol admissions
rise to 897 per 
100,000 of adults smoke

22.5%

Top employment 
sectors in 
Wolverhampton

18% Wholesale 
and retail trade

15%

14% 
Manufacturing

Human health 
and social 
work activities

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 9

P
age 259



10 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

It is our ambition to develop, attract, and retain high quality
staff and support them to stay healthy and well throughout
their working lives. Health and social care is the second
biggest sector for employment in the City of Wolverhampton,
providing around 15,000 jobs.

The skills required across the system are now different,
because the population is changing, technologies are
advancing, and expectations about what public services can
provide are shifting. We are increasingly seeing more people
with multiple long term conditions and social care needs, and
the workforce has been evolving to meet these changing
needs. This includes the greater use of allied health
professionals e.g. nurse prescribers, pharmacists, and a wider
range of social care provision such as social prescribers, and
domiciliary support to keep people independent in their own
homes. 

We also need to consider our responsibilities towards our own
staff; many of whom are Wolverhampton residents too. We
know that the most common causes of sickness absence are
mental health problems and musculoskeletal problems.

Priority 3 - Workforce

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 10

P
age 260



Wolverhampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 – 2023 11

The City Vision for 2030 describes a buzzing, vibrant City
centre, with good transport links and a strong night time
economy. Through our collective influence, we aim to ensure
that this development is done in a way which maximises
health and wellbeing; 

•   where active transport such as walking and cycling is made
easy and safe, 

•   where the development of the night time economy does
not increase problems with alcohol misuse or public safety, 

•   where there are smoke free environments that minimise
second-hand smoke exposure, especially for children. 

We are also committed to providing integrated support for
people who are sleeping rough, to ensure that wherever
possible they are supported into appropriate accommodation
and access support from relevant services.

Priority 4 - City Centre

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 11

P
age 261



12 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Many people are now living for a longer time in poor health
and wellbeing at the end of their lives, due to musculoskeletal
problems, long term conditions like hypertension and
diabetes, and low wellbeing. These conditions contribute to
sickness absence but don’t show up in admissions or
mortality statistics, but are a cause of self rated poor health.
Many of these can be modified or prevented through small
changes to lifestyles, and health promoting environments. We
must invest in prevention of smoking, obesity and alcohol
misuse now to reduce the future demands on health and
social care.

Small systematic changes add up. We are committed as a
system to make it easier for people to choose healthy options,
and to ensure that professionals are equipped to provide good
quality brief advice on keeping healthy at all stages of life.
Prevention will be built into all parts of the health and social
care system and become part of everyday business across
the City.

Priority 5
Embedding prevention across the system

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 12

P
age 262



Wolverhampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 – 2023 13

3. Theme - Ageing well

Healthy life expectancy (years)

Life expectancy (years)

Total life expectancy (years)

Wolverhampton

National

Wolverhampton

National

77.4

79.5

81.4

83.1

63.4 16.1

56.4 21.0

64.1 19.0

59.5 21.9
Female

Healthy life expectancy (years)

Life expectancy (years)

Total life expectancy (years)
Male

decreasing trend

lower than 35.5%
average for England

25.2%
of carers get as much
social contact as they
desire and this is the
2nd worst compared
to our neighbours

that’s focussed on the
future, empowers local
communities and is
supported by local
businesses 
and institutions

have a vibrant
civic society

that continually
improve and have
collaboration and 
co-production at 
their heart

it is predicted that there will be a  
42% increase in 

OVER 65
population by 

2039

In 2030 we will

have world class 
public services

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 13

P
age 263



14 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

An Integrated Care Alliance has been set up in
Wolverhampton, which brings together partners across the
health and social care system to work on better integration of
services. This will improve outcomes, improve people’s
experiences of services, and ensure that the system is
financially sustainable. Initially, the focus will be on frailty and
end of life care. 

We will explore how we can proactively work together to look
at the needs of people who have become frail; their bodies
have lost built-in reserves, which makes it harder to bounce
back when they are faced with an illness or an event such as a
fall, and so people who are frail tend to have more contact
with health and social care services.

We are committed to ensuring that people who are reaching
the final years or months of their lives are identified, that open
conversations are held with them and their families about their
preferences, and that care is planned and coordinated around
their needs. 

Priority 6
Integrated Care; Frailty and End of Life

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 14

P
age 264



Wolverhampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 – 2023 15

Priority 7 
Dementia friendly city

Cases of dementia increase with age, and as life expectancy
increases, more and more people will be affected. Currently,
one in 50 people between the ages of 65 and 70 have a form
of dementia, compared to one in five over the age of 80.
Diagnosis is often made at a later stage of the illness and this
can affect the person's ability to make choices and decisions.

Dementia does not just have a devastating effect on the
individual, but also their families and friends. Nearly half the
population know a close friend or family member with
dementia and it's important that they get the help and support
they need to carry out their caring role. Life should not stop
because of dementia. People with Dementia and their family
and carers may need support to enable them to carry out
activities and engage in relationships in a positive way, so that
they can continue to lead a full and active life.

The Alzheimer's Society granted Wolverhampton Dementia
Friendly Community Status for 2017-18. This is a great start,
and we are committed to continuing this valuable work so that
everyone will share responsibility for ensuring that people with
dementia feel understood, valued and able to contribute to
their community.

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 15

P
age 265



16 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

3. Demonstrating impact

This strategy seeks to address the Board priority areas
identified in the City 2030 Vision and underpinned by the Joint
Strategy Needs Assessment (JSNA) and thematically grouped
around the life course.     

The impact of the Board itself in progressing strategic and
cross-cutting priority issues will be measured by self-
assessment rating on a selection of statements that reflect the
Board’s role in forming strategy and allocating resource, rather
than delivery of operational workstreams (see Figure 2). This
rating will be re-assessed annually to allow the Board to focus
their efforts on where it will deliver the biggest impact across
the whole system, illustrate our achievements so far and
identify goals for the following year.

This approach will enable the evolution of the Board towards
being a system leadership forum with clearly defined links to
other city and regional partnership boards, jointly committed to
moving from service silos to system outcomes, and
empowering communities to engage with the challenges and
develop solutions.

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 16

P
age 266



Wolverhampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 – 2023 17

0

1

2

3

4

5

A thorough understanding
of the issue from a long

term perspective

A clear shared goal for
the next 3-5 years

Figure 2: Self-assessment tool

An evaluation
framework based on
long term outcomes

Public and/or patients
engaged and involved

Appropriate resources
and capacity allocated

Buy in at all levels of 
the organisations

Baseline

Follow up

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 17

P
age 267



Councillor Roger Lawrence (Chair)
City of Wolverhampton Council

Councillor Sandra Samuels OBE
City of Wolverhampton Council

Councillor Paul Sweet
City of Wolverhampton Council

Councillor Hazel Malcolm - Labour

Councillor Wendy Thompson

Jo-Anne Alner - NHS England

Emma Bennett - City of Wolverhampton Council

Helen Child - Third Sector Partnership

Brendan Clifford - City of Wolverhampton Council

John Denley - City of Wolverhampton Council

Dr Helen Hibbs
Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group

Dr Alexandra Hopkins - University of Wolverhampton

Tim Johnson - City of Wolverhampton Council

Steven Marshall
Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group

Chief Supt Jayne Meir - West Midlands Police

Elizabeth Learoyd - Healthwatch Wolverhampton

Tracy Cresswell - Healthwatch Wolverhampton

David Loughton CBE
The Royal Wolverhampton Hospitals NHS Trust

Linda Sanders - Wolverhampton Safeguarding Board

Sarah Smith - City of Wolverhampton Council

Mark Taylor - City of Wolverhampton Council

Jeremy Vanes
The Royal Wolverhampton Hospitals NHS Trust

David Watts - City of Wolverhampton Council

Lesley Writtle
Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

Ben Diamond - West Midlands Fire Service

18 City of Wolverhampton Council wolverhampton.gov.uk

Working better together

The Wolverhampton Health and Wellbeing Board is made up of the following representatives:

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 18

P
age 268



Wolverhampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 – 2023 19

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 19

P
age 269



W
C

C
 1

65
9 

 0
7/

18wolverhampton.gov.uk   01902 551155

City of Wolverhampton Council, Civic Centre, St. Peter’s Square,
Wolverhampton  WV1 1SH

You can get this information in large print, braille, 
audio or in another language by calling 01902 551155

WolverhamptonToday @WolvesCouncilWolverhampton_Today

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23.qxp_Layout 1  03/07/2018  15:22  Page 20

P
age 270


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Health and Wellbeing Board Forward Plan - 2018 - 2019
	Updated Forward Plan -Thematically Arranged - 11 July 2018

	7 HeadStart Phase 3 – Annual Review Outcome
	Appendix 2 Annex F updated reach figures
	Appendix 3 Annex E year three milestones
	Appendix 4 Annex G Budget
	Appendix 5 Year End Financial Report
	Appendix 1 HeadStart Wolverhampton Annual Review - May 2018

	8 Joint Public Mental Health & Wellbeing Strategy for Wolverhampton
	ITEM 08 - Joint Public Mental Wellbeing Strategy DRAFT 29.06.2018

	10 Overview of Primary Care Strategy
	11 Better Care Fund (BCF) Update Report
	12 Black Country Transforming Care Partnership
	ITEM 12 - TRANSFORMING CARE PARTNERSHIP PRESENTATION V9 220618

	13 Healthwatch Wolverhampton Annual Report
	ITEM 13 - HW_Annual Review PowerPoint 2017_18

	14 Strengthening Governance and System Leadership - Health and Wellbeing Board Review - Final Recommendations
	Appendix 1 for Strengthening Governance and System Leadership – final recommendations

	15 Wolverhampton Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018 - 2023
	DRAFT Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2018-23


